
 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW 
AND 

SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

 Thursday, 26th March, 2015 
at 6.00 pm 
 

PLEASE NOTE TIME OF MEETING 
 

Conference Room 3 - Civic Centre 

 
This meeting is open to the public 

 
 Members 

 
 Councillor Stevens (Chair) 

Councillor White (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Bogle 
Councillor Claisse 
Councillor Mintoff 
Councillor Noon 
Councillor Parnell 
 

 Contacts 
 Ed Grimshaw 

Democratic Support Officer 
Tel: 023 8083 2390 
Email: ed.grimshaw@southampton.gov.uk 
 
 
 

 Dorota Goble 
Improvement Manager  
Tel: 023 8083 3317 
Email: dorota.goble@southampton.gov.uk 
 

  

  

  
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:ed.grimshaw@southampton.gov.uk
mailto:dorota.goble@southampton.gov.uk


 

PUBLIC INFORMATION 
 

Role of Health Overview Scrutiny Panel  (Terms of Reference) 

The Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel will have 6 scheduled meetings per year with 
additional meetings organised as required. 

 To discharge all responsibilities of 
the Council for health overview and 
scrutiny, whether as a statutory duty 
or through the exercise of a power, 
including subject to formal guidance 
being issued from the Department of 
health, the referral of issues to the 
Secretary of State. 

 To undertake the scrutiny of Social 
Care issues in the City unless they 
are forward plan items.  In such 
circumstances members of the halth 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel will be 
invited to the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee 
meeting where they are discussed. 

 To develop and agree the annual 
health and social care scrutiny work 
programme. 

 To scrutinise the development and 
implementation of the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment and Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy developed by 
the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 To respond to proposals and 
consultations from NHS bodies in 
respect of substantial variations in 
service provision and any other major 
health consultation exercises. 

 Liaise with the Southampton LINk and 
its successor body “Healthwatch” and 
to respond to any matters brought to 
the attention of overview and scrutiny 
by the Southampton LINk and its 
successor body “Healthwatch” 

 Provide a vehicle for the City Council’s 
Overview & Scrutiny Management 
Committee to refer recommendations 
arising from panel enquiries relating to 
the City’s health, care and well-being to 
Southampton’s LINk and its successor 
body “Healthwatch” for further 
monitoring. 

 To consider Councillor Calls for Action 
for health and social care matters. 

 To provide the membership of any joint 
committee established to respond to 
formal consultations by an NHS body 
on an issue which impacts the residents 
of more than one overview and scrutiny 
committee area. 

Public Representations  
At the discretion of the Chair, members of 
the public may address the meeting on any 
report included on the agenda in which they 
have a relevant interest. Any member of the 
public wishing to address the meeting 
should advise the Democratic Support 
Officer (DSO) whose contact details are on 
the front sheet of the agenda. 
Smoking policy – the Council operates a 
no-smoking policy in all civic buildings. 
 
 

Mobile Telephones:- Please switch your 

mobile telephones to silent whilst in the 

meeting. 

Use of Social Media:- The Council supports 
the video or audio recording of meetings open 
to the public, for either live or subsequent 
broadcast. However, if, in the Chair’s opinion, a 
person filming or recording a meeting or taking 
photographs is interrupting proceedings or 
causing a disturbance, under the Council’s 
Standing Orders the person can be ordered to 
stop their activity, or to leave the meeting 
 

COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES: 

 Jobs for local people 

 Prevention and early intervention 

 Protecting vulnerable people 

 Affordable housing  

 Services for all 

 City pride 

 A sustainable Council 

 

 
 



 

CONDUCT OF MEETING 
 

The general role and terms of reference for 
the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee, together with those for all 
Scrutiny Panels, are set out in Part 2 
(Article 6) of the Council’s Constitution, and 
their particular roles are set out in Part 4 
(Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules  of 
the Constitution. 

Business to be discussed 
Only those items listed on the attached agenda 
may be considered at this meeting.  
Rules of Procedure 
The meeting is governed by the Council 
Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of the 
Constitution. 
Quorum 
The minimum number of appointed Members 
required to be in attendance to hold the 
meeting is 3. 

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 

Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, both 
the existence and nature of any “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” or “Other Interest” they may 
have in relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda. 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

A Member must regard himself or herself as having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any 
matter that they or their spouse, partner, a person they are living with as husband or wife, or a 
person with whom they are living as if they were a civil partner in relation to:  

(i) Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
(ii) Sponsorship: 
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from Southampton City 
Council) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expense incurred by 
you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. This includes any 
payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
(iii) Any contract which is made between you / your spouse etc (or a body in which the you / 
your spouse etc has a beneficial interest) and Southampton City Council under which goods 
or services are to be provided or works are to be executed, and which has not been fully 
discharged. 
(iv) Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of Southampton. 
(v) Any license (held alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of Southampton 
for a month or longer. 
(vi) Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is Southampton City Council and the 
tenant is a body in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interests. 
(vii) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your knowledge) has a 
place of business or land in the area of Southampton, and either: 

a) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body, or 

b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interest 
that exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Other Interests 

 
A Member must regard himself or herself as having an, ‘Other Interest’ in any membership of, 
or  occupation of a position of general control or management in: 

 
Any body to which they  have been appointed or nominated by Southampton City Council 
Any public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature 
 
Any body directed to charitable purposes 
 
Any body whose principal purpose includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
 

Principles of Decision Making 
 
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:- 
 

 proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 

 due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 

 respect for human rights; 

 a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 

 setting out what options have been considered; 

 setting out reasons for the decision; and 

 clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 
 

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must: 
 

 understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  The 
decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 

 take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the authority 
as a matter of legal obligation to take into account); 

 leave out of account irrelevant considerations; 

 act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good; 

 not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known as the 
“rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle); 

 comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual basis.  
Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward funding are 
unlawful; and 

 act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 
 
 

Dates of Meetings: Municipal Year 2014/2015 
 

2014 2015 

24 July 29 January 

25 September 26 March  

27 November *23 April  

*Additional meeting 
 

 
 



 

 

AGENDA 

 

Agendas and papers are now available via the City Council’s website  
 

 

1   APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  
 

 To note any changes in membership of the Panel made in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule 4.3.  
  

2   DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS  
 

 In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and the Council’s Code of Conduct, 
Members to disclose any personal or pecuniary interests in any matter included on the 
agenda for this meeting. 
  

3   DECLARATIONS OF SCRUTINY INTEREST  
 

 Members are invited to declare any prior participation in any decision taken by a 
Committee, Sub-Committee, or Panel of the Council on the agenda and being 
scrutinised at this meeting.  
  

4   DECLARATION OF PARTY POLITICAL WHIP  
 

 Members are invited to declare the application of any party political whip on any matter 
on the agenda and being scrutinised at this meeting.  
  

5   STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR  
 

6   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)  
(Pages 1 - 4) 
 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 29th 
January 2015 and to deal with any matters arising, attached.  
 

7   PUBLIC HEALTH UPDATE  
(Pages 5 - 10) 
 

 Report of the Director of Public Health updating the Panel, attached.   
 

8   UHS EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT PERFORMANCE  
(Pages 11 - 16) 
 

 Report of the Chief Executive of UHS detailing on the latest Emergency Department 
performance, attached.   
 
 
 



 

9   WHOLE SYSTEM REPORT ON COMPLEX OR DELAYED DISCHARGES  
(Pages 17 - 22) 
 

 Report of the Chief Executive of UHS detailing the progress on reducing complex 
discharges, attached.   
 

10   ADULT SOCIAL CARE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
(Pages 23 - 28) 
 

 Report of the Head of Adults Social Care detailing the latest available national 
performance data for Adult Social care in Southampton, attached.   
 

11   SOUTHAMPTON ADULT MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES AND COST 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN UPDATE  
(Pages 29 - 112) 
 

 Report of the Southern Area Manager, Southern Health Trust, providing an overview of 
the area’s mental health services, attached.     
 

12   SOUTHAMPTON CITY CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP - COMMISSIONING 
UPDATE  
(Pages 113 - 134) 
 

 Report of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s Chief Executive providing an update on 
a number of Southampton City Clinical Commissioning Group (SCCCG) 
developments, attached.   
 

Wednesday, 18 March 2015 HEAD OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 



 

 

- 14 - 
 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL 
HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 29 JANUARY 2015 
 

 

Present: 
 

Councillors Stevens (Chair), Bogle, Mintoff, Noon, Parnell and Painton 
 

Apologies: Councillors White and Claisse 
 

 
28. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  

 
Apologies were received from Councillor Claisse and it was noted that following receipt 
of the temporary resignation of Councillor White from the Panel, the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services, acting under delegated powers, had appointed Councillor Painton 
to replace them for the purposes of this meeting. 
 
 

29. DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS  

The Panel noted that Councillor Bogle was an appointed representative of the Council 
as a Governor of the University Hospital Southampton NHS foundation Trust and that 
Councillor Noon worked for a care provider. 
 

30. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)  

RESOLVED that the minutes for the Panel meeting on 27th November 2014 be 
approved and signed as a correct record.  
 

31. SOUTHAMPTON WHOLE SYSTEM WINTER PLAN AND EMERGENCY 
DEPARTMENT PERFORMANCE  

The Panel considered the report of the Chief Executive of the University Hospital Trust 
detailing the performance of the Emergency Department and the winter plan. 
 
The Director of Transformation at the University Hospital Southampton Trust (UHS), 
Director, People (SCC) and Chief Officer of the Southampton City Clinical 
Commissioning Group were in attendance and, with the consent of the Chair, 
addressed the meeting.  
 
The Panel acknowledged that nationally the issue of performance against emergency 
department targets had received a substantial amount of press coverage recently.  It 
was explained to the Panel that the issue was a top priority for all of the local health 
providers and that a plan had been developed to help ensure an improvement in 
achievement against the targets.  
 
The Trust explained that December and January had been difficult months for the 
hospital with outbreaks of norovirus and a winter vomiting bug that had added a heavy 
strain on the efficiency of the Hospital overall, due to the need to quarantine areas off 
and undergo deep cleaning where incidents of the viruses had occurred. There had 
been additional pressure on the Emergency Department (ED) and performance had 
slipped away from the target.  There had been no incidents of ambulances queuing in 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



 

 

- 15 - 
 

order to release patients into the ED.  The Panel noted that the local 111 telephone 
service had directed 4% of callers to the ED as opposed to a 6% national average.   
 
The Panel discussed the benefits of having a dedicated discharge suite at the Hospital 
and potentially another minor injuries unit onsite.  However, it was explained that the 
practice of having a dedicated suite for discharge had been investigated previously and 
proved impractical in the past with regard to both space and efficiency.  It was 
explained that a minor injuries unit on the same site, as well as the ED would potentially 
draw in additional clients and reduce the efficiency of the service.    
 
The Panel discussed the staffing levels of the department and understood that there 
was little or no issue with recruiting nurses and consultants to the ED and that the main 
difficulties related to recruitment of junior doctors.  Work continued to be undertaken to 
ensure a clear flow of patients through the Hospital in order to avoid peak arrival times 
to the ED.  It was noted that 92% of patients needed no further support when they were 
discharged from hospital.    
 
More complex discharge cases were assessed with an onsite social care team.  It was 
explained that the team looked to ensure that any discharge from hospital was both 
efficient and safe, making sure that the necessary support was in place.  The Panel 
were informed that it was the intention, where possible, to release patients back to their 
own homes and not into temporary care home where assessment would be made.  It 
was noted that the action plan looked to increase the speed of process to discharge 
patients with more complex needs efficiently and that this would resolve some of the 
issues relating to blockage. Progress on this is beginning to be seen. 
 
Overall the key issues that required continued focus were balancing the staff over peak 
times and enabling more weekend discharges alongside seven day working through the 
Better Care Plan, 
 
RESOLVED that forthcoming reports to Panel focus on specific topics relating to the 
Trust’s performance against the targets for Emergency Departments and in particular 
the report to the March meeting of the Panel should focus on aspects relating to the 
release of patients with complex needs, simple discharging and resolving staffing 
issues 
 
 

32. PROGRESS REPORT: PUBLIC AND SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT PROVISION TO 
SOUTHAMPTON GENERAL HOSPITAL REVIEW  

The Panel noted the report of the Head of Transport, Highways and Parking providing 
updated information on actions taken in line with the recommendations set out in the 
Panel's inquiry into Public and Sustainable Transport Provision to Southampton 
General Hospital. 
 
The Panel were informed that the University Hospital Southampton NHS trust (UHS) 
were reviewing Recommendation 10 of the Panel’s report: 

“SCC, UHSFT, Southampton University, Unison, S-LINkS-LINK and Bus 
Companies to work together to explore options for undertaking a survey to 
establish how patients and visitors are currently travelling to and from the 
general hospital and the results are used to inform future service planning and 
improve reliability. The results should also be reported back to HOSP and fed 

Page 2



 

 

- 16 - 
 

into the key local health documents: the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and 
the Health and Well-being Strategy, the latter of which, following the Panel’s 
recent review, now is agreed to contain transport as a consideration.”  

The Panel noted that details would be returning to the Panel to a meeting early in the 
next municipal year.  
 
In regard to Recommendation 12 of the Panel’s report: 

“At a meeting in the 2013-14 municipal year, HOSP to consider the Patient 
Transport Service and other dedicated modes of patient transport in more detail 
in order to improve understanding of how the services are managed, publicised 
to patients and concerns with the current service. Commissioners and providers, 
including the voluntary sector, of the service to be invited. If recommendations 
are necessary to improve the service, they will be made at that meeting”  

The Panel noted that this was scheduled for the July meeting of the 2015-2016 
municipal year.  
 

33. VASCULAR SERVICES UPDATE  

The Panel considered the report of the Interim Director of Commissioning (South) 
detailing an update on the provision of Vascular Services.  
 
With the consent of the Chair representatives of NHS England addressed the Panel.  
The Panel noted that consultation was being undertaken on two models set out in the 
report: 

 University Hospitals Southampton (UHS) and Portsmouth Hospital Trust (PHT) to 
remain as two arterial centres, but to collaborate to provide a single clinical service 
where possible; it should be noted that the number of complex vascular patients 
needed to be centralised was low. 

 Centralise vascular services at UHS – Move on a phased basis all major complex 
arterial vascular surgical procedures to Southampton (UHS) (Option 4). 

The Panel noted that this matter had been ongoing for a considerable period and 
sought clarification on the timescales involved in the new process. 
 
RESOLVED that the Panel requested a detailed implementation strategy for the service 
including the timescales be brought to a future meeting.  
 

34. SOUTHAMPTON CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP COST IMPROVEMENT AND 
QUALITY REPORT  

The Panel considered the report of the Director of Quality and Integration detailing the 
Cost Improvement Programme and quality report of the Southampton City Clinical 
Commissioning Group. 
 
Representatives from the University Hospitals Southampton Foundation Trust (UHS), 
The Solent NHS Trust and the Southampton City Clinical Commissioning Group 
(SCCCG) and the Integrated Commissioning Unit (ICU) were present and, with the 
consent of the Chair, addressed the meeting. 
 
An overview of the Cost Improvement Programmes (CIP) was given to the Panel 
seeking to explain how the individual trusts aimed to achieve their own savings targets. 

Page 3



 

 

- 17 - 
 

It was explained that patient safety and quality standards were very high priorities for 
each of the trusts but, that it was expected that there would be cost efficiencies made.  
 
It was noted, for example, that providers were able to make a saving on medicines 
when the licences for specific drugs expired and enabled a re-negotiation of prices.    
The Panel was assured that any savings were balanced by the clinical risk to patients.  
It was stressed that the safety of a patient was the most important factor in determining 
whether a saving should be made.  
 
It was explained that each organisation would present a CIP to its own board to sign off 
any savings programmes.  The Panel noted that the introduction of the Better Care 
Plan would present a challenge to individual trust budgets as areas of overlap and 
duplication were identified.   
 
RESOLVED that the Panel be presented with a report detailing the proposed savings 
and potential areas of overlap that would come with the role out of the Better Care Plan.   
 

35. CARE ACT: UPDATE  

The Panel considered the report of Director, People providing an update for the Panel 
on the introduction of the Care Act.  
 
The Panel noted the progress made in updating the Council’s procedures in order to 
adhere to the requirements of the Act and was assured that the Council was on track to 
implement all of the changes required by April 2015.     
 
In response to a question from a member of public officers detailed the multi-agency 
processes used for assessment for patient and careers needs.   
 
RESOLVED that the item should be considered at future meeting of the Panel to review 
the progress of the implementation of the Acts requirements.   
 

 

Page 4



 

 

DECISION-MAKER:  HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

SUBJECT: PUBLIC HEALTH UPDATE 

DATE OF DECISION: 26 MARCH 2015 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 

CONTACT DETAILS 

AUTHOR: Name: Martin day Tel: 023 80917831 

 E-mail: Martin.day@southampton.gov.uk  

Director Name:  Dr Andrew Mortimore Tel: 023 80833204 

 E-mail: Andrew.mortimore@southampton.gov.uk  

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None. 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

This report summarises a number of strategic health and public health issues. A 
number of issues relating to the commissioning of public health services and 
monitoring public health outcomes are discussed.   Then procedures for updating the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the plans to renew the Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) are outlined.   

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) That the report be noted and the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel identifies any issues it wishes to examine in greater detail at 
future meetings. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To enable the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel to examine key strategic 
health and public health issues.  

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. None. 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

Public Health Activities and Services 

3. Upper tier local authorities took up their new public health responsibilities in 
April 2013.   The majority of staff in the PCT public health team transferred to 
the local authority.  The Health and Social Care Act 2012 required each 
upper tier council in England to appoint a Director of Public Health and 
identified a number of functions for the Director to fulfil, which are set out in 
full in Part 10 of the Council constitution.  These include: 

 Responsibility for improving public health and providing elected 
members and officers with advice based on patterns of local health 
need of what works and potential returns on public health investment. 

 Producing and updating the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Martin.day@southampton.gov.uk
mailto:Andrew.mortimore@southampton.gov.uk


 

 The development and updating of the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.   

 Collecting and analysing data to deliver the Public Health Outcomes 
Framework 

 Producing the Director of Public Health’s annual report 

 Maintaining a focus on ensuring disadvantaged groups receive the 
attention they need, with the aim of reducing health inequalities. 

 Providing public health advice to NHS commissioners 

 Planning for emergencies that present a risk to public health 

 Responsibility for the public health response to applications made 
under the Licensing Act 2003 

 Providing Healthy Start vitamins at any maternity or child health clinic 
commissioned by the council  

 Ensuring delivery of the National Child Measurement Programme 

 Securing delivery of the NHS Health Check assessment 

 Ensuring provision of sexual health services 

In addition a number of other services are commissioned including weight 
management services, drug and alcohol treatment and smoking cessation. A 
range of activities are undertaken in support of national and local campaigns 
covering suicide reduction, tobacco control, mental health, increasing levels 
of physical activity, and air quality.  Public Health has also co-ordinated the 
delivery of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment, a requirement of the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012.  

4. A ring-fenced grant is currently provided by the Department of Health to 
secure the delivery of public health services.  For 2013/14 the grant was 
£14.3million and £15.1m for 2014/15. 

5. Public Health work closely with the Integrated Commissioning Unit and is in 
the midst of a 3 year programme of re-commissioning services.  It is aiming 
to achieve an integrated approach to public health, incorporating the wider 
local authority responsibilities (e.g. planning and housing) as well as those of 
the Integrated Commissioning Unit. 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

6. Joint Strategic Needs Assessments were established under the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.  They are 
assessments of the current and future health and social care needs of the 
local community.  These are needs that could be met by the local authority, 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), or the NHS.  The current JSNA was 
formally reviewed in its entirety in 2012 and it informed the development of 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (see below).  The JSNA is a web-
based resource of substantial use to those commissioning or deliver services.  
It can be accessed via the following link: 
http://www.publichealth.southampton.gov.uk/HealthIntelligence/JSNA/default.
aspx  

 

Page 6

http://www.publichealth.southampton.gov.uk/HealthIntelligence/JSNA/default.aspx
http://www.publichealth.southampton.gov.uk/HealthIntelligence/JSNA/default.aspx


 

7.   The public health intelligence team is being transferred to a new Strategy 
Unit in the Chief Executive’s Office from April 2015, where as part of a 
significant reconfiguration the data analysts will integrate the JSNA with other 
needs assessments, including the Safe City Assessment. These actions will 
assist in the development of a single and unified data hub, capable of bring 
more and better data to inform strategic planning and decision making.  In 
addition information on the wider determinants of health (for example housing 
and air quality) can be captured, improving the opportunities to take a better 
informed broader view on health and wellbeing issues.   

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

8. Health and Wellbeing Boards were charged with the responsibility for 
producing a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  The purpose of the JHWS 
is to set out a plan to address the key needs identified in the JSNA.  The 
JHWS can be accessed via the link on the public health website::  

http://www.publichealth.southampton.gov.uk/  

Southampton’s JHWS was developed around 3 key themes: 

 Building resilience and using preventative measures to achieve better 
health and wellbeing  

 Best start in life  

 Living and ageing well  

9. The JHWS is now nearing the end of its second year, and data to be made 
available over the coming months will measure outcomes achieved since the 
implementation of the strategy. 

10 The Health and Wellbeing Board has discussed renewal of the JHWS and 
agreed to refresh it in 2016 once the key health policies of the new 
government are known.  Regardless of the details of any national policies, 
the Board has identified the need for the strategy to include a focus on 
reducing key health inequalities, where evidence in the JSNA indicates that 
there has been limited movement in recent years.  A Health Inequalities 
Reference Group is being established to undertake a more detailed 
examination on health inequalities and to make recommendations to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.  It will undertake its work in April and May 2015, 
and report to the first meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board in the 
2015/16 municipal year.  

Public Health Annual Report 2014 

11. As referenced in paragraph 3 the Director of Public Health has a duty to 
produce an annual report.  Using data from the JSNA, which includes a 
number of indicators collected nationally for the Public Health Outcomes 
Framework, Directors of Public Health examine the evidence to determine 
the issues they wish to raise.   The 2014 report is about to be published, and 
will be submitted to the next meeting of the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel for detailed consideration. The report highlights a number of issues 
that will help to lay the foundations for better health for future generations, as 
well as examining health inequalities, and analyses the following issues in 
detail: 

Page 7

http://www.publichealth.southampton.gov.uk/


 

 Fitness in young people 

 Building mental resilience in young people 

 Accident prevention 

 Air quality 

 Dementia and long-term conditions 

 High blood pressure 

 Tackling health inequalities 

A number of detailed recommendations are made under each of these 
headings.  

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

12. The delivery of the actions set out in this report are being met from the ring-
fenced public health grant detailed in paragraph 4. 

Property/Other 

13. None. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

14.. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 made local authorities responsible for 
public health issues. 

Other Legal Implications:  

15. None. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

16. None. 

 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 

 

Page 8



 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices  

1. None 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Other Background Documents 

Equality Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. None.  
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DECISION-MAKER:  HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

SUBJECT: EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT PERFORMANCE 

DATE OF DECISION: 26 MARCH 2015 

REPORT OF: CHIEF EXECUTIVE, UHS AND SYSTEM PARTNERS 

CONTACT DETAILS 

AUTHOR: Name:  Jane Hayward Tel: 023 8079 6241 

 E-mail: Jane.Hayward@uhs.nhs.uk  

Director Name:  Fiona Dalton,  

Chief Executive UHS 

Tel: 023 8077 7222 

 E-mail: fiona.dalton@uhs.nhs.uk  

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

The University Hospital Southampton Foundation Trust and system partners will 
update the Panel on the latest Emergency Department performance. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) That the Panel notes the report and following discussions agrees 
any issues that may need to be brought forward to a future HOSP 
meeting. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. As part of the HOSP’s terms of reference the panel has a role to respond to 
proposals and consultations from NHS bodies in respect of substantial 
variations in service provision. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. None 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

3. The panel remains concerned about the recent performance against the 
target to treat and discharge or treat and admit a patient within 4 hours if 
they attend the ED department.    

4. The most recent Emergency Department performance will be made available 
at the meeting.  This will be set in context against of the national picture. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

5. None 

Property/Other 

6. None 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Jane.Hayward@uhs.nhs.uk
mailto:fiona.dalton@uhs.nhs.uk


LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

6. The powers and duties of health scrutiny are set out in the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2003. 

Other Legal Implications:  

7. None 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

8. None 

 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: ALL 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices  

1. Emergency Department Update 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

 None 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Other Background Documents 

Equality Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. None  

 

Page 12



 
 

1 
 

 
 

 
Emergency Department Report for Overview and Scrutiny Panel – March 2015 
 
The Trust is monitored on its ED performance across all emergency departments – the main SGH 
Emergency Department (a Type 1 Dept.), Eye Casualty (a Type 2 Dept), and until August 1

st
 when 

management was transferred, the RSH Minor Injuries Unit (a Type 3 Dept). 
 
Whilst the Trust met the target to treat and admit or discharge more than 95% of patients within 4 
hours during June 14, this performance has not been sustained. 
 

 
 
It should be noted that the removal of the MIU data from August makes it significantly harder 
for UHS to achieve the 95% target. Nationally, Type 1 Emergency Departments have not 
collectively achieved the ED 95% target in any given week for since July 2013. In most weeks 
the national performance for Type 1 EDs is between 92% and 93%, although since the week 
ending October 12, 2014, the highest national performance has been 90.8%, with the lowest 
being 79.8% for the week ending January 4, 2015). 
 
In recent week performance has improved and over 92% of patients were treated and 
discharged home or treated and admitted within 4 hours. An update will be given at the 
meeting.  
 
As can be seen in the table below, no major English teaching hospital (taking major trauma 

etc) consistently achieves this target for Type 1 activity although other hospitals (notably 

Birmingham and Newcastle) do much better at this target than UHS. 

 

75.0%

80.0%

85.0%

90.0%

95.0%

100.0%

A
p

r-
1

2

Ju
l-

1
2

O
ct

-1
2

Ja
n-

1
3

A
p

r-
1

3

Ju
l-

1
3

O
ct

-1
3

Ja
n-

1
4

A
p

r-
1

4

Ju
l-

1
4

O
ct

-1
4

Ja
n-

1
5

UHS Monthly 4hr ED Performance
(Types 1, 2 & 3, MIU included January 2013 - July 2014)

Performance Rolling 12-Month Performance Target

Week Ending UHS Birmingham Bristol Cambridge Leicester Newcastle Nottingham Oxford Sheffield

04/01/2015 74.85% 96.84% 86.75% 71.26% 82.56% 91.39% 75.75% 76.32% 79.00%

11/01/2015 79.47% 95.19% 89.91% 78.99% 82.49% 93.73% 86.27% 81.51% 84.97%

18/01/2015 90.00% 96.60% 89.52% 84.73% 94.16% 96.79% 87.68% 90.04% 95.63%

25/01/2015 89.27% 94.71% 92.93% 85.19% 97.03% 95.97% 89.96% 87.09% 94.26%

01/02/2015 83.25% 95.53% 94.56% 81.53% 95.44% 94.17% 85.00% 82.42% 92.10%

08/02/2015 81.09% 96.28% 90.31% 88.02% 92.03% 93.02% 86.55% 91.18% 90.52%

15/02/2015 83.54% 94.52% 90.43% 74.90% 84.39% 94.40% 85.54% 87.90% 90.35%

Page 13

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



 
 

2 
 

Unusually, and contrary to the experience in many other Trusts in the country, the ED has not 
seen an increase in the numbers of patients attending for treatment this Winter nor has there 
been an increase in the number of emergencies (up 0.5% year on year). The central challenge 
facing the Trust is the lack of available beds for patients in ED requiring an admission into the 
Trust. This has been driven by an increase in length of stay.  
 
For the three months of September to November 2014, 35.5% of all breaches of the 4-hour 
standard in ED were due to patients waiting for an available bed. For December to late-
February this had risen to 53.5%. 
 
In 2014/15 the Trust has opened an additional 38 permanent beds through a capital 
investment programme to support ED and each night opens additional facilities which normally 
would close (a good example of this is the day of surgery unit which would normally close at 
9pm is now staffed to look after patients overnight).  
 
Even after this increase this has not been enough to absorb the increase in bed nights for 
each patient staying in Hospital.  
 
Key – NEL = non elective/emergency 
R12 = rolling 12 months data 
Geriatric = over 85s 
Divisions ABD = excludes children’s and maternity services 
 

 

 
 
The increase in length of stay is linked to the complex nature of the patients and the increase 
in the number of patients needing ongoing support in the community once they leave Hospital 
(delayed discharges). There is a separate report for this committee to consider the issues 
linked to delayed discharges.  
 
Actions in place 
 
The Trust continues to focus on improving the performance within the Emergency Department 
itself. A new deputy clinical lead has been appointed, Dr Iain Beardsall, who is supporting Dr 
Nick Maskery to make the changes. They are embedding a new model of triage (called 
pitstop) for the most urgent of patients to ensure that patients care is started as soon as they 

62000

63000

64000

65000

66000

67000

68000

A
p

r-
1

2

Ju
n

-1
2

A
u

g-
1

2

O
ct

-1
2

D
e

c-
1

2

Fe
b

-1
3

A
p

r-
1

3

Ju
n

-1
3

A
u

g-
1

3

O
ct

-1
3

D
e

c-
1

3

Fe
b

-1
4

A
p

r-
1

4

Ju
n

-1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

O
ct

-1
4

D
e

c-
1

4

UHS R-12 NEL Admissions

R-12 NEL Admissions
4.4

4.6

4.8

5

5.2

5.4

5.6

5.8

6

A
p

r-
1

2

Ju
n

-1
2

A
u

g-
1

2

O
ct

-1
2

D
e

c-
1

2

Fe
b

-1
3

A
p

r-
1

3

Ju
n

-1
3

A
u

g-
1

3

O
ct

-1
3

D
e

c-
1

3

Fe
b

-1
4

A
p

r-
1

4

Ju
n

-1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

O
ct

-1
4

D
e

c-
1

4

UHS R-12 Total and NEL LoS

R-12 Total LoS

R-12 NEL LoS

700.0

750.0

800.0

850.0

900.0

950.0

1000.0

A
p

r-
1

1

Ju
l-

1
1

O
ct

-1
1

Ja
n

-1
2

A
p

r-
1

2

Ju
l-

1
2

O
ct

-1
2

Ja
n

-1
3

A
p

r-
1

3

Ju
l-

1
3

O
ct

-1
3

Ja
n

-1
4

A
p

r-
1

4

Ju
l-

1
4

O
ct

-1
4

Ja
n

-1
5

UHS Open Beds - Divisions ABD
April 2011-January 2014

Average Open Beds

12

12.2

12.4

12.6

12.8

13

13.2

13.4

13.6

13.8

A
p

r-
1

2

Ju
n

-1
2

A
u

g-
1

2

O
ct

-1
2

D
e

c-
1

2

Fe
b

-1
3

A
p

r-
1

3

Ju
n

-1
3

A
u

g-
1

3

O
ct

-1
3

D
e

c-
1

3

Fe
b

-1
4

A
p

r-
1

4

Ju
n

-1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

O
ct

-1
4

D
e

c-
1

4

UHS R-12 Geriatric Med LoS

R-12 Geriatric Med LoS

Page 14



 
 

3 
 

arrive in the department. They are also focused on patients in minors (breaks, strains and 
minor illnesses) as well as children attending the department. This is already leading to some 
improvements. 
 
The Trust is also focused ensuring patients who can go home with support from their GP go 
home as soon as is possible. There are two measures shown below.  
 

 
 
 All of these actions are included in the ED actions plan (remedial action plan) in place in 
14/15 and a new plan will be developed for 15/16. This is supported by the whole system 
action plan previously presented to this committee. Again a new plan will be developed for 
15/16 which can be shared with this committee. 
 
Staffing in the Hospital remains a significant concern with more than 10% of nursing and 
healthcare support worker posts vacant. The Trust has a pool of people it can call upon to 
work additional shift (NHS professionals) as well as offering overtime to its own staff. 
However, more and more the Trust is having to employ high cost agencies (the rate of pay 
received by the member of staff is more and the premia is higher). This can lead to a threefold 
difference between the costs of our staff and agency staffing. This is financially unsustainable 
for the Trust. The Trust has a good track record of recruiting overseas and will continue to do 
so where possible but more must be done. The Director of nursing is leading a new 
recruitment and retention campaign and plans will be presented to the Trust Board in the 
Spring. 
 
Conclusions 
 
The Trust is still not delivering against the 4-hour standard. The staff in the emergency 
department have worked incredibly hard this Winter to ensure that the patients are safe and 
well cared but there is still more to do to ensure that 95% of the patients are treated and 
discharged or treated or admitted to a bed within 4 hours. The CCG has asked that we 
prepare a new action plan linked to a recent review from the Emergency Care Intensive 
Support Team (ECIST) who are the national experts on ED performance. This will be agreed 
in early April and could be presented to the next meeting of the OSC if members would find 
that helpful. 
 
 
 
 
 
Fiona Dalton 
Chief Executive 

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

UHS Pre-11am Discharge

Pre-11am Discharge R-13 Week Pre-11am Discharge
18.0%

18.5%

19.0%

19.5%

20.0%

20.5%

21.0%

21.5%

22.0%

22.5%

A
p

r

M
a

y

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c

t

N
o

v

D
e

c

Ja
n

F
e

b

M
a

r

A
p

r

M
a

y

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c

t

N
o

v

D
e

c

Ja
n

2014 2015

UHS Weekend Discharge Rate

Monthly R-12

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DECISION-MAKER:  HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

SUBJECT: WHOLE SYSTEM REPORT ON COMPLEX OR 
DELAYED DISCHARGES 

DATE OF DECISION: 26 MARCH 2015 

REPORT OF: CHIEF EXECUTIVE, UHS AND SYSTEM PARTNERS 

CONTACT DETAILS 

AUTHOR: Name:  Jane Hayward 

Alison Elliott 

Tel: 023 8079 6241 

 E-mail: Jane.Hayward@uhs.nhs.uk 

Alison.Elliott@southampton.gov.uk 

Director Name:  Fiona Dalton, Chief Executive UHS 

Alison Elliott, Director of People 

Tel: 023 8077 7222 

023 8083 2602 

 E-mail: fiona.dalton@uhs.nhs.uk 

Alison.Elliott@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

The University Hospital Southampton Foundation Trust and Southampton Social 
Services will update the committee on progress on reducing complex discharges in 
the Hospital. This paper was requested as a link to recent ED performance in UHSFT. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) That the Panel notes the report and following discussions agrees 
any issues that may need to be brought forward to a future HOSP 
meeting. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. As part of the HOSP’s terms of reference the panel has a role to respond to 
proposals and consultations from NHS bodies in respect of substantial 
variations in service provision. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. None 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

 Introduction 

3. Complex discharges (or delayed discharges) are patients who need support 
in the community to leave Hospital. Everyone has support from their GP, but 
these patients need additional temporary support (rehabilitation or 
reablement at home or in a community hospital or residential facility) or long 
term care probably for the rest of their lives (at home or in a care home). A 
few patients may also need re-housing or for their homes to be adapted.  

4. On any given day there are 150 to 200 patients in the Hospital who are 
identified by the UHS as being medically fit for discharge. This is between 15 Page 17

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Jane.Hayward@uhs.nhs.uk
mailto:fiona.dalton@uhs.nhs.uk


and 20% of all ward beds in the hospital and most patients are in Elderly 
Care, Medicine, the Stroke Service or Trauma and Orthopaedics. Further 
assessments can be required to ensure safe discharge and patients are only 
deemed delayed discharges of care (DTOCs) 3 working days after a Section 
5 (identifying a patient is medical fit for discharge) has been issued or until all 
health based assessments (assessments for continuing healthcare funding) 
have been completed. Sometimes patients will become unwell again before 
their discharge at which point they will be de-notified and their count starts 
again once they are well enough to leave Hospital. 

5. This paper sets out the position on complex delays and what we in 
Southampton are trying to do about this.  

6. Complex discharges may be transferring to: 

 Services commissioned and funded by Southampton CCG and 
delivered by another health care organisation (Solent), or  

 Services commissioned and funded by Southampton City Council or 
Southampton CCG and delivered by the private sector (domiciliary; 
care or nursing home care) or the Council (CCFS reablement service) 

 Care that patients will pay for themselves at home or in a bedded 
environment. 

 Current Position 

7. Every partner in the health and social care system has committed to 
discharging 26 patients per day or 13 each for Southampton and Hampshire 
(Appendix 2, graph 3). The latest data is attached as Appendix 1. 

8. There graphs attached as Appendix 2 show there are more people than ever 
waiting to leave Hospital and there are more people being added each day 
as demand for care is increasing (Appendix 2, graph 1 and graph 2, to be 
clear these graphs show those patients that are medically fit not formal 
DTOCs). This impacts on the beds available to treat other patients and on 
the patient themselves as it is well evidenced that patients lose mobility and 
independence as length of stay increases.  

 Plan to improve the Position 

9. There are four decisions that need to be made to plan a patient’s discharge  

a) Is the patient fit enough to leave the Hospital? 
b) What are their ongoing care needs? 
c) Who will pay for this? 
d) Who will provide this? 

10. These 4 questions apply whether a patient needs long term placement into a 
nursing home or two weeks of physiotherapy. The key to changing how we 
work is that not all of these decisions need to be made in Hospital and they 
don’t need to be made sequentially.  If we can change this we will change 
the system. 

11. In changing the system there are a number of principals we should always 
stick to: 

 Start discharge planning on the day of admission 

 Don’t make any decisions in Hospital other than decisions to support 
a safe discharge 

 Have lots of different types of support available in the community as 
every patient is different with different needs. Page 18



 No one should be asked to make a decision about long term 
placement from a Hospital bed without a chance to improve in a 
community setting. 

 Integrate everything possible (paperwork, IT, teams, skills, 
assessments etc) all of which needs to be based on trust 

 Measure everything so we can celebrate success and spot problems 
early 

12. Southampton has made inroads into this but there is still a long journey to 
travel. This is clearly linked to the delivery of the Better Care Fund plans 
which have for the first time joined the commissioning of services between 
health and the council and in response the providers of services also want to 
work in a joined up way. 

13. There are some good local examples of delivery of the principals set out 
above: 

 A new discharge to assess pathway for patients whose health condition 
may mean they are eligible for continuing health care funding (checklist 
positive) -  this allows the patient’s assessment to see if they qualify for 
health funding  (rather than self-funding or council funding) to take place 
in a local nursing home in Southampton 

 The new domiciliary care contracts will come into place on the 1st April 
increasing reliability of these packages of care and a new service 
specification is in place for crisis response (rehabilitation, reablement, 
rapid response)  

 Considerable effort has gone into supporting private sector nursing 
homes to improve quality to ensure a better supply of placements and 
giving patients more choice.  

 Adult Social Services have trained staff in the Hospital to undertake 
assessments for patients who need domiciliary care packages (restarts, 
in place now and minor changes, in the near future). 

 IT systems are being shared so that staff in the integrated discharge 
bureau are able to access both PARIS and APEX, but this system isn’t 
integrated and there is still considerable duplication. 

 There is an agreed key performance metric to measure the 26 per day 
(13 for Southampton per day or 65 per week) 

14. To see sustained improvement in the care for these patients every partner in 
the system has a role to play including the CCGs, the Hospital and the 
Council.  The OSC needs to seek assurance from every organisations 
involved that there is sufficient capacity and robust plans to meet current and 
future demand. 

 Conclusion 

15. The paper sets out that there is a broad understanding of the issues and 
actions have been taken to remedy the situation.  The debate remains 
whether a new plan is needed or effective implementation of the existing 
plan is what is required. However, there is consensus that we must remove 
delayed discharges of care.   It is widely acknowledged that prolonged stays 
in hospital are not good for patients and it is impacting on emergency 
patients who need admission from ED and on patients who require elective 
surgery. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Page 19



Capital/Revenue  

16. None 

Property/Other 

17. None 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

18. The powers and duties of health scrutiny are set out in the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2003.   

Other Legal Implications:  

19. None 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

20. None 

 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: ALL 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices  

1. Current Count of 13 Discharges per day 

2 Complex Discharge Key Trend Graphs 1 to 4 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

 None 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Other Background Documents 

Equality Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. None  

 

Page 20



CURRENT COUNT OF 13 DISCHARGES PER DAY 

 

Discharges 
WC 01.03.15 
Southampton 
116% of 
target 

Section 2 
Not counted 
in target of 
13 

Section 5 
Health 
ACUTE and 
None Acute 
Beds 

Section 5 
Social 
Care 

Section 5  
Rehab 
Assess/Bed 

Total 

Monday 1 8 8 0 16 

Tuesday 4 7 7 2 16 

Wednesday 3 2 6 2 10 

Thursday 3 0 7 2 9 

Friday/ 

Sunday 
10 5 16 4 25 

 

Discharges 
WC 23.02.15 
Southampton 
92% of target 

Section 2 
Not counted 
in target of 
13 

Section 5 
Health 
ACUTE 

Section 5 
Social 
Care 

Section 5  
Rehab 
Assess/Bed 

Total 

Monday 2 0 8 3 11 

Tuesday 4  11 1 12 

Wednesday 4 6 7 1 14 

Thursday 1 0 3 1 4 

Friday/ 

Sunday 
7 1 12 4 18 

 

Discharges 
WC 16.02.15 
Southampton 
86% of target 

Section 2 
Not counted 
in target of 
13 

Section 5 
Health 
ACUTE 

Section 5 
Social 
Care 

Section 5  
Rehab 
Assess/Bed 

Total 

Monday 2 2 9 1 12 

Tuesday 5 0 7 3 10 

Wednesday 2 1 3 0 4 

Thursday 3 2 7 2 11 

Friday/ 

Sunday 
6 1 16 2 19 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



APPENDIX 2 

COMPLEX DISCHARGE KEY TREND GRAPHS 

Graph 1      Graph 2 

 

 

Graph 3      Graph 4 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

7
/
2

/
1

4

2
1

/
2

/
1

4

7
/
3

/
1

4

2
1

/
3

/
1

4

4
/
4

/
1

4

1
8

/
4

/
1

4

2
/
5

/
1

4

1
6

/
5

/
1

4

3
0

/
5

/
1

4

1
3

/
6

/
1

4

2
7

/
6

/
1

4

1
1

/
7

/
1

4

2
5

/
7

/
1

4

8
/
8

/
1

4

2
2

/
8

/
1

4

5
/
9

/
1

4

1
9

/
9

/
1

4

3
/
1

0
/
1

4

1
7

/
1

0
/
1

4

3
1

/
1

0
/
1

4

1
4

/
1

1
/
1

4

2
8

/
1

1
/
1

4

1
2

/
1

2
/
1

4

2
6

/
1

2
/
1

4

9
/
1

/
1

5

2
3

/
1

/
1

5

6
/
2

/
1

5

2
0

/
2

/
1

5

Section 5 Patients - Weekly Census - February 14 to February 15
(Excludes patients under review)

S5 Pts R-13 S5 Pts Target 0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

2
/
2

/
1

4

1
6

/
2

/
1

4

2
/
3

/
1

4

1
6

/
3

/
1

4

3
0

/
3

/
1

4

1
3

/
4

/
1

4

2
7

/
4

/
1

4

1
1

/
5

/
1

4

2
5

/
5

/
1

4

8
/
6

/
1

4

2
2

/
6

/
1

4

6
/
7

/
1

4

2
0

/
7

/
1

4

3
/
8

/
1

4

1
7

/
8

/
1

4

3
1

/
8

/
1

4

1
4

/
9

/
1

4

2
8

/
9

/
1

4

1
2

/
1

0
/
1

4

2
6

/
1

0
/
1

4

9
/
1

1
/
1

4

2
3

/
1

1
/
1

4

7
/
1

2
/
1

4

2
1

/
1

2
/
1

4

4
/
1

/
1

5

1
8

/
1

/
1

5

1
/
2

/
1

5

1
5

/
2

/
1

5

1
/
3

/
1

5

Weekly and R-13 New Section 5s

New R-13 New

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

01-Feb 01-Mar 01-Apr 01-May 01-Jun 01-Jul 01-Aug 01-Sep 01-Oct 01-Nov 01-Dec 01-Jan 01-Feb

Section 5 Discharges
(5 Day Average is total discharges over previous 7 days, divided by 5, as target was 22 per day, Mon-Fri, 

increasing to 26 from December 2014)

Discharges 5 Day Average Target

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

800.0

900.0

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

2
/
2

/
1

4

1
6

/
2

/
1

4

2
/
3

/
1

4

1
6

/
3

/
1

4

3
0

/
3

/
1

4

1
3

/
4

/
1

4

2
7

/
4

/
1

4

1
1

/
5

/
1

4

2
5

/
5

/
1

4

8
/
6

/
1

4

2
2

/
6

/
1

4

6
/
7

/
1

4

2
0

/
7

/
1

4

3
/
8

/
1

4

1
7

/
8

/
1

4

3
1

/
8

/
1

4

1
4

/
9

/
1

4

2
8

/
9

/
1

4

1
2

/
1

0
/
1

4

2
6

/
1

0
/
1

4

9
/
1

1
/
1

4

2
3

/
1

1
/
1

4

7
/
1

2
/
1

4

2
1

/
1

2
/
1

4

4
/
1

/
1

5

1
8

/
1

/
1

5

1
/
2

/
1

5

1
5

/
2

/
1

5

1
/
3

/
1

5

R
-
1

3
 A

v
e

r
a

g
e

 I
n

-
W

e
e

k
 S

e
c
t
io

n
 5

 B
e

d
 D

a
y

s

R
-
1

3
 A

v
e

r
a

g
e

 S
e

c
t
io

n
 5

 D
e

ly
a

e
d

 D
is

c
h

a
r
g
e

s

Rolling 13-Week Mean of Weekly Section 5 Patient Census and
In-Week Bed Days Used by Section 5 Patients

R-13 Census

R-13 In-Week Bed Days

Page 22



 

DECISION-MAKER:  HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

SUBJECT: ADULT SOCIAL CARE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

DATE OF DECISION: 26 MARCH 2015 

REPORT OF: HEAD OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

CONTACT DETAILS 

AUTHOR: Name:  Mark Howell Tel: 023 8083 2743 

 E-mail: Mark.howell@southampton.gov.uk 

Director Name:  Alison Elliott, Director of People Tel: 023 8083 2602 

 E-mail: Alison.Elliott@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

This report provides a snapshot of the latest available national performance data for 
Adult Social care in Southampton for the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel to 
consider future monitoring of Adult Social Care. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) Agree to receive reports on a quarterly basis on the progress being 
made against the 12 Adult Services KPI’s set out in Appendix two 
and 

 (ii) To determine any amendments to the proposed set of KPI’s it would 
like to see. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. As part of the HOSP’s terms of reference the panel has a role to monitor 
performance and outcomes for Adult Social Care Service in the City. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. None 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

 Background 

3. Key performance indicators (KPI’s) form an important part of the information 
required to determine and explain how an organisation or team is 
progressing towards its set goals. There is no specific standard around what 
is an ideal number of KPI’s, in general terms anywhere between four to 15 
indicators will be right for most teams. What is important is that those 
selected should be crucial to the success of the team or organisation.   

4. The Chair of HOSP has asked for a brief report on performance indicators 
which could be used at future meetings of the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel as a business monitoring tool.  

 

 

 Page 23

Agenda Item 10



5. This report provides members of the Panel with a snapshot of the latest 
available national performance data for Adult Social care in Southampton; 
the Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) report. It goes on to 
make recommendations around the future use of a different range of more 
strategically useful performance data which are presented as ideas around 
which future monitoring by HOSP of the Adults agenda could be geared. 

 ADULT SOCIAL CARE OUTCOME FRAMEWORK (ASCOF) 

6. The ASCOF data set is collected by the Health and Social Care Social Care 
Information Centre (HSCIC) on an annual basis. This means that the most 
recent data set available is that showing the position in 2013/14. 
Consequently the data is of limited real time value as it is now more than a 
year out of date. The most recently available set for Southampton City 
Council is shown in Appendix One. HSCIC run an ASCOF website which 
allows you to compare data from different local authority areas. Comparable 
local authorities are selected according to the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Nearest Neighbour Model which 
identifies similarities between authorities based upon a range of socio-
economic and demographic indicators.  

 SUGGESTED ALTERNATIVE SET OF KPI’s. 

7. Although the type of comparison described above can for instance be useful 
in identifying, partners with whom to benchmark or perhaps to identify best 
practice, in terms of a barometer by which Management and the HOSP 
board can measure the performance of the Adult Social Care Team (ASC) 
the ASCOF data and website are perhaps of less value. Rather a set of data 
is required which can be measured and monitored closely and regularly 
which shows that the required actions and activity needed to deliver 
improvements are well in hand.  

8. Consequently, in Appendix two, a proposed set of 12 Key Performance 
Indicators (KPI’s) is suggested which, if reported regularly to HOSP, would 
provide the board with that more timely check of performance. This would 
bring the board into the critical process of planning, monitoring and 
controlling key activities. It is envisaged that  monitoring these KPI’s will help 
to identify areas where some degree of  future reengineering of the social 
work resources might be required to maintain or improve performance in the 
future. 

9. The indicators suggested would amongst other things: 

 Provide an indication of the levels of satisfaction of people who 
receive a service from adult social care and whether it is making them 
feel safe, 

 Measure “the number of reviews each month that are over three 
months overdue”  this would provide the board with an assurance that 
Southampton’s residents were receiving the right level of support 
which reflects their current level of need,  

 Two of the proposed indicators are mirrored in the data set currently 
being constructed by the Safeguarding Adults board and are likely to 
complement any action plan which flows from the recent completion of 
a Peer Review of the Board, 

 Show the progress being made in increasing the number of residents Page 24



supported via a Direct Payment, 

 Indicate the number of residents whom it has proved necessary to 
support in potentially expensive residential and nursing homes and; 

 Keep the board abreast of any ongoing difficulties over delayed 
discharges from hospital which are classified as being the authorities’ 
responsibility. 

10. The indicators will be closely monitored within the People’s Directorate 
Management team on a monthly basis and they will be used to drive 
productivity, ensure that residents are safe and that they are being assessed 
in a timely manner for the correct level of support. The regular monitoring of 
the 12 indicators set out in appendix two could also help HOSP to focus on a 
set of common goals for ASC and ensure that the achievement of those 
goals stays aligned with those of the Council. It is therefore suggested that 
the KPI’s set out in Appendix two are reported to HOSP on a quarterly basis. 
If HOSP is in agreement with this suggestion then the suggested data set 
shown in Appendix Two will be populated and presented at the end of 
quarter one in 2015/16 to HOSP. 

 RECOMMENATIONS. 

11. HOSP is asked to consider data sets and KPI’s set out in Appendix One and 
Two and to : 

 i. Agree to receive reports on a quarterly basis on the progress being 
made against the 12 Adult Services KPI’s set out in Appendix two or; 

 ii. To determine any amendments to the proposed set of KPI’s it would 
like to see. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

6. None 

Property/Other 

7. None 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

8. The powers and duties of health scrutiny are set out in the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2003.   

Other Legal Implications:  

15. None 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

16. None 

 

 

 

 

 

KEY DECISION?  No Page 25



WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: ALL 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Appendices  

1. Adult Social Care Outcome Framework Indicators 2013-14 

2 Adult Services Top 12 Key Performance Indicators  

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

 None 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Other Background Documents 

Equality Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. None  

 

Page 26



 

Page | 1 

First draft of Adult Social Care Outcome Framework Indicators for 2013-14  
Note: All the 2013-14 data in this report are subject to change and do not necessarily represent the final outcome. 

ASCOF 

Ref

Indicators Good 

performance 

is

Southampton 

2013-14 Draft 

Score

South East 

Region 

Average 2013-

14

Comparator 

Group average 

2013-14

Unitary Authority 

Average 2013-14

England 

Average 2013-

14

Ranking 

(1st = highest 

value)

Direction of 

change 2013 to 

2014

Direction of 

change by 

CIPFA Quartile

CIPFA 

comparator 

group quartile 

2013-14

1E Proportion of adults with Learning disabilities in paid 

employment

High 7.3 8.1 7.1 8.0 6.8 65th out of 152
↓ ↓

Second

2B(ii) Proportion of Older people (65+) who were still at home 91 

days after discharge from hospital into reablement and 

rehabilitation services (offered the service)

High 4.6 3.0 3.8 3.0 3.3 33rd out of 150 ↑ ↑ Second

1B Proportion of people who use services who have control over 

their daily life

High 76.6 79.1 77.1 78.0 76.7 74th out of 150
→ →

Third

1G Proportion of adults with Learning disabilities who live in their 

own home or with their family

High 78.3 70.7 79.7 74.5 74.8 53rd out of 152
→ ↓

Third

2B(i) Proportion of Older people (65+) who were still at home 91 

days after discharge from hospital into reablement and 

rehabilitation services (effectiveness of the service)

High 87.4 80.1 80.5 83.3 81.9 127th out of 150

↓ ↓
Third

2C(i) Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 population Low 13.6 9.8 10.3 9.0 9.7 24th out of 152

↓ →
Third

4B Proportion of people who use services who say that those 

services have made them feel safe and secure

High 78.9 79.7 81.6 81.4 79.2 85th out of 149 ↑ →
Third

1A Social care-related quality of life High 18.6 19.1 19.0 19.1 19.0 107th out of 150 → → Fourth

1C(a) Proportion of people using social care who receive self-directed 

support

High 50.4 66.7 67.8 63.7 62.1 124th out of 150
→ →

Fourth

1C(b) Part 2 - Proportion of people using social care who receive 

direct payments

High 6.8 18.2 20.5 19.2 19.1 149th out of 150
→ →

Fourth

1F Proportion of adults in contact with secondary mental health 

services in paid employment **

High 3.2 6.6 6.0 7.2 7.1 133rd out of 152
→ →

Fourth

1H Proportion of adults in contact with secondary mental health 

services living independently, with or without support **

High 28.5 52.1 58.0 58.1 60.9 140th out of 152
→ →

Fourth

1I Proportion of people who use services and their carers, who 

reported that they had as much social contact as they would 

like

High 40.1 45.2 44.7 44.4 44.2 120th out of 150 Fourth

2A(i) Permanent admissions of younger adults (aged 18-64) to 

residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population 

Low 23.0 15.0 14.0 16.5 14.4 13th out of 152

→ →
Fourth

2A(ii) Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 or over) to 

residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population 

Low 971.0 644.9 792.2 737.1 668.4 8th out of 152 ↑

→
Fourth

2C(ii) Delayed transfers of care from hospital which are attributable to 

social care per 100,000 population 

Low 6.2 3.4 3.2 2.7 3.1 11th out of 152

↓ ↓
Fourth

3A Overall satisfaction of people who use services with their care 

and support

High 63.0 65.1 64.7 65.5 64.9 104th out of 152
↓ ↓

Fourth

3D Proportion of people who use services who find it easy to find 

information about services

High 72.2 74.4 74.9 75.8 74.7 110th out of 150 ↑ →
Fourth

4A Proportion of people who use services who feel safe High 59.5 66.4 66.7 67.3 66.0 138th out of 150 → → Fourth

1D Carer-reported quality of life High Not collected in 

2013-14

3B Overall satisfaction of carers with social services High Not collected in 

2013-14

3C Proportion of carers who report that they have been included or 

consulted in discussion about the person they care for

High Not collected in 

2013-14

 

 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix 1



 

Page | 2 

    

APPENDIX 2 

 

Top 12 KPI's for Adult Services 
   

       Target Red Amber Green 

1 
Proportion of enquiries resolved at first 
contact. Below 59% 60-80% 80-100% 

2 
Proportion of annual reviews completed on 
time.       

4 
Proportion of people with eligible needs 
supported to live independently Below 59% 60-80% 80-100% 

5 
Direct payments as a percentage of all 
eligible service users (ADASS definition) Per Month Per Month Per Month 

6 

Proportion of people who use our services 
find it easy to obtain information about 
services that meet their needs. Annual Annual Annual 

7 
Number of people readmitted in to hospital 
after 91 days Below 59%  60-80% 80-100% 

8 
Number of people not requiring on going 
care after receiving reablement Below 30% 10-30% 10% 

9 
Number of Adult safeguarding alerts 
received Below 30% 30-40% 40-100% 

10 
% of people with three or more 
safeguarding alerts in a year Per Month Per Month Per Month 

11 

Permanent admissions of older people 
(over 65) to residential/nursing care 
homes per 100,000 population  Per Month Per Month Per Month 

12 

Number DTCO per month, where 
delay is more than 72 hours after a 
valid section five notice has been 
served.  Per Month Per Month Per Month 

 

P
age 28



 

DECISION-MAKER:  HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

SUBJECT: SOUTHAMPTON ADULT MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES 
AND COST IMPROVEMENT PLAN UPDATE 

DATE OF DECISION: 26 MARCH 2015 

REPORT OF: SOUTHAMPTON AREA MANAGER 

CONTACT DETAILS 

AUTHOR: Name:  Sally Banister   

 E-mail: sally.banister@southernhealth.nhs.uk 

Director Name:  Dr Lesley Stevens Tel: 023 8087 4000 

 E-mail: lesley.stevens@southernhealth.nhs.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

This report provides an overview of mental health services in Southampton. It 
includes a service overview, including details of the recent Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) inspection, a finance update, and details a number of projects and new 
initiatives taking place within the City. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) That the Panel notes the report. 

 (ii) That the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel notes the outcome of 
the CQC inspection. 

 (iii) That the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel notes progress being 
made by Southern Health NHS Trust towards completing the action 
plan. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. The Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel requested an update on the CQC 
inspection outcomes and progress on the action plan, with specific reference 
being made to implications for Southampton residents. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. None. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 11



DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

 Background 

3. Southern Health provides secondary care mental health services for adults in 
Southampton.  This comprises:  

 An Access and Assessment Team which also provides brief 

intervention and Crisis support 

 Community Treatment Teams which provide ongoing care for people 

with serious mental illness. This includes an Early Intervention in 

Psychosis service and Assertive Outreach 

 Hospital at Home - an intensive support service which operates as an 

alternative to a hospital admission 

 Antelope House 

o Acute Inpatient Care (20-bedded male ward and 20-bedded 

female ward) 

o Psychiatric Intensive Care - a more highly staffed 10-bedded 

ward for people more acutely unwell 

 Forest Lodge  

o An 18-bedded rehabilitation unit 

 CARE QUALITY COMMISSION REPORTS 

4. Significant concerns were raised following CQC visits to Antelope House in 
December 2013 and February 2014. A number of compliance notices were 
received. Intensive support was put into Antelope House with work streams 
covering 

 Physical environment 

 Leadership 

 Care Planning and Treatment 

 Risk Assessment  

 Physical Health 

5. An organisation-wide inspection took place in October 2014 which rated 
Southern Health as needing improvement, but identified a number of areas 
of good and excellent practice. Key themes for mental health services 
included Crisis Care and ensuring environment and practice was safe 
around ligatures and seclusion. Reports were completed for each of the 
services including those relating to Southampton adult mental health are 
linked below: 

 Acute Wards for Adult Working Age and Psychiatric Intensive Care Units 

(included as Appendix 1 due to web link being broken) 

 Crisis Service/S136 Health-Based Place of Safety 

 Community-Based Mental Health Services for Adults of Working Age 

 Long Stay/Rehabilitation Mental Health Wards For Working Age Adults 

 

 

 

Page 30

http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/rw1_coreservice_mental_health_crisis_services_and_health-based_places_of_safety_southern_health_nhs_foundation_trust_scheduled_20141125.pdf
http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/rw1_coreservice_community-based_mental_health_services_for_adults_of_working_age_southern_health_nhs_foundation_trust_scheduled_20141125.pdf
http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/rw1_coreservice_long_stay_rehabilitation_mental_health_wards_for_working_age_adults_southern_health_nhs_foundation_trust_scheduled_20141125.pdf


6. The Care Quality Commission inspection of Southern Health NHS 
Foundation Trust in October was due to be published imminently. The Panel 
therefore requested an overview of the report’s findings at the next meeting, 
noting any implications for Southampton residents.  The CQC Inspection 
Report is attached at Appendix 1 

7. Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust will update the committee on the 
latest Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection report outcomes and 
resulting action plan, with an additional focus on implications for 
Southampton residents. This will take the form of a presentation, with an 
opportunity for questions. The presentation is attached at Appendix 2. 

 FINANCIAL POSITION 

8. Southern Health is currently projecting a deficit position for the year-end.  In 
light of continued national and local pressures this difficult position is likely to 
be maintained into 2015/2016 and contributes to the need to review services 
to ensure delivery is as efficient and cost effective as possible.    

9. Within the Trust, Adult Mental Health has provided significant cost pressures 
through:  

 higher than planned use of inpatient resources without additional 
income (for 2014/2015 across all of Hampshire and Southampton this 
has cost approximately £5m) 

 high use of bank and agency staff, supporting both vacancies and 
“specialling” (adding staff to a ward to deliver 1:1 support when 
service users are very unwell).   

10. Southampton Adult Mental Health services have operated in an overspend 
position throughout 2014/2015.  Whilst significant progress has been made 
in reducing the monthly overspend (through reduction in cost of bank and 
agency use, better rostering and more effective shift patterns), this has been 
offset by the need to employ additional staff in some wards to better comply 
with the Safer Staffing review. In addition, Adult Mental Health in 
Southampton has invested in improvements to the ward and unit 
environment at Antelope House (though the cost was non-recurrent).   

11. Along with all NHS organisations Southern Health needs to plan for the next 
financial year using the assumptions within the NHS Five Year Forward View 
and the planned changes to the national tariff.   

 BUSINESS PLANNING/COST IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME 

12. In order to deliver both continuous improvement and reduced costs, Adult 
Mental Health has (as part of the Mental Health, Learning Disability and TQ 
TwentyOne division), identified a series of programmes for the next three 
years (with priorities for 2015/2016) and a set of Cost Improvement Schemes 
for the year. Together these constitute the Business Plan for the division and 
service.  

 

 

 

Page 31



13. The Business Plan  

 builds upon the previous service redesign 

 acknowledges changes in the operating environment 

 acknowledges areas where specific qualitative improvement is 
needed 

 reduces costs in line with national requirements and any local 
pressures 

15. The proposed priorities for development and cost savings (CIPS) are shown 
in Appendix 3. Whilst none of these are specific to Southampton, each will 
require contribution from Southampton services, and liaison and partnership 
with commissioners and other Southampton stakeholders. 

 DEVELOPMENTS AND NEW SERVICES 

16. An outline of developments and new services within Southern Health are 
outlined at Appendix 4. 

 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 Capital/Revenue 

17. As detailed in section 5 above. 

 Property/other 

18. None 

 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report 

19. The powers and duties of health scrutiny are set out in the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2003 

 Other legal implications: 

20. None 

 POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

  

 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 32



SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Appendices  

1 CQC REPORT - ACUTE WARDS FOR ADULT WORKING AGE AND 
PSYCHIATRIC INTENSIVE CARE UNITS  

2 SOUTHERN HEALTH RESPONSE TO THE INSPECTION 

3 BUSINESS PROGRAMMES AND COST IMPROVEMENT PLANS 

4 SOUTHERN HEALTH DEVELOPMENTS AND NEW SERVICES 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) to be carried out. 

No 

 

Other Background Documents 

Equality Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules / Schedule 12A allowing 
document to be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. None  

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Locations inspected

Name of CQC registered
location

Location ID Name of service (e.g. ward/
unit/team)

Postcode
of
service
(ward/
unit/
team)

Elmleigh
RW1AM

Elmleigh male and female acute
wards and psychiatric intensive
care unit

PO9 2JJ

Melbury Lodge RW119 Kingsley ward – male and female
acute wards SO22 5DG

Antelope House RW1GE Saxon ward; Trinity ward and
Hamtun ward SO14 0YG

Parklands Hospital RW1AC Hawthorns 1 (PICU) and
Hawthorns 2 (acute) RG24 9RH

Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust

AcutAcutee wwarardsds fforor adultsadults ofof
workingworking agagee andand psychiatricpsychiatric
intintensiveensive ccararee unitsunits
Quality Report

Headquarters
Tatchbury Mount
Calmore
Southampton
Hampshire
SO40 2RZ
Tel: 02380874036
Website: www.southernhealth.nhs.uk

Date of inspection visit: 7-10 October 2014
Date of publication: 25 February 2015

Requires Improvement –––

1 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 35

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



This report describes our judgement of the quality of care provided within this core service by Southern Health NHS
Foundation Trust. Where relevant we provide detail of each location or area of service visited.

Our judgement is based on a combination of what we found when we inspected, information from our ‘Intelligent
Monitoring’ system, and information given to us from people who use services, the public and other organisations.

Where applicable, we have reported on each core service provided by Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust and these
are brought together to inform our overall judgement of Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust.

Summary of findings

2 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 36



Ratings
We are introducing ratings as an important element of our new approach to inspection and regulation. Our ratings will
always be based on a combination of what we find at inspection, what people tell us, our Intelligent Monitoring data
and local information from the provider and other organisations. We will award them on a four-point scale: outstanding;
good; requires improvement; or inadequate.

Overall rating for Acute wards for adults
of working age and psychiatric intensive
care units

Requires Improvement –––

Are Acute wards for adults of working age and
psychiatric intensive care units safe? Requires Improvement –––

Are Acute wards for adults of working age and
psychiatric intensive care units effective? Requires Improvement –––

Are Acute wards for adults of working age and
psychiatric intensive care units caring? Good –––

Are Acute wards for adults of working age and
psychiatric intensive care units responsive? Requires Improvement –––

Are Acute wards for adults of working age and
psychiatric intensive care units well-led? Requires Improvement –––

Mental Health Act responsibilities and Mental
Capacity Act / Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
We include our assessment of the provider’s compliance
with the Mental Health Act and Mental Capacity Act in our
overall inspection of the core service.

We do not give a rating for Mental Health Act or Mental
Capacity Act; however we do use our findings to
determine the overall rating for the service.

Further information about findings in relation to the
Mental Health Act and Mental Capacity Act can be found
later in this report.

Summary of findings

3 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 37



Contents

PageSummary of this inspection
Overall summary                                                                                                                                                                                           5

The five questions we ask about the service and what we found                                                                                               7

Background to the service                                                                                                                                                                         9

Our inspection team                                                                                                                                                                                    9

Why we carried out this inspection                                                                                                                                                      10

How we carried out this inspection                                                                                                                                                      10

What people who use the provider's services say                                                                                                                           10

Good practice                                                                                                                                                                                               11

Areas for improvement                                                                                                                                                                             11

Detailed findings from this inspection
Locations inspected                                                                                                                                                                                   13

Mental Health Act responsibilities                                                                                                                                                        13

Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards                                                                                                       14

Findings by our five questions                                                                                                                                                                15

Action we have told the provider to take                                                                                                                                            54

Summary of findings

4 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 38



Overall summary
We gave an overall rating for acute wards for working age
adults and the psychiatric intensive care unit (PICU) of
requires improvement because:

• Elmleigh acute wards and PICU in particular had
insufficient, suitably trained staff covering the unit as a
whole, including a health based place of safety that
was in use almost every day.

• There were significant shortfalls in staff training
particularly in respect of the safe restraint of people
and emergency life support which meant people using
the service were at risk of harm in an emergency.
Emergency equipment at Elmleigh was kept in the
PICU treatment room a significant distance from the
acute wards. As a result there was a risk of delay in the
event a person collapsed or suffered a cardiac arrest
on the acute wards.

• We found ligature risks on all wards. These were
usually known to staff and some wards had taken
action to address or mitigate the risks. However, some
ligature risk assessments failed to record any action to
address risks and Elmleigh ward managers had not
implemented, or followed up, actions identified to
remove risks that had been highlighted ten months
ago.

• There was a lack of opportunities for physical activity
on some of the PICUs.

• At Elmleigh there was significant shortfalls in areas of
training, inconsistent provision of supervision to staff
and a poor records on the completion of staff
appraisals when compared with other similar services
within the trust.

• We received mixed responses from people when we
asked them about their involvement in their care.
Some people told us they were listened to by staff and
able to contribute to decision making whereas others
said they had not been involved in developing their
care plan and did not have a copy.

• The planning and delivery of the service was not
always responsive to people’s needs. For example, the
seclusion room on Hamtun ward at Antelope House
was not fit for purpose. The design did not allow staff
to easily observe people in the room. The design of the
wards was different at different locations. Some wards
were clearly segregated with separate female and
male wards and facilities and many bedrooms had

ensuite bathroom and toilet facilities. However, we
found that some of the bathrooms and toilets at
Parklands Hospital were labelled as ‘unisex’ and
during our inspection we saw that women used the
bathrooms on the male corridor. This was contrary to
Department of Health guidance as women had to walk
past male bedrooms to get to the bathroom.

• At Elmleigh it was not clear how the information was
being used to improve the service. The monthly
performance dashboards for Elmleigh PICU and acute
wards for July, August and September showed little
discernible improvement on a range of measures,
including training and appraisal, and in some areas
performance was worse.

• At Elmleigh most staff did not feel engaged in ward
improvements and were disappointed in the lack of
support they received from managers.

• Most wards used performance data and feedback from
people using the service to identify areas for
improvement and bring about changes in the service
except at Elmleigh where the systems in place were
not effective in bringing about continuous
improvement.

However, most people experienced kind and considerate
care from staff and were positive about the support they
had received. Carers we spoke with on all wards we
visited reported feeling involved in their relative’s care. At
Elmleigh a café had been set up on the acute wards
where people and their relatives could buy drinks and
cakes. There was a small seating area that allowed
people to meet with relatives in a more relaxed setting
away from the main acute wards. At Melbury Lodge a
carer’s guide, containing information about the service,
had been developed in conjunction with the carer’s
council that was available for friends and relatives.

The diverse needs of people were considered. At Melbury
Lodge innovative work had been carried out to ensure
that people’s spiritual needs were integrated into their
everyday care and treatment. Information on how to
complain was available on the wards and most people
using the service told us they knew how to make a
complaint if they wished.

Most people on all wards had care plans in place that
addressed their assessed physical and mental health

Summary of findings

5 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 39



needs and any individual risks identified. There were a
range of meaningful and therapeutic activities available
for people on the wards. On some wards an activities
programme was provided across seven days.

Staff on some wards were aware of research and
developments in acute mental health care and we noted
the implementation of new approaches based on
evidence and best practice. For example, the ‘safewards’
initiative was being implemented on the wards and
considerable progress had been made with this in some
areas. At Melbury Lodge the service had developed a
spiritual assessment as part of a holistic approach to
determining people’s needs. This was based on evidence
that people recover faster and recovery is more likely to
be sustained when health professionals work with people
to explore their spirituality.

Most staff (except at Elmleigh) had completed their
mandatory training and received regular clinical
supervision.

We saw good examples of multi-disciplinary team
working which supported people’s care, treatment and
discharge from the wards. Records and information
systems mostly supported the effective delivery of care
and treatment to people.

Governance structures were in place and in most wards
were effective. Staff understood their roles and
responsibilities and lines of reporting on the wards.
Performance was monitored and key performance
indicators included workforce, patient experience,
operational measures and quality and safety measures.
Performance information was actively used to address
shortfalls and bring about improvements in some wards.

Some wards were very well-led. Most staff spoke
positively about their line managers and reported feeling
able to raise any concerns they had about standards of
care. People using the service were asked for their
feedback about services and this sometimes led to
changes in the service provided. Most wards used
performance data and feedback from people using the
service to identify areas for improvement and bring about
changes in the service except at Elmleigh where the
systems in place were not effective in bringing about
continuous improvement.

Summary of findings

6 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 40



The five questions we ask about the service and what we found

Are services safe?
The acute wards for people of working age and psychiatric intensive
care units (PICU) required improvement. Elmleigh acute wards and
PICU in particular had insufficient suitably trained staff covering the
unit as a whole. There were risks that there not enough staff on any
given shift that were suitably trained in how to restrain a person
safely and/or provide emergency life support which meant people
using the service were at risk of harm in an emergency. Emergency
equipment available to the acute wards was kept too far away from
the acute wards which meant there was a risk of delays in the event
of a person having a cardiac arrest. Known ligature risks on wards at
Elmleigh had not been addressed in a timely manner which put
people’s safety at risk.

Requires Improvement –––

Are services effective?
Most staff had completed their mandatory training and received
regular clinical supervision. However, at Elmleigh we found
significant shortfalls in areas of training, inconsistent provision of
supervision to staff and a poor record on the completion of staff
appraisals when compared with other similar services within the
Trust. Consequently there was a risk that the service provided to
people was ineffective.

Requires Improvement –––

Are services caring?
Care and treatment delivered at all acute ward and PICU locations
was caring and considerate. People’s involvement in their care and
treatment was inconsistent varying from those who were very
involved in the development of their own care plans and others who
were not. Carers reported feeling involved in their relative’s care.

Good –––

Are services responsive to people's needs?
The planning and delivery of the service was not always responsive
to people’s needs. The seclusion room on Hamtun ward at Antelope
House was not fit for purpose. The design did not allow staff to
easily observe people in the room. Some wards were clearly
segregated with separate female and male wards and facilities.
However, some of the bathrooms and toilets at Parklands Hospital
on the male corridor were labelled as unisex and were used by
women. This was contrary to Department of Health guidance as
women had to walk past male bedrooms to get to the bathroom.
The diverse needs of people were addressed particularly well at
some locations. At Melbury Lodge people’s spiritual needs were
integrated into their everyday care and treatment.

Requires Improvement –––

Summary of findings

7 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 41



Are services well-led?
Some wards were very well-led and managers were visible. Most
staff spoke positively about their managers and reported being able
to raise concerns about standards of care. However, at Elmleigh
most staff did not feel engaged and reported a serious lack of
support from managers. Most wards used performance data and
feedback from people using the service to identify areas for
improvement and bring about changes in the service except at
Elmleigh where the systems in place were not effective in bringing
about continuous improvement.

Requires Improvement –––

Summary of findings

8 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 42



Background to the service
The acute admission wards at Southern Health NHS
Foundation Trust are based at four hospital sites: at
Elmleigh, Melbury Lodge, Antelope House and Parklands
Hospital. They all provide inpatient mental health
services for adults of working age. There are three
psychiatric intensive care units (PICU) based at Elmleigh,
Antelope House and Parklands Hospital.

Elmleigh, in Havant, has two acute wards with 11 beds
each. One ward is for females and one for males. In
addition there is an eight bed PICU on the same site.

At Melbury Lodge in Winchester, Kingsley Ward is an acute
admission ward for twenty-five patients but is divided
into separate male and female wings.

Antelope House serves the City of Southampton,
although it accepts people from a wider geographical
area covered by Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust.
It has two acute inpatient wards, one male (Saxon) and
one female (Trinity). Each of these wards has twenty
beds. In addition Antelope House has a PICU (Hamtun)
which provides more intensive support and has ten beds.

Parklands Hospital is in Basingstoke and has Hawthorns
1, a PICU with eight beds. Six beds are usually for males
and two for females but could be reversed. Hawthorns 2
(acute) has 24 NHS beds for both males and females.

INSPECTION HISTORY

All the locations had been inspected before. Elmleigh was
last inspected in November 2013 and was found to be
compliant with regulations. Melbury Lodge was last
inspected in April 2014 and was found compliant.

Antelope House had been inspected five times since
registration by the Care Quality Commission.

In August 2013 we identified concerns with care and
welfare and medicine records. We made compliance
actions asking the provider to take action in order to
ensure that people were in receipt of safe and adequate

care. We inspected again on 2 December 2013 to review
the progress the provider had made. We found that the
provider had taken some steps to improve care planning
and medicine records. However, although the care plans
were individualised for mental health needs they did not
always detail the support and care each patient required
for physical health needs. Records such as risk
assessments did not reflect concerns related to patients’
physical health. We issued a warning notice to the
provider stating our concerns with continued non-
compliance, stating that they needed to have taken
action by 31 January 2014.

We inspected on the 6 February 2014 to review the
progress the provider had made with regard to the
warning notice and the concerns we had with the care
and welfare plans for patients. However, concerns
remained regarding Hamtun ward. There continued to be
a lack of information in risk assessments and care plans
regarding peoples’ physical health needs, placing people
at risk of not receiving care to meet their needs. This
inspection resulted in compliance actions in

four areas: providing care, treatment and support that
meets people's needs; caring for people safely and
protecting them from harm; staffing; and quality and
suitability of management.

We inspected the wards for older people at Parklands
Hospital in November 2013 and found some areas of non-
compliance. We found that there with problems with the
systems for managing medication and that the
resuscitation equipment was not properly maintained.
We also found that the quality of the care plans and how
care was recorded was variable, that people’s capacity
and consent was not routinely assessed or recorded, and
that not all people were routinely involved in their care.
The acute wards and PICU at Parklands Hospital had not
been inspected.

Our inspection team
Our inspection team was led by: Chair: Shaun Clee, Chief Executive, 2gether NHS

Foundation Trust, Gloucestershire

Summary of findings

9 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 43



Team Leader: Karen Wilson, Head of Inspection for
Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Substance
Misuse, Care Quality Commission

The team included CQC inspection managers, inspectors,
Mental Health Act reviewers, pharmacy inspectors, CQCs
national professional advisor for learning disabilities,
analysts and inspection planners.

There were also over 100 specialist advisors, which
included consultant psychiatrists, psychologists, senior

nurses, student nurses, social workers GPs, district
nurses, health visitors, school nurses and an occupational
therapist. In addition, the team included Experts by
Experience who had personal experience of using or
caring for someone using the types of services that we
inspected. Five Experts by Experience were involved in
the inspection of mental health and learning disability
services and two were involved in inspecting community
health services.

Why we carried out this inspection
We inspected this core service as part of our ongoing
comprehensive mental health inspection programme

How we carried out this inspection
To get to the heart of people who use services’ experience
of care, we always ask the following five questions of
every service and provider:

• Is it safe?

• Is it effective?

• Is it caring?

• Is it responsive to people’s needs?

• Is it well-led?

Before visiting, we reviewed a range of information we
hold about the trust’s acute wards and psychiatric

intensive care units and asked other organisations to
share what they knew. We carried out announced visits
during the week commencing 6 October 2014. During the
visit we held focus groups with a range of staff who
worked within the service, such as nurses, student nurses
and doctors. We talked with people who used the
services about their views and experiences of the wards.
We observed how people were being cared for and talked
with carers and/or family members We reviewed care or
treatment records of people who use services. We carried
out an unannounced inspection visit to Elmleigh on 17
October 2014 and to Antelope House on 22 October 2014.

What people who use the provider's services say
People using acute wards for people of working age and
psychiatric intensive care units (PICU) services were
generally very positive about the staff and doctors and
described them as kind and collaborative. People we
spoke with reported feeling safe and said that access to

staff when required was generally good. They told us they
were listened to. Most people told us they had access to a
good range of therapeutic and occupational activities,
although this varied from ward to ward.

Summary of findings

10 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 44



Good practice
ALL LOCATIONS

• People using the service could attend therapeutic
groups provided through the intensive support
programme and could often continue to do so after
discharge.

MELBURY LODGE

• Melbury Lodge had successfully integrated spirituality
and recovery approaches as part of providing holistic
care to people using the service.

• There was evidence of strong input from psychology
services at Melbury Lodge.

• At Melbury Lodge a ‘recovery focussed narrative’
approach had been developed and put into practice in

response to feedback from people using the service.
This approach aimed to achieve greater collaboration
between people using the service and health
professionals when planning and reviewing care.

ANTELOPE HOUSE

• There was good planning and monitoring of people’s
physical health care

PARKLANDS HOSPITAL

• The acute ward employed a peer support worker, who
worked with staff and people using the service to
support them and their input into service
development.

Areas for improvement
Action the provider MUST or SHOULD take to
improve

ELMLEIGH

• The provider must ensure that appropriate and safe
staffing levels are consistently maintained at Elmleigh
based upon a detailed review of the needs and acuity
of people using the acute wards and PICU.

• The provider must ensure that emergency equipment
including resuscitation equipment and an automated
external defibrillator is located on or close to the acute
wards at Elmleigh.

• The provider must ensure that high quality clinical
supervision and performance appraisal should be
provided to Elmleigh ward staff at regular intervals and
that staff are adequately supported to provide
effective and safe care and treatment.

• The provider must address shortfalls in basic life
support and intermediate life support training at
Elmleigh and ensure all staff are appropriately trained.

• The provider must address shortfalls in proactively
reducing incidents for safer services (PRISS) training at
Elmleigh and ensure all staff are appropriately trained.

• The provider must ensure that ligature risks at
Elmleigh, identified for removal, are removed.

• The provider must ensure that systems in place to
assess and monitor the quality of service provision at
Elmleigh are effective in bringing about improvements.

ANTELOPE HOUSE

• The provider must ensure that the seclusion facility on
Hamtum ward complies with the Mental Health Act
Code of Practice and allows continuous observation of
people by staff.

PARKLANDS HOSPITAL

• The provider must ensure that women do not have to
walk past male bedrooms to use bathrooms and
toilets, in accordance with Department of Health
guidance about gender separation on mental health
wards.

Action the provider SHOULD take to improve

ALL LOCATIONS

• The provider should ensure that there is sufficient and
detailed recording and documenting of mental
capacity and consent to treatment in people’s care
records.

• The provider should ensure all people using the
service are involved in discussions and decisions
about their care and this is consistently recorded in
their care records.

Summary of findings

11 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 45



ELMLEIGH

• The provider should ensure that staff are appropriately
trained and actively support people to stop smoking.

• The provider should ensure there are sufficient
opportunities for physical exercise for people on
Elmleigh PICU.

MELBURY LODGE

• The provider should ensure that bedroom doors at
Melbury Lodge provide sufficient privacy for people
whilst enabling staff to maintain adequate visual
observations.

• The provider should ensure recording of the
determination of people’s mental capacity is detailed
and includes evidence underpinning the judgement at
Melbury Lodge.

• The provider should ensure that explanations of
people’s rights under section 132 of the Mental Health
Act 1983 are consistently documented at Melbury
Lodge.

• The provider should ensure that on-going and
planned work to improve the environment, in terms of
removal of ligature risks, is completed at Melbury
Lodge.

ANTELOPE HOUSE

• The provider should ensure that, at Antelope House,
individual risk assessments are completed for people
prior to going on section 17 leave and this should be
recorded appropriately.

• The provider should ensure that episodes of
restraint in the ‘face down’ position are minimised and
only used in exceptional circumstances in line with
Department of Health guidelines on the safe use of
restraint.

• The trust should ensure that enhanced observations
of people using the service are recorded accurately
and contemporaneously.

• The trust should ensure that, on Hamtun ward, the
blanket restrictions in place in respect of a limit of two
telephone calls a day, no baths after 10.00pm and
restrictions on the availability of snacks and drinks to
people using the service are reviewed to make sure
that people’s individual needs are being met.

PARKLANDS HOSPITAL

• The provider should ensure that where CCTV cameras
are used in communal areas and on individual wards
at Parklands Hospital that people using the service are
informed of this.

• The provider should ensure environmental risk
assessments of the acute wards at Parklands Hospital
are completed clearly, action taken to remove risks,
and a record made of arrangements in place to
manage or mitigate the risks.

• The provider should ensure at Parklands Hospital that
the dirty utility facilities, such as a sluice sink and
disposable bed pan macerator, are not in the laundry
room where people’s clothing is washed, because of
the risk of cross contamination.

Summary of findings

12 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 46



Locations inspected

Name of service (e.g. ward/unit/team) Name of CQC registered location

Elmleigh male and female acute wards and psychiatric
intensive care unit (PICU) Elmleigh

Kingsley male and female acute wards Melbury Lodge

Saxon ward, Trinity ward and Hamtun ward (PICU) Antelope House

Hawthorns 1 (OICU) and Hawthorns 2 Parklands Hospital

<Placeholder text> <Placeholder text>

Mental Health Act responsibilities
We do not rate responsibilities under the Mental Health Act
1983. We use our findings as a determiner in reaching an
overall judgement about the Provider.

We found all legal documentation in relation to detention
under the Mental Health Act 1983 was in order. There was a
system in place to ensure that the operation of the Mental
Health Act met legal requirements.

All lawful authority appeared to be in place with some use
of section 62 to cover a period of time between requesting

a second opinion appointed doctor (SOAD) and receiving a
SOAD certificate. At Melbury Lodge we noted that a local
form recording the use of section 62 for medication was
completed on a form designed for ECT; this was promptly
amended during our visit.

Consent to treatment forms were attached to medicine
charts in line with the Mental Health Act 1983 Code of

Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust

AcutAcutee wwarardsds fforor adultsadults ofof
workingworking agagee andand psychiatricpsychiatric
intintensiveensive ccararee unitsunits
Detailed findings

13 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 47



Practice and although some medicines prescribed
exceeded the recommended British National Formulary
(BNF) doses, these were reviewed daily and risks assessed
and care planned in line with the person’s treatment plans.

Section 17 leave was recorded in a standardised system,
and risk assessments were usually completed before leave
was authorised. On the acute ward at Parklands Hospital
we saw that some expired section 17 leave forms remained

on file, which should have been removed so that people’s
current leave status was clear. On the PICU at Parklands
Hospital all the current Section 17 leave forms were kept in
a separate file for ease of reference for staff.

There were clear notices on the doors of wards advising
people of their position in respect of leaving the ward
depending on whether they were formal or informal
patients.

Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
We found evidence in people’s records of appropriate use
of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA). Nurses and doctors
were able to articulate how the MCA might impact on
informal patients. Some staff were not aware of the recent
legal judgements and there had been no applications for a
deprivation of liberty safeguards (DoLS) on most of these
wards. We looked at the records of several people on
different wards specifically focusing on the MCA. We found
no instances of people who lacked capacity and who met
the criteria for an authorisation for a deprivation of liberty
safeguards application.

Staff had received training in the Mental Capacity Act and
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). Some of the staff
we spoke with gave examples of occasions when “best
interest” decisions and possible capacity issues had been
discussed. Capacity and consent was recorded, but not in a
standardised way or using trust forms, so it was not always
easy to find this information. Although we saw that
capacity was routinely assessed, it did not always include
the detail of why the person was deemed to have capacity
or not, and did not always record the person’s’ views.

Detailed findings

14 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 48



* People are protected from physical, sexual, mental or psychological, financial, neglect, institutional or discriminatory
abuse

Summary of findings
Track record on safety
Staff we spoke with knew how to recognise, report and
record incidents. Performance data showed that
incidents that had occurred on the acute wards and
PICUs were monitored and investigated by managers.
Where learning was identified this was shared with staff
and appropriate improvements were made. Some of the
staff we spoke with told us about the “Hotspots”
newsletter, which included information about learning
from around the Trust. The newsletter was on display in
some ward offices.

Learning from incidents
The Trust shared information about incidents and near
misses that had occurred in other services across the
Trust with staff. Wider learning from incidents reported
by NHS England was also shared.

Staff told us that if there were repeated incidents that
involved the same person, this was reviewed by the
multidisciplinary team. A doctor told us that there was a
“learning from clinical events” meeting every other
month where any incidents were discussed. Incidents
were also discussed in the consultant’s weekly meeting
to ensure appropriate learning took place.

There were standard questions and checklists for staff to
respond to when recording certain types of incidents in
Trust reporting system. This included following falls and
restraints, and helped ensure that key information was
recorded.

Safeguarding
Staff we spoke with were aware of safeguarding
procedures, how to identify possible abuse of
vulnerable people and knew how they should report
such incidents. Staff provided examples of when
safeguarding referrals had been made to the local
authority safeguarding team. People using the service
we spoke with told us they felt safe on all the wards we
visited.

We noted significant ligature risks on all the acute wards
and PICUs we visited. Ligature risk assessments had
been carried out in all wards but the local response to
the identified risks was inconsistent throughout the
Trust’s acute services.

At Melbury Lodge we noted significant ligature risks
particularly in the showers, bathrooms and bedrooms of
people using the service on both wards. The most
recent ligature risk assessment, carried out in June
2014, identified most of the ligature risks and staff were
aware of them. In addition, managers on the wards had
developed a photographic report detailing the ligature
concerns This had been shared with senior managers in
order to emphasise the risks posed to people using the
service. In response to this action had been taken to
make the ward safer. Two bathrooms had been
prioritised for action with a re-fit due to begin at the end
of October 2014. There were additional plans to replace
all the sinks in people’s bedrooms. In the meantime
bathrooms, showers and toilets were kept locked when
not in use and detailed individual risk assessments of
people took place in order to mitigate the risks posed by
the environment.

Similarly on the Antelope House acute wards we saw
ligature risks in the activity room, phone room, and
bathroom. All these rooms were kept locked and were
used with staff present or when risk assessment
indicated they are safe to use. On Hamtun ward, the
PICU at Antelope House, we found that a ligature risk
assessment had been carried out but was not signed or
dated. This was quickly remedied when pointed out to
staff. Staff we spoke with were aware of the necessity of
assessing people’s risk of self-harm before allowing
access to rooms where ligature risks might be present.
Where risks were apparent people used these rooms
with a staff member present.

At Parklands Hospital there were several environmental
risks on the acute ward, which included areas that were
difficult to observe and ligature points. There were
ligatures in the bathrooms and bedrooms, which were a
particular risk as they were where people spent time
unobserved.

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

15 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 49



Records showed that a ligature point assessment had
last been carried out on the acute ward in September
2014, and this had identified the potential ligature
points and risks we had seen on the ward. In response,
some actions had been taken to reduce the level of risk.
This included removing the risk, or putting in bids for
renovation or replacement. However, the ligature risk
assessment forms were not completed consistently, and
it was not possible to tell from them which risks were to
be removed or replaced, and what action was currently
being taken to mitigate this.

There was a similar picture at Elmleigh. A ligature risk
assessment had been carried out on the acute wards
and PICU in January 2014. Some of the high risk ligature
points identified were in areas used by people using the
services, for example, toilet areas and bedrooms. We
noted that for the acute wards actions to be taken by
staff to reduce or mitigate the risks identified were
recorded on the ligature risk assessment action plan.
However, we saw that for some areas of the PICU when
moderate or high risks had been identified there were
no actions recorded in respect of how the risks were
being managed on a day to day basis. Consequently
there was a risk that staff were not consistently taking
action to mitigate the risks identified.

The area risk register for Elmleigh stated that ‘door stops
throughout Elmleigh present a ligature risk’ was rated
amber. The mitigating action was stated to be ‘estates to
action, awaiting virement’. The risk presented by the
door stops had also been identified in the ligature risk
assessment conducted in January 2014. However, we
saw during our inspection in October 2014 that no
action had been taken to remove the doorstops. When
we raised our concerns with managers they told us they
did not know when the work was to take place. Despite
identifying the risk in January 2014 no action to remove
the door stops had been taken in almost ten months
and no follow up action appeared to have been taken
by staff to ensure the work was completed.

We reviewed a record of all incidents reported on
Elmleigh acute wards and PICU in the three months
between July and September 2014. We noted that 11 of
these incidents (six on the acute wards and five on PICU)
were categorised as ‘self harm ligature/asphyxiation’ or
‘self harm ligature point’. The most serious harm

resulting from the incidents was recorded as ‘moderate,
medical treatment/short term harm’, while four were
said to have caused minimal harm to people using the
service. There were clearly risks to people using the
service from ligature points on the acute wards and
PICU. Little action had been taken to address the
outstanding environmental risks that could be
reasonably modified and the management of known
risks was not always clear, which meant that risks to
people remained.

Overall, medicines were safely managed on all the
wards we visited. Medicines were kept in locked
cabinets and where an electronic prescribing system
was used this ensured that when medicines were
administered this was accurately recorded. At Elmleigh,
managers had identified a problem with staff omitting
signatures from medicine administration records which
was being addressed.

Medical devices were checked regularly to ensure they
were fit for purpose. For example, weekly checks were
carried out on the emergency equipment and recorded.

All the wards we visited were clean and tidy. People
using the service we spoke with reported there were
cleaners on the wards every day. Most people told us
that the ward was usually clean. At Parklands Hospital
PICU we saw that there was a sluice sink and a
macerator (for washing disposable cardboard bed pans)
in the laundry room where people using the service
washed their clothing. Staff told us that the macerator
and sink were not used. However, the macerator was
switched on and there was wet grey pulp inside, which
suggested it had recently been used. Having a
macerator and washing machines in use in the same
room meant there was a potential risk of cross infection
or contamination.

Assessing and monitoring safety and risk
Performance indicators from September 2014 showed
that the Elmleigh PICU had a staff vacancy rate of 16%.
Staff absence rates were high and the use of bank and
agency staff was 25% in PICU and 22% on the acute
wards. The trust was recruiting more staff and using
bank and agency staff to maintain staffing levels.

At Elmleigh, staff and people using the service in all
areas told us they had concerns about staffing levels.

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

16 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 50



Staff said that as a result of insufficient numbers of staff
they felt unable to provide the level of care to people
they wanted to. People using the service on both acute
wards and PICU consistently told us there were not
enough staff on duty to meet their needs and described
long waits for medication, cancelled activities and
escorted leave that could not take place. The PICU ward
manager acknowledged there were difficulties
facilitating people’s section 17 leave.

Minutes from a care team meeting in PICU on 6 October
2014 showed that staff had raised concerns about the
number of newly qualified staff on the ward which had
an impact on the administration of medicines to people.
Patients were experiencing delays in receiving
medicines because newly qualified staff were still
completing medicines competencies and there were
insufficient staff able to administer medicines on the
unit in a timely manner. However, staff informed us that
patients were no put at risk by the delays.

The acute wards manager told us that minimum staffing
levels on the acute wards were two staff on each ward,
one qualified and one unqualified, which he described
as “the bare minimum”. This was in addition to the unit
shift coordinator and the band 6 team leaders who were
usually available from 9am to 5pm on week days. Both
wards had 11 beds and were described as being always
full. The manager said he would have preferred to have
three staff on each ward. The manager also told us that
staffing levels had been determined following a
divisional skill mix review in 2013. However, other
managers in the unit were unclear how staffing levels
had been determined and questioned whether there
were sufficient staff to ensure patient safety at all times.
One manager told us that staffing levels had been the
same for the last six years despite an increase in the
acuity of people using the service. Safer staffing
conference calls were held weekly to make sure that
minimum levels of staff were deployed on each shift but
basic staffing numbers were not questioned at these
meetings.

We reviewed reports of all incidents that had occurred
on acute wards and PICU in the three months between
July and September 2014. We noted that there were
nine incidents reported as ‘staffing levels/mix issues’.
Staffing within Elmleigh acute areas was rated red on

the area risk register with the negative impact on patient
safety noted. However, the only mitigating action
identified was ‘weekly conference calls, daily review’.
There was no date recorded on the risk register by which
this would be addressed and no clear actions stated,
aimed at a long-term solution to the concern.

Staff told us there were occasions when only one staff
member or even none on a particular shift on PICU were
trained in how to restrain a person safely (training
known as proactively reducing incidents for safer
services or PRISS). PICU staff usually needed to rely on
staff who were PRISS trained coming from the acute
wards to assist in an emergency.

The PICU manager told us there were always a
minimum of four PRISS trained staff on each shift across
the two acute wards, the PICU and health based place of
safety. The manager told us that the unit daily morning
meeting reviewed staffing levels and the training status
of staff for upcoming shifts and sought additional staff if
required. When we reviewed records of the daily
morning meeting we saw that this did not always
happen. The manager also told us there was no
information available to the service about the training
completed by ‘bank’ or ‘agency’ staff, which made it
difficult to ensure there were enough PRISS trained staff
available on each shift. There was therefore a risk that
there were insufficient suitably trained staff available in
the event of a person requiring restraint or in
circumstances where two people needed restraining at
the same time. The provider had not taken appropriate
steps to ensure there were sufficient suitably trained
staff available in order to safeguard people’s health,
safety and welfare.

In addition, when we reviewed the minutes of the three
morning planning meetings, we saw that none of these
identified whether there were sufficient staff trained in
basic life support or intermediate life support (BLS or
ILS) to meet people’s needs in an emergency. A manager
told us that this was not considered when the staff
rosters were set. Records provided to us on the day of
our inspection showed that only just over half of staff on
PICU were up to date with basic life support or
intermediate life support training. Eight staff were

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

17 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 51



overdue the training. Consequently there was a risk that
people would be at risk of harm in the event of a
collapse or cardiac arrest if adequately trained staff
were not available.

At Melbury Lodge there were sufficient staff on the
wards to ensure that people were cared for safely.
However, staff raised concerns about the high usage of
bank and agency staff on the wards to cover staff
shortages. There were similar reports from staff at
Antelope House and recruitment drives were underway
aimed at addressing the shortfall in permanent staff on
several of the wards and PICUs we visited. General
staffing levels were increased in accordance with
changes in people’s needs, for example, when someone
required one to one observation.

At Parklands Hospital all the staff we spoke with on the
acute ward told us that there were usually enough
nursing and care staff on the ward. We were told that the
skill mix had been reviewed last year, which had created
additional posts. Staff told us that they rarely used
agency staff and gaps in the staff rota were usually filled
by staff from the ward. The PICU at Parklands Hospital
provided a member of staff for the health based place of
safety when required. To cover this the ward had an
additional full time post during the day to partially
compensate for this. This was in contrast with the PICU
at Elmleigh where the health based place of safety was
expected to be covered from existing staff numbers. This
put further strain on an area where there were often
insufficient suitably trained staff.

Staff on different wards told us that activities organised
for people were sometimes cancelled because of staff
shortage, but generally activities took place as planned.
This was confirmed by people using the service we
spoke with. The majority of people using the service we
interviewed at Antelope House raised issues in respect
of agency nurses, stating it felt difficult when staff they
did not know came onto the ward.

There was adequate medical cover on most of the
wards, which included consultant psychiatrists. At
Elmleigh there was one junior doctor on-call at night for
the acute wards and PICU. The doctor was required to
cover two inpatient units at night and was therefore not
always present on Elmleigh. We were told by staff that
there could be delays in the doctor coming to the ward

when requested if they were busy elsewhere in the
county. There was a consultant psychiatrist on call out
of hours who could be contacted for telephone advice
and could attend the ward if required.

There were systems in place to assess and monitor
people’s physical health and identify changes or
deterioration in health. The ‘track and trigger’ system
alerted staff to the need to escalate concerns to medical
staff for review. We saw that records of physical health
assessments and monitoring were usually up to date.

We found little evidence of proactive work to offer
smoking cessation help and advice to people on the
wards we visited but if people wished to have nicotine
replacement therapy this was provided. Staff told us
they did not generally receive specific training in this
area.

We reviewed the care records of several people on each
ward we visited. These showed that although there were
inconsistencies between wards, individual risk
assessments were generally in place for most people
and had been carried out on admission. Where risks had
been identified plans had mostly been put in place to
address these. Risk was a standing item for discussion at
multi-disciplinary team meetings and at the handover
from one shift to another. We observed risks to people
being discussed in the lunchtime staff team handovers
we attended.

At Melbury Lodge individual risk assessments were
comprehensive and updated regularly. Where risks had
been identified there were plans outlining actions for
staff to take to mitigate the risks. However, at Antelope
House we found there was insufficient recording of risk
assessment prior to agreeing section 17 leave for people
detained under the Mental Health Act 1983. There was a
risk that appropriate mitigation of risks was not in place
as they had not been safely assessed. In contrast
records at Melbury Lodge showed a robust system for
granting leave with clear parameters and review dates
set. There was clear evidence of risk assessment and
records of people’s appearance recorded in the event
they should become absent without leave (AWOL) and
not return from their permitted leave.

At Parklands Hospital individual health care records
showed that a risk assessment was completed for all

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

18 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 52



people when they were admitted, and from this an
initial care plan was developed. However, the level of
detail varied as did the reflection of the identified risks
in the care plans developed.

At Parklands Hospital staff told us that prone or ‘face
down’ restraint was only used if necessary to administer
medication, and the person would be turned face up as
soon as possible. All restraints were recorded on the
Trust’s incident reporting system, and monitored by
senior staff.

On Hamtun ward at Antelope House we noted that there
had been 59 episodes of restraint, eight of which were in
the ‘face down’ position over a ten month period
between December 2013 and September 2014. This is
indicates practice may be contrary to Department of
Health guidelines’ Positive and Proactive Care: reducing
the need for restrictive interventions. These guidelines
state that: ‘Staff must not deliberately restrain people in
a way that impacts on their airway, breathing or
circulation, such as face down restraint on any surface,
not just on the floor’. (April 2014.)

Potential risks
At Elmleigh we found that there was one emergency
‘grab’ bag/automated external defibrillator (AED)
available to the acute wards and the PICU and this was
stored in the treatment room on the PICU, at the far end
of the ward. This meant that if a person collapsed or
suffered a cardiac arrest on one of the acute wards staff
would need to carry the ‘grab bag’ and AED through
three sets of locked doors from the PICU to the ward to
reach the affected person. There was a risk that this
would cause a delay in a person receiving life saving
treatment. Senior staff told us there had been
discussions for several years about placing emergency
equipment in a suitable place between the acute wards
and PICU so that it could be accessed promptly by all
staff in an emergency but this had not happened.

A person on Elmleigh had a care plan in place to
address a serious allergy. The care plan stated that the
person was at risk of anaphylaxis as a result of the
allergy and that adrenaline was to be used to treat the
person in an emergency. The patient's care plan did not
indicate where the adrenaline auto-injector for the use
in an emergency was kept. We asked a member of staff
where the adrenaline was kept should the person

require treatment for anaphylaxis. They told us it was in
the emergency ‘grab’ bag which was located on the
PICU. The treatment room on the PICU was located at
the far end of the ward and there were three locked
doors for staff to negotiate when bringing the
emergency kit to the acute ward. We found the person
was being put at unnecessary risk because the
adrenaline was being stored in another ward and would
not be promptly accessible in an emergency.

An incident occurred on the Elmleigh PICU on the day of
our visit and emergency assistance was requested from
staff the acute wards. There were identified responders
from both acute wards but we observed on the female
ward that all staff responded and went to the PICU. This
left the female ward without any staff members we were
able to locate, for a period of several minutes. There was
a risk that the absence of staff meant people would not
receive the care or levels of observation they needed.

Records confirmed that resuscitation equipment for use
in an emergency was checked regularly by staff to
ensure it was fit for purpose. Ligature cutters were kept
in the staff office and staff knew where they were stored.
This meant staff would be able to respond promptly in
an emergency.

Our findings
Elmleigh

Track record on safety
Staff knew how to recognise, report and record incidents.
Performance data showed that incidents that had occurred
on the acute wards and PICU were monitored and
investigated by managers and addressed. For example,
following a number of signature omissions from medicine
administration records all prescription charts were being
checked weekly. Three errors of this nature by the same
nurse meant they needed to repeat their medicine
competency checks to ensure they were safe to administer
medicines.

Learning from incidents
The Trust shared information about incidents and near
misses that had occurred in other services. We saw a notice
displayed on the staff office wall which identified mental

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

19 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 53



health learning ‘hot spots’. This helped ensure learning
from incidents was shared amongst the staff team. Wider
learning from incidents reported by NHS England was also
shared.

Safeguarding
Staff received training in safeguarding vulnerable adults
and children during induction. Staff we spoke with were
aware of how to identify the possible abuse of vulnerable
people and knew how they should report such incidents.
Medical staff told us that safeguarding was a set agenda
item and discussed at every multi-disciplinary team
meeting. A dedicated safeguarding meeting took place on
the unit every week, at which all risk events were reviewed
to determine whether they involved safeguarding concerns.

A ligature risk assessment had been carried out on the
acute wards and PICU in January 2014. The assessment
identified areas in the environment with the highest risks in
terms of ligature points. Some of the high risks identified
were in areas used by people using the services, for
example, toilet areas and bedrooms. We noted that for the
acute wards actions to be taken by staff to reduce or
mitigate the risks identified were recorded on the ligature
risk assessment action plan. However, we saw that for
areas of the PICU where moderate or high risks had been
identified there were no actions recorded in respect of how
the risks were being managed on a day to day basis.
Consequently there was a risk that staff were not
consistently taking action to mitigate the risks identified.

In addition we identified mental brackets on the wardrobes
in patient bedrooms on the PICU where wardrobe doors
had been removed. This were ligature risks but had not
been recognised as such by staff. We fed this back to the
PICU manager.

We reviewed the risk register for Elmleigh which was
provided to us by a senior member of staff. This showed
that ‘door stops throughout Elmleigh present a ligature risk’
was rated amber on the area risk register. The mitigating
action was stated to be ‘estates to action, awaiting
virement’. The risk presented by the door stops had also
been identified in the ligature risk assessment conducted
in January 2014. However, we saw during our inspection in
October 2014 that no action had been to remove the
doorstops. Managers told us they did not know when the
work was to take place. On the day of our unannounced
inspection, 17 October 2014, ward staff called senior
managers in the Trust to raise concerns about the

doorstops. We were told that they would be removed the
next week. Despite identifying the risk in January 2014 no
action to remove the doorstops had been taken in almost
ten months and no follow up action appeared to have been
taken by staff to ensure the work was done.

We reviewed a record of all incidents reported on Elmleigh
acute wards and PICU in the three months between July
and September 2014. We noted that 11 of these incidents
(six on the acute wards and five on PICU) were categorised
as ‘self harm ligature/asphyxiation’ or ‘self harm ligature
point’. The most serious harm resulting from the incidents
was recorded as ‘moderate, medical treatment/short term
harm’, while four were said to have caused minimal harm
to people using the service. There were clearly risks to
people using the service from both identified and non-
identified ligature points on the acute wards and PICU.
Little action had been taken to address and manage the
known risks which meant that risks to people remained.

We reviewed all medicine administration records on the
acute wards. We found that although most were completed
appropriately a few signatures were missing from the
charts without explanation as to why. It was therefore not
clear whether the particular medicines had been
administered. The ward manager acknowledged this was a
recurrent problem that was being actively addressed. We
noted that medicines were stored securely on the wards.
Fridges used to store medicines were monitored daily to
ensure temperatures were within acceptable limits and
medicines therefore remained effective. Medical staff told
us that careful attention was paid to high dose prescribing
when this occurred.

Medical devices were checked regularly to ensure they
were fit for purpose. For example, weekly checks were
carried out on the emergency equipment and recorded.

There were suitable infection prevention and control
measures in place. People using the service told us the
Elmleigh wards were generally kept clean and tidy.

Assessing and monitoring safety and risk
We reviewed performance data for the acute in-patient
wards and PICU at Elmleigh. Performance indicators in
September 2014 showed that the PICU had a staff vacancy
rate of 16%. Staff absence rates were high and the use of
bank and agency staff was 25% in PICU and 22% on the
acute wards. \the trust was recruiting more staff and using
bank and agency staff to maintain set staffing levels.

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

20 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 54



Staff in all areas told us they had concerns about staffing
levels. They said that as a result of insufficient numbers of
staff they felt unable to provide the level of care to people
they wanted to. On the PICU staff told us there were many
occasions when there was only one qualified nurse on duty
on the ward. When this happened the PICU was described
as “very unsafe.” People using the service on both acute
wards and PICU consistently told us there were not enough
staff on duty to meet their needs and described long waits
for medication, cancelled activities and escorted leave that
could not take place.

People using the service reported not getting escorted
leave as granted under section 17 of the Mental Health Act
1983. The PICU ward manager acknowledged there were
difficulties facilitating section 17 leave. A person using the
service on the PICU told us they were supposed to have
two periods of leave per day for 30 minutes each time.
However, there were rarely enough staff available to escort
them and they left the ward for half an hour once every few
days. Another person using the PICU described staff as
“rushed off their feet.” A person using service on the acute
wards similarly told us they managed to get agreed leave
every other day, rather than every day. The manager of the
acute wards told us they thought that most section 17
leave was honoured but there was no central record kept of
how often leave had been cancelled.

Staff in PICU also told us people using the service were
sometimes unable to use the garden because of staff
shortages as there was no one available to supervise them.

On the male acute ward we saw that one to one time with
staff was advertised as on offer to people between 3.30 and
4.30pm every day. However, people using the service on
the ward told us they were either unaware of this or that it
did not happen in daily practice as staff were too busy.

Minutes from a care team meeting on the PICU on 6
October 2014 showed that staff had raised concerns about
the number of newly qualified staff on the ward which had
an impact on the administration of medicines to people.
People were experiencing delays in receiving medicines
because newly qualified staff were still completing
medicines competencies and there were insufficient staff
able to administer medicines on the unit in a timely
manner although staff informed us that patients were not
put at risk by delays.

There was one junior doctor on-call at night for the acute
wards and PICU. The doctor was required to cover two
inpatient units at night and was therefore not always
present at Elmleigh. We were told by staff that there could
be delays in the doctor coming to the ward when requested
if they were busy elsewhere in the county. There was a
consultant psychiatrist on call out of hours who could be
contacted for telephone advice and could attend the ward
if required.

The acute wards manager told us that minimum staffing
levels on the acute wards were two staff on each ward, one
qualified and one unqualified, which he described as “the
bare minimum”. This was in addition to the Unit Shift
Coordinator and the Band 6 Team Leader who were usually
available from 9am-5pm on week days. Both wards had 11
beds and were described as being always full. The manager
said he would have preferred to have three staff on each
ward.

The manager went on to explain that staffing levels had
been determined following a divisional skill mix review in
2013. However, other managers in the unit were unclear
how staffing levels had been determined and questioned
whether there were sufficient staff to ensure patient safety
at all times. One manager told us that staffing levels had
been the same for the last six years despite an increase in
the acuity of people using the service. Safer staffing
conference calls were held weekly to make sure that
minimum levels of staff were deployed on each shift but
basic staffing numbers were not questioned at these
meetings.

We reviewed reports of all incidents that had occurred on
the Elmleigh acute wards and PICU in the three months
between July and September 2014. We noted that there
were nine incidents reported as ‘staffing levels/mix issues’.
Staffing within Elmleigh acute areas was rated red on the
area risk register with the negative impact on patient safety
noted. However, the only mitigating action identified was
‘weekly conference calls, daily review’. There was no date
recorded on the risk register by which this concern would
be addressed and no clear actions stated, aimed at a long-
term solution to the concern.

Staff told us there were occasions when only one staff
member or even none on a particular shift on PICU were
trained in how to restrain a person safely (training known
as proactively reducing incidents for safer services or

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

21 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 55



PRISS). PICU staff usually needed to rely on staff who were
PRISS trained coming from the acute wards to assist in an
emergency. Training records showed that eleven PICU staff
had not had initial training or refresher training in PRISS.

We asked managers how they ensured that there were
sufficient numbers of PRISS trained staff on duty during
each shift. The PICU manager told us there were always a
minimum of four PRISS trained staff on each shift across
the two acute wards, the PICU and health based place of
safety. The manager told us that the unit daily morning
meeting reviewed staffing levels and the training status of
staff for upcoming shifts and sought additional staff if
required. At our unannounced visit to Elmleigh on 17
October 2014 we were provided with minutes of three
recent morning meetings, two of these identified there was
a ‘full physical restraint team available’. In the record of the
meeting on 15 October 2014 this was not recorded. The
manager told us there was no information available to the
service about the training completed by ‘bank’ or ‘agency’
staff, which made it difficult to ensure there were enough
PRISS trained staff available. There was therefore a risk that
there were insufficient suitably trained staff available in the
event of a person requiring restraint or in circumstances
where two people needed restraining at the same time.
The provider had not taken appropriate steps to ensure
there were sufficient suitably trained staff available in order
to safeguard people’s health, safety and welfare.

In addition, when we reviewed the minutes of the three
morning planning meetings, we saw that none of these
identified whether there were sufficient staff trained in
basic life support or intermediate life support (BLS or ILS) to
meet people’s needs in an emergency. A manager told us
that this was not considered when the staff rosters were
set. We saw from training figures that there were a
significant number of acute ward and PICU staff who were
not BLS or ILS trained. Records provided to us on the day of
our inspection showed that only just over half of staff on
the PICU were up to date with BLS or ILS training. Ten staff
were overdue the training. On 17 October 2014 the PICU
manager told us that two of the four staff on duty on the
PICU that day were PRISS trained but they did not know
whether any of the four staff were up to date with BLS or ILS
training. There was a risk that people would be at
additional risk in the event of a collapse or cardiac arrest if
adequately trained staff were not available.

We reviewed the care records of several people on the
wards. These showed that individual risk assessments had
been carried. Where risks had been identified plans had
been put in place to address these. Risk was a standing
item for discussion at the handover from one shift to
another and we observed risks to people were discussed in
the lunchtime staff team handover.

People underwent a physical examination and assessment
on admission to the wards. Physical health was monitored
using a ‘track and trigger’ system, which highlighted to staff
when abnormal clinical observations needed to be
escalated to a doctor. When physical health problems were
identified we saw that people had care plans in place that
addressed these. Fluid balance charts were completed for
people for whom it was appropriate. People confirmed
their physical health was checked regularly. All people
using the service had an electrocardiogram (ECG) on
admission.

The acute ward manager told us there was little proactive
work to offer smoking cessation help and advice to people
but if people wished to have nicotine replacement therapy
this was provided. They also said that staff did not receive
specific training in this area.

Potential risks
The modern matron provided us with a copy of a general
workplace risk assessment, dated February 2014, which
identified risks in the ward environment. This report stated
that staff were aware of what to do in the event of a
medical emergency. The emergency equipment was stated
to be stored in a secure but readily accessible place.

However, we found that there was one emergency ‘grab’
bag and one automated external defibrillator (AED)
available to the acute wards and the PICU and this was
stored in the treatment room on the PICU, at the far end of
the ward. This meant that if a person collapsed or suffered
a cardiac arrest on one of the acute wards staff would need
to carry the ‘grab bag’ and AED through three sets of locked
doors from the PICU to the ward to reach the affected
person. There was a risk that this would cause a delay in a
person receiving life saving treatment. Senior staff told us
there had been discussions for several years about placing
emergency equipment in a suitable place between the
acute wards and PICU so that it would be quicker to access
in an emergency by all staff but this had not happened.

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

22 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 56



A person on the acute ward had a care plan in place to
address a serious allergy. The care plan stated that the
person was at risk of anaphylaxis in response to a serious
allergy and that adrenaline was to be used to treat the
person in an emergency. We asked a member of staff where
the adrenaline was kept should the person require
treatment for anaphylaxis. They told us it was in the
emergency ‘grab’ bag which was located on the PICU. The
treatment room on the PICU was located at the far end of
the ward and there were three locked doors for staff to
negotiate when bringing the emergency kit to the acute
ward. We found the person was being put at unnecessary
risk because the adrenaline was being stored in another
ward and would not be promptly accessible in an
emergency.

An incident occurred on the PICU on the day of our visit
and emergency assistance was requested from the acute
wards. There were identified responders from both acute
wards but we observed on the female ward that all staff
responded and went to the PICU. This left the female ward
without any staff members we were able to locate, for a
period of several minutes. There was a risk that the
absence of staff meant people would not receive the care
they needed.

Melbury Lodge
Track record on safety

The unit had a good safety record. Staff knew what kind of
incidents they needed to report and how this was to be
done.

Learning from incidents
Serious incidents were investigated and learning from
incidents was fed back to staff directly or via a monthly
trust bulletin. Staff confirmed that incidents and
complaints were discussed in team meetings and
individually in one to one meetings with line managers.

Safeguarding
Staff we spoke with were aware of safeguarding
procedures. They knew how to recognise possible abuse
and to report it appropriately. Staff provided examples of
when safeguarding referrals had been made to the local
authority safeguarding team. People using the service we
spoke with told us they felt safe on the unit.

Medicines were safely managed. They were kept in locked
cabinets and an electronic prescribing system ensured that
when medicines were administered this was accurately
recorded.

We noted significant ligature risks on the wards particularly
in the showers, bathrooms and bedrooms of people using
the service. Staff were aware of the risks and the most
recent ligature risk assessment, carried out in June 2014,
identified several ligature risks on the male and female
wards. In addition, managers on the wards had developed
a photographic report detailing the ligature concerns This
had been shared with senior managers in order to
emphasise the risks posed to people using the service. In
response to this, action had been taken to make the ward
safer. Two bathrooms had been prioritised for action with a
re-fit due to begin at the end of October 2014. There were
additional plans to replace all the sinks in people’s
bedrooms. In the meantime bathrooms, showers and
toilets were kept locked when not in use and detailed
individual risk assessments of people took place in order to
mitigate the risks posed by the environment.

Assessing and monitoring safety and risk
There were sufficient staff on the wards to ensure that
people were cared for safely. A minimum of five staff, two of
whom were qualified nurses, provided cover across both
wards on each shift. However, staff raised concerns about
the high usage of bank and agency staff on the wards to
cover staff shortages. There was an active recruitment
campaign in progress aimed at addressing the shortfall in
permanent staff. Staffing levels were increased in
accordance with changes in people’s needs, for example,
when someone required one to one observation. Staff told
us that activities organised for people were sometimes
cancelled because of staff shortages, but generally
activities took place as planned. This was confirmed by
people using the service we spoke with.

We checked the care records of a sample of people using
the service. We noted there were individual risk
assessments in place. They were comprehensive and
updated regularly. Where risks had been identified there
were plans outlining actions for staff to take to mitigate the
risks.

People using the service reported significant amounts of
unescorted leave and the records showed a robust system
for granting leave with clear parameters and review dates

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

23 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 57



set. There was clear evidence of risk assessment and
records of people’s appearance recorded in the event they
should become absent without leave (AWOL) and not
return from their permitted leave.

There were systems in place to assess and monitor
people’s physical health and identify changes or
deterioration in health. The ‘track and trigger’ system
alerted staff to the need to escalate concerns to medical
staff for review. We saw that records of physical health
assessments and monitoring were up to date.

Staff had been trained and knew how to restrain people
safely. They were familiar with the latest guidance on safe
positioning during restraint. There was no seclusion room
available on the ward and staff used de-escalation
techniques and physical restraint where necessary to
maintain people’s safety.

Potential risks
Records confirmed that resuscitation equipment for use in
an emergency was checked regularly by staff to ensure it
continued to be fit for purpose. Ligature cutters were kept
in the staff office and staff we spoke with knew where they
were stored. This meant staff would be able to respond
promptly in an emergency.

Antelope House
Saxon and Trinity

On both Saxon and Trinity wards at Antelope House there
was good evidence of safe practice. This was demonstrated
through a review of case notes, speaking with staff, patients
and their carers. We carried out a tour of the ward to
review any environmental risks.

Learning from incidents and Improving safety
standards.

All staff stated that they were aware of how to report an
incident and that learning from incidents was shared in the
weekly multi-disciplinary meeting.

Safeguarding.
All staff were aware of the safeguarding process, the named
safeguarding lead and when and how to raise an alert.
People using the service reported feeling safe on the ward
and felt they were treated with dignity and respect.

A ligature risk assessment had been carried out and staff
were aware of the policy. There were ligature risks in the
activity room, phone room, and bathroom. All these rooms
were kept locked and were used with staff present or when
risk assessment indicated they were safe to use.

The ward was clean and hygienic and all bedrooms had an
en-suite shower and toilet facility.

In medicines management there were areas of good
practice such as electronic records which gave the exact
numbers of tablets by drug supplied for short term leave.
Staff also considered the impact of non-prescribed
medicines (butane gas and alcohol) when prescribing.
There were good relationships with the pharmacists and
ward staff valued the contribution of the pharmacists and
technician.

Staff clearly asked patients how they felt and asked them to
score their pain or anxiety where relevant to them.

Assessing and monitoring safety and risk.
We found that all individual risk assessments were
completed and up to date. People had been given full
physical health screening and received on-going
assessment of their physical health needs. However, we
found through scrutiny of care records that there was
insufficient recording of risk assessment prior to agreeing
S17 leave. This could impact on how information was
communicated and how staff might assess the risks should
there be difficulties with leave arrangements or if a patient
did not return to the ward as agreed.

Staffing levels were safe but all staff talked about staffing
challenges. Although staffing levels were described as
adequate, there continued to be high usage of agency
nurses. A recruitment campaign was underway and staff
had been successfully employed. We met new starters and
were informed of new nurses joining the teams in coming
weeks. Every single member of staff we spoke with
highlighted that recruitment was their biggest challenge.
The majority of people using the service we interviewed
also raised issues around agency nurses, stating it felt
difficult when staff they did not know came onto the ward.

Potential risks.
The trust staff survey reported that the trust was leaning
towards worse than average ratings for staff working extra
hours and feeling unsatisfied with their quality of work.

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

24 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 58



Hamtun (PICU)
Learning from incidents and Improving safety
standards.

All staff stated that they were aware of how to report an
incident and that learning from incidents was shared in the
weekly multi-disciplinary meeting.

Safeguarding.
We interviewed five people using the service on Hamtun
ward and most reported feeling safe on the ward. Staff
were aware of who the lead for safeguarding was and how
to raise an alert. Eighty nine per cent of staff had
undertaken mandatory training in safeguarding.

Records showed that there had been 59 episodes of
restraint on the PICU, eight of which were in the ‘face down’
position over a ten month period between December 2013
and September 2014. This is could indicate that practice is
contrary to Department of Health guidelines ‘Positive and
Proactive Care: reducing the need for restrictive
interventions.’ These guidelines state that: ‘Staff must not
deliberately restrain people in a way that impacts on their
airway, breathing or circulation, such as face down restraint
on any surface, not just on the floor’ (April 2014.)

The pharmacist inspector found an error in the recording of
Type II diabetic prescribed insulin. The person’s care plan
clearly described the action to be taken if BM >20, the staff
were also aware of the actions to take if the BMs were <4.
However this had been deleted from the electronic record.
The multi-disciplinary team meeting records clearly
documented that the clinicians were concerned by the low
BM results. We raised this with staff on the day of our
inspection to ensure it was addressed.

We found that a ligature risk assessment had been carried
out on the PICU but was not signed or dated. This was
rectified on our return for the unannounced inspection on
22 October 2014. Staff we spoke with were aware of the
ligature risk policy and the necessity of assessing risk of
self-harm before allowing access to rooms where ligature
risks might be present, such as the bathroom. These rooms
were kept locked at all times and individuals were risk
assessed prior to being allowed access these rooms. Where
risks were apparent people used these rooms with a staff
member present.

Potential risks.
We had some concerns about Hamtun ward in a number of
areas and we undertook a further unannounced inspection

on 22 October 2014. At our first inspection we found that
one of the ensuite rooms at the end of the male corridor
was allocated to a female patient. Whilst she had been
placed on close observations, this presented risks. The
Trust addressed this concern immediately and raised a
safeguarding alert. On the unannounced visit we found
that the Trust had changed the policy to ensure that this
would not happen again. Staff we spoke with were all
aware of this new directive.

Parklands Hospital
Track record on safety

The trust used an electronic incident reporting and
management system. The staff we spoke with knew how to
report incidents. The incidents were reviewed by the ward
manager, and then sent to the central risk management
team, who provided feedback to the ward if there were any
gaps or concerns. Staff told us that incidents were
discussed in the handover and the multidisciplinary
meetings. The manager told us that a quarterly incident
report from the Trust’s risk manager was emailed to the
ward and shared with staff. Some staff we spoke with told
us about the “hotspots” newsletter, which included
information about learning from around the Trust.

Learning from incidents
Staff told us that they discussed incidents during
handovers and staff meetings. This included both
individual and broader issues. Staff told us that if there
were repeated incidents that involved a specific person
using the service, then this would be reviewed in the
multidisciplinary team meeting. A doctor told us that there
was a “learning from clinical events” meeting that took
place every other month where they discussed incidents,
and that incidents were also discussed in the consultants’
meeting each week. We saw an example of this from
September 2014 that related to medication. For broader
learning, one member of staff described an example where
they had been given information about an incident that
had occurred in another hospital.

We saw an example of a “Sharing Good Practice and
Learning” template from Oct-Dec 2013, which discussed
three themes that had been identified from incidents and
complaints during that period and the action that was to
be taken. We saw that the outcome of this had been
discussed in a staff meeting in July 2014. There were

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

25 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 59



standard questions and checklists to respond to when
recording certain types of incidents. This included following
falls and restraints, and helped ensure that key information
was recorded.

Safeguarding
There were several environmental risks on the acute ward
which included areas that were difficult to observe,
ligatures, and fire extinguishers in the corridors. There were
ligatures in the bathrooms and bedrooms, which were a
particular risk as people spent time unobserved in these
areas.

We saw that there was a process for assessing and
responding to environmental risks. Records showed that a
ligature point assessment had last been carried out on the
acute ward in September 2014, and this had identified the
potential ligature points and risks we had seen on the
ward. The risks were rated as high, medium or low. We saw
that, in response, some actions had been taken to reduce
the level of risk. This included taking action to remove the
risk, or putting in bids for renovation or replacement.
However, the ligature risk forms were not completed
consistently, and it was not possible to tell from them
which risks were to be removed or replaced, and what
action was currently being taken to mitigate this.

A ligature risk assessment had been completed for the
psychiatric intensive care unit (PICU). We saw that the PICU
had reduced environmental risks, and unsupervised areas
did not have ligature points. There were no blind spots, and
CCTV was used to monitor the garden and entry.

All people on the ward were checked at least once an hour.
There was no one on one-to-one observations on the
wards at the time of our inspection. We saw that people’s
levels of observation were recorded in their care records,
and discussed in the daily handover meeting.

Records showed that there was a system for reporting and
recording maintenance concerns. Staff told us that routine
maintenance requests were usually dealt with quickly.
During our inspection we observed a broken fire door
magnet, which resulted in the door being propped open
which the manager reported. The rest of the ward
appeared adequately maintained.

People using the service we spoke with told us they felt
safe on the ward. However, they said that they did not have

keys to their rooms and some people were concerned
about the security of their belongings. People told us that
they were able to ask staff to lock their room doors, but
they found it frustrating to have to do so.

The wards looked clean and tidy. The people we spoke with
said that there were cleaners on the wards every day. Most
people said the ward was usually clean, except for the
bathrooms and toilets which could left dirty by other
people using the service. On the PICU we saw that there
was a sluice sink and a macerator (for washing disposable
cardboard bed pans) in the laundry room, where people
using the service washed their clothing. The housekeeping
staff showed us that they had their own cleaning and
disposal room, and told us they did not use the sink in the
laundry room. Staff told us that the macerator and sink
were not used. However, the macerator was switched on
and there was wet grey pulp inside, which suggested it had
recently been used. Having a macerator and washing
machines in the same room is a potential infection control
problem, because of the risk of cross contamination.

The safeguarding process was on display in the staff offices.
The staff we spoke with were aware of the safeguarding
process, and knew how to make a referral if necessary.
Records showed that all staff had received safeguarding
training.

During our last inspection of Parklands Hospital we
inspected the wards for older people and found that there
were inadequate systems in place for the management of
medication. During this inspection we found that the
service had satisfactory systems in place for managing
medication. We identified some areas where errors had
been made and informed the staff of this. This included
two medications that were out of date, one medication had
been signed against the wrong medication route, and oral
liquids did not have opening dates so may have expired.

Assessing and monitoring safety and risk
All the staff we spoke with on the acute ward told us that
there were usually enough nursing and care staff on the
ward. We were told that the skill mix had been reviewed
last year, which had created additional posts. Staff told us
that they rarely used agency staff. They told us that any
gaps were usually filled by staff from the ward, or from the
Trust’s bank of staff. There was adequate medical cover on
the ward, which included consultant psychiatrists.

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

26 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 60



One person using the service on the acute ward told us that
it was normally difficult to find staff as they spent a lot of
time in the office. Another person said that if you went to
the office it could sometimes take a long time for anyone to
respond. However, other people we spoke with said that
they always had access to staff when they needed them.

The staff we spoke with on the PICU told us that they were
usually enough nursing and care staff, and they could
adapt their staffing levels to meet the needs of the ward.
Any additional shifts were usually worked by the ward’s
own or the Trust’s bank staff. The PICU provided a member
of staff for the Section 136 suite when required. To cover
this the ward had an additional full time post during the
day to partially compensate for this.

Staff we spoke with told us and individual health care
records showed that a risk assessment was completed for
all people when they were admitted, and from this an
initial care plan was developed. However, the level of detail
varied as did the reflection of the identified risks in the care
plans. We saw that in the handover meetings each person’s
care was discussed, and this included changes to their
mental health and management of risk.

The staff we spoke with told us that if a person was agitated
they used verbal de-escalation to calm them, and only

used physical restraint as a last resort. They told us they
had received training in physical restraint, and this was
confirmed by the training records. Rapid tranquillisation
and seclusion were used if necessary, but their use was
infrequent. Training records showed that most qualified
staff had completed training in rapid tranquillisation. Staff
told us that prone or ‘face down’ restraint was only used if
necessary to administer medication, and the person would
be turned face up as soon as possible. All restraints were
recorded on the Trust’s incident reporting system, and
monitored by senior staff.

Potential risks
There was emergency equipment in place on both wards.
During our last inspection of Parklands Hospital we
inspected the wards for older people and found that the
resuscitation equipment was not adequately maintained.
During this inspection we found that the equipment was
maintained, adequately stocked and routinely checked.

There were restrictions on taking potentially harmful items
into the PICU, such as razor blades and cigarette lighters.
Details of restricted items were listed at the entrance to the
ward and in the information pack. When people arrived on
the ward they were searched in the seclusion suite, before
coming onto the ward.

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse* and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

27 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 61



Summary of findings
Assessment and delivery of care and treatment
Most people on all wards, whose records we reviewed,
had care plans in place that addressed their assessed
needs and any individual risks identified. There were
care plans in place addressing people’s physical as well
as mental health needs.

On Hawthorn 2 at Parklands Hospital records of people
using the service showed that people had their mental
and physical healthcare needs assessed, and care plans
developed from these. However, the daily entries of care
were variable in quality. Some referred to the care plans
and contained detailed information about interactions
with the person while other entries were minimal, and
contained limited information. They either did not refer
to the care plan or referred to the wrong one.

The prescribing of medicines complied with NICE
(National Institute for Health and Care Excellence)
guidelines. Staff were informed of changes in policies
and procedures and relevant NICE guidance in order to
support their practice and delivery of effective care and
treatment.

Staff on some wards were aware of research and
developments in acute mental health care and we
noted the implementation of new approaches based on
evidence and best practice. For example, The
‘safewards’ initiative was being implemented on the
wards and considerable progress had been made with
this in some areas. ‘Safewards’ had introduced a variety
of methods designed to reduce rates of conflict and
containment in adult in-patient mental health settings.

At Melbury Lodge the service had also developed a
spiritual assessment as part of a holistic approach to
determining people’s needs. This was based on
evidence that people recover faster and recovery is
more likely to be sustained when health professionals
work with people to explore their spirituality.

In addition the wards at Melbury Lodge used a ‘recovery
focussed narrative approach.’ This had been developed
in response to feedback from people using the service
and aimed to achieve greater collaboration between
people and health professionals when planning and
reviewing care. The approach encouraged recovery

focussed conversations between staff and people using
the service that began very soon after admission and
facilitated person-centred care. The narrative focussed
on the development of individual goals based on
people’s strengths and resources, helpful and unhelpful
approaches, a safety plan, things to focus on now and
people the person would like involved in their care. The
approach improved pathways of care for people and
involved only professionals actively involved in people’s
care and treatment. This meant people did not attend
large traditional ward rounds that may have included
professionals not involved in their care and which
people using the service could find daunting.

The psychology department led a therapy programme
for the acute wards, but people on the PICUs and
receiving the support at home service were also able to
access it. The programme was part of the intensive
support programme (ISP) which was a trust-wide
initiative that focused on promoting a recovery based
culture. It included the use of mindfulness, and a type of
cognitive behaviour therapy (CBT). Staff told us that
most people using the service saw a psychologist for an
initial assessment, and to determine what would be
useful for them. They would then be given a programme
which included, for example, mindfulness sessions,
emotional coping and being a compassionate friend. It
was particularly helpful that people could continue to
attend and complete a course after they had been
discharged from the wards to the intensive support
team in the community.

There were other ward-based activities provided for
people on all the wards. Occupational therapists (OTs)
had recently started at Elmleigh and were providing
group and individual activities for people. Staff told us
that current affairs groups, walking groups, arts and
crafts and baking activities were usually provided,
although these were sometimes cancelled because of a
lack of staff to facilitate them. At Parklands Hospital
there was currently no OT on the acute ward, but the
post was being recruited to. There was an activity
programme seven days a week, but staff told us this
varied and depended on the availability of staff. We saw
an example of the programme which included a mix of
creative groups, such as crafts and music, and therapy
groups such as mindfulness and managing anxiety.

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires Improvement –––

28 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 62



At Melbury Lodge both individual and group activities
were offered to people. There was a varied activity
programme in place five days a week. There were gym
facilities available and some staff had received specific
training to enable them to support people to use gym
equipment safely. People using the service spoke highly
of the activities and groups provided.

There were fewer activities available to people in the
PICUs we visited. On the Elmleigh PICU there were no
opportunities for physical activities and people using
the service told us they had suggested an exercise bike
but had had no response from staff. There were no gym
facilities on site. This had a negative impact on people’s
physical health. On the PICU at Antelope House,
Hamtun ward, the majority of people reported that
there was very little by way of OT or activities on the
ward. This was acknowledged by staff who reported that
an OT was due to start at the end of the month. The
impact of a lack of activities meant that people using
the service were bored, lacked stimulus and were more
likely to isolate themselves in their rooms.

The minutes of community meetings on both wards at
Parklands Hospital showed that people liked some
activities, but generally felt that there was not enough to
do on the wards. Where there were activities, this was
not always publicised, although this had improved.

Outcomes for people using services
Some wards were actively monitoring outcomes for
people by seeking systematic feedback from them. At
Melbury Lodge people’s experiences on the unit were
captured through the completion of patient surveys.
Questionnaires to obtain feedback from people about
their experiences included questions related to hope,
agency or sense of control, opportunities to lead a full
and meaningful life and relationships with staff. An
analysis of surveys completed between July and
September 2014 showed high levels of satisfaction with
the care and treatment provided. For example, most
people said that staff were aware of and had
understanding of their individual needs; they knew who
to talk to about any worries and concerns and were
involved in decisions about their care.

The Elmleigh acute wards manager told us that the
wards had only started using patient related outcome
measures (PROMs) at the beginning of the week of our

visit. Prior to this the ward had not been systematically
measuring outcomes for people using the service. In the
past the service had received generic feedback from
trust patient satisfaction questionnaires which had
made it difficult to identify and address concerns
specific to Elmleigh.

At Parklands Hospital a peer support officer had been
appointed to support the use of PROMs and the voice of
people using the service. People using the service and
staff were positive about this role.

Staff skill
Medical staff and allied healthcare professionals we
spoke with in all wards reported being well supported
by senior staff and having good training opportunities.
Three newly appointed OTs were arranging for
supervision from a more senior OT on another unit.

On most wards we visited nursing and care staff had
completed their mandatory training and received
regular one to one and group supervision. Some staff
were undertaking additional specialist training.

For example, at Parklands Hospital, staff told us they
had received training in how to restrain a person safely
and in rapid tranquillisation. This was confirmed by
training records. Staff said that the psychology team had
provided intensive support programme (ISP) training for
most of the nursing staff. This supported them to
practice and promote a recovery approach throughout
all their interactions on the ward, and not just within
therapy sessions.

At Antelope House all staff we spoke with reported
having regular monthly supervision and had completed
a performance appraisal within the last year. On
Hamtun ward staff described having reflective practice
sessions with a psychologist who had helped them work
more effectively in a challenging environment and
reduce their levels of stress. An OT at Elmleigh told us
that the Gibbs model of reflection was used in reflective
practice meetings and this was helpful.

However, at Elmleigh ward most staff told us that they
did not get regular one to one supervision from senior
staff and often felt unsupported. Several staff said they
had not had supervision for many months. Staff also
told us they had not always had the opportunity for a
debrief following incidents including assaults.

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires Improvement –––

29 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 63



Elmleigh supervision records showed that most staff
had attended group supervision but many had not had
one to one managerial or clinical supervision in August
or September 2014. The acute ward manager
acknowledged pressures on staffing had meant that not
all supervision had taken place as planned. Group
supervision had been introduced as a way of ensuring
more staff had space to discuss clinical issues. However,
the quality of this as a way of conducting clinical
supervision was not reflected in the minutes of
meetings we reviewed. For example, minutes of a
meeting in October showed that nine staff had attended
one meeting which would have limited the time
available to any one individual to discuss any clinical
issues they had relating to people using the service. The
staff business meeting was included as a group
supervision meeting on the staff supervision matrix.
However, minutes of the business meeting held on 17
September 2014 showed that most topics discussed by
those present were of a practical nature such as repairs
needed to the washing machine and tablecloths
needing washing as well as announcements about new
staff joining. It was not clear that this type of supervision
was meeting the needs of staff.

The majority of staff had received an annual
performance appraisal although some we spoke with at
Elmleigh had not. Elmleigh acute ward and PICU
performance data from September 2014 showed that
the acute wards and PICU ranked 24 and 25 out of 25
similar services across the trust in respect of appraisal
compliance. Appraisal compliance was rated red for
both areas and there had been little change in
performance in the last three months. Some staff raised
concerns over the quality of appraisal they had received
and said they did not get any feedback on how they
could improve.

Most staff at Elmleigh had completed the required
mandatory training. However, records provided on the
day of our inspection showed that only just over half of
staff on PICU were up to date with basic life support
(BLS) or intermediate life support (ILS) training. Ten staff
had not received the required training or were overdue
for a refresher course. Similarly on the acute wards
thirteen staff had not completed BLS or ILS training. This
shortfall in training was confirmed by the performance
dashboard for September 2014. When we asked senior

staff whether there were any plans in place to address
the training shortfalls they told us they were not aware
of any. They said that obtaining places on courses was
difficult as they did not always run frequently, there
were staff shortages which prevented people attending
training and travel time to venues was such that it
compounded difficulties associated with attendance.

Training records at Elmleigh also showed that eleven
PICU staff had not had initial or refresher training in
proactively reducing incidents for safer services (PRISS).
In addition, only 25% of required PICU staff had
completed training in rapid tranquilisation. Several staff
told us they had had to wait for several months after
starting work on the acute wards or PICU before being
able to complete PRISS training. This shortfall meant
there was a risk to staff and people using the service as
not all staff had been trained how to restrain a person
safely. Although staff who had not been trained were not
expected to restrain people this put additional pressure
on colleagues. The trust did not have suitable
arrangements in place to ensure that staff were
appropriately supported to provide safe and
appropriate care as significant numbers of staff had not
received appropriate training, supervision and
appraisal.

Multi-disciplinary working
We saw good examples of multi-disciplinary working on
all wards we visited. For example, at Elmleigh managers
reported good links with community mental health
teams. A member of the intensive support team, who
supported many people post-discharge, attended the
ward multi-disciplinary team (MDT) meeting in order to
facilitate the discharge of people to the community. A
care navigator from the intensive support team helped
address barriers to discharge and facilitated smooth
transfers of care.

At Parklands Hospital we observed a staff handover
meeting on both the acute ward and the PICU. This was
attended by staff from different professions including
medicine, nursing and psychology, and reviewed all the
people using the service. There was a standard list of
areas that were discussed during the meeting, and this
was recorded in each person’s care record. The meeting
included a discussion of people’s needs, responded to

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires Improvement –––

30 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 64



changes, and reviewed previous care implemented. We
saw that discharge, the care programme approach (CPA)
criteria and implementation of the Mental Health Act
1983 (MHA) and Best Interests were discussed.

Information and Records Systems
Records and information systems supported the
effective delivery of care and treatment. People had up
to date risk assessments and care plans in place. These
were reviewed regularly for completeness. Care records
included people’s goals and activities and sometimes
included people’s views.

We reviewed the records of seclusion kept on the PICUs.
These included start and end times of periods of
seclusion and notes recorded during two hourly checks
on people. Detailed observations were made on a
frequent basis which supported the delivery of care.

We found, however, that some agency staff did not have
access to the electronic records system. This may have
had a negative impact on continuity of care for people
with information regarding risk not being available to or
shared with agency staff in a timely manner.

On Hamtun ward at Antelope House we looked at five
sets of notes in relation to regular observations of
people. People were on enhanced observations due to
increased risks to self or others. This usually meant
having a nurse with them at all times, or being checked
every five, 10 or 15 minutes. The purpose of
documentation was to record accurately the person’s
whereabouts during that hour and their presentation or
behaviour. We found consistent gaps in the recording of
observation. The gaps could suggest that the prescribed
level of observations were not being carried out or were
not an accurate record of the care provided.

Consent to care and treatment
People’s consent was sought before care or treatment
was provided. Care and treatment was provided in line
with provisions of the Mental Health Act 1983 and Code
of Practice.

Staff we spoke with had an understanding of the Mental
Capacity Act 2005 and how this applied to their practice.
However, we noted that this was not always reflected in
people’s care records. For example, on Elmleigh PICU we
found written entries in people’s care records about
capacity that lacked sufficient detail. A determination of

a person’s mental capacity did not always record the
process by which the judgment was reached and the
evidence underpinning the judgement. For example, we
saw entries such as: “capacity and consent: s2” and
“lacks capacity and insight.” At Parklands Hospital we
found that capacity and consent to treatment was being
assessed and recorded by the responsible clinician (RC)
and was reviewed and recorded in the progress notes
during multidisciplinary reviews. The records showed
that people had their treatment discussed with them,
and their capacity to consent was assessed. However,
there was no standardised way of recording this, and it
was often recorded in the daily progress notes in the
electronic records and was not easy to find.

At Antelope House and Elmleigh some blanket
restrictions were in place for people newly admitted to
the ward. The ensuite bathrooms in people’s bedrooms
were routinely kept locked for 24 hours after admission
to the ward. Staff said this was so that they could
manage ligature risks, get to know people and allowed
for a more robust assessment of risk. At Antelope House
PICU blanket restrictions were in place that allowed
people only two telephone calls per day and not being
allowed to have a bath after 10.00pm. There were also
restrictions on the availability of snacks and drinks. It
was not clear why these restrictions were in place on the
PICU or how they benefitted people.

Assessment and treatment in line with Mental
Health Act
People detained under the Mental Health Act 1983
(MHA) had their rights explained to them on admission
to the ward and on an on-going basis to ensure they
understood. People we spoke with confirmed they
understood their rights and knew they had a right of
appeal against their detention.

We noted, however, that records of the explanation of
people’s rights under section 132 of the MHA were
variable. For some people records showed there had
been regular attempts to explain their MHA status and
rights, whereas for other people there were no records
on file.

At Parklands Hospital we saw that the application of the
Mental Health Act was discussed in multidisciplinary
team meetings, as was the use of community treatment
orders (CTOs) where this was appropriate. We saw that

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires Improvement –––

31 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 65



people had access to Independent Mental Health
Advocates (IMHAs) and used this service. The MHA
documentation we reviewed was completed
appropriately.

Our findings
Elmleigh

Assessment and delivery of care and treatment
The prescribing of medicines complied with NICE
guidelines. Staff were informed of changes in policies and
procedures and relevant NICE guidance in order to support
their practice and delivery of effective care and treatment.

Most people, whose records we reviewed, had care plans in
place that addressed their assessed needs and any
individual risks identified. There were care plans in place
addressing people’s physical as well as mental health
needs. On the PICU, however, we found that evidence of
care planning was inconsistent. Many care plans showed
clear evidence of people’s participation in care planning
with their views were recorded. However, one person’s care
records did not include current care plans at all. The ward
manager confirmed this was the case and said they would
follow up to ensure plans were put in place immediately.

There were some activities provided for people on the
wards. Occupational therapists (OTs) had recently started
at Elmleigh and were providing group and individual
activities for people. Staff told us that current affairs
groups, walking groups, arts and crafts and baking
activities were usually provided, although these were
sometimes cancelled because of a lack of staff to facilitate
them. Some people were able to attend groups provided
by the intensive support programme. These were facilitated
by a nurse or psychologist and included short courses in
emotional coping skills and being a compassionate friend.
People could continue to attend and complete a course
after they had been discharged from the wards to the
intensive support team.

On the PICU there were no opportunities for physical
activities and people told us they had suggested an
exercise bike but had had no response from staff. There
were no gym facilities on site. This had a negative impact
on people’s physical health.

Outcomes for people using services
The ward manager told us that the acute wards had only
started using patient related outcome measures (PROMS)
at the beginning of the week of our visit. Prior to this the
ward had not been systematically measuring outcomes for
people using the service. In the past the service had
received generic feedback from trust patient satisfaction
questionnaires which had made it difficult to identify and
address concerns specific to Elmleigh.

Staff skill
Ward staff told us that they did not get regular one to one
supervision from senior staff and often felt unsupported.
They told us that one to one supervision should have
happened monthly but several staff said they had not had
supervision for many months. Staff also told us they had
not always had the opportunity for a debrief following
incidents including assaults.

Supervision records showed that most staff had attended
group supervision but many had not had one to one
managerial or clinical supervision in August or September
2014. The acute ward manager acknowledged pressures on
staffing had meant that not all supervision had taken place
as planned. Group supervision had been introduced as a
way of ensuring more staff had space to discuss clinical
issues. However, the quality of this as a way of conducting
clinical supervision was not reflected in the minutes of
meetings we reviewed. For example, minutes of a meeting
in October showed that nine staff had attended one
meeting which may have reduced the time available to any
one individual to discuss particular clinical issues they had
relating to people using the service. Staff told us that group
supervision did take place but not all staff were able to
attend.

The staff business meeting was included as a group
supervision meeting on the staff supervision matrix.
However, minutes of the business meeting held on 17
September showed that most topics discussed by those
present were of a practical nature such as repairs needed
to the washing machine and tablecloths needing washing
as well as announcements about new staff joining. It was
not clear that this type of supervision was meeting the
needs of staff.

Other types of group supervision were acknowledged to be
useful by staff. An OT told us that Gibbs model of reflection
was used in reflective practice meetings and this was
helpful.

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires Improvement –––

32 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 66



The majority of staff had received an annual performance
appraisal although some we spoke with had not. However,
acute ward and PICU performance data from September
2014 showed that the acute wards and PICU ranked 24 and
25 out of 25 similar services across the trust in respect of
appraisal compliance. Appraisal compliance was rated red
for both areas and there had been little change in
performance in the last three months. Some staff raised
concerns over the quality of appraisal they had received
and said they did not get any feedback on how they could
improve.

Although most staff mandatory training was up to date
records produced on the day of our inspection showed that
only just over half of staff on PICU were up to date with
basic life support (BLS) or intermediate life support (ILS)
training. Ten staff had not received the required training or
were overdue for a refresher course. Similarly on the acute
wards thirteen staff had not completed BLS or ILS training.
This shortfall in training was confirmed by the performance
dashboard dated September 2014. When we asked senior
staff whether there were any plans in place to address the
training shortfalls they told us they were not aware of any.
They said that obtaining places on courses was difficult as
they did not always run frequently, there were staff
shortages which prevented people attending training and
travel time to venues was such that it compounded
difficulties associated with attendance.

Training records provided to us during the inspection
showed that eleven PICU staff had not had initial or
refresher training in proactively reducing incidents for safer
services (PRISS). In addition, only 25% of required PICU
staff had completed training in rapid tranquilisation.
Several staff told us they had had to wait for several months
after starting work on the acute wards or PICU before being
able to complete PRISS training. This shortfall meant there
was a risk to staff and people using the service as not all
staff had been trained how to restrain a person safely.
Although staff who had not been trained were not expected
to restrain people this put additional pressure on
colleagues. The trust did not have suitable arrangements in
place to ensure that staff were appropriately supported to
provide safe and appropriate care as significant numbers of
staff had not received appropriate training, supervision and
appraisal.

Staff new to the trust told us they had undergone a period
of induction before starting work on the unit but that PRISS
and BLS/ILS had not been covered during that time.

Doctors told us they received good training, supervision
and appraisal on the acute wards and PICU. Three newly
appointed OTs were arranging for supervision from a more
senior OT on another unit.

Multi-disciplinary working
Managers reported good links with community mental
health teams. A member of the intensive support team,
who supported many people post-discharge, attended the
ward multi-disciplinary team (MDT) meeting in order to
facilitate the discharge of people to the community. A care
navigator from the intensive support team helped address
barriers to discharge and facilitated smooth transfers of
care. The MDT was assisted by a resettlement officer who
worked closely with the team and people using the service
to identify suitable accommodation post discharge.

The MDT met three times a week and the ward manager
said this had helped people move on more quickly and
effectively.

There was one occupational therapist based on each ward
which was a recent development in the service. A
psychologist was due to start working on the ward and it
was hoped this would improve access to psychological
therapies.

MDT meetings were used to work with community
colleagues to plan for people’s discharge from hospital. The
wards had good relationships with a range of disciplines,
community teams and agencies. This meant that people’s
needs were assessed in a holistic way taking into account
their psychosocial needs as well as medical needs.

Information and Records Systems
Records and information systems supported the effective
delivery of care and treatment. People had up to date risk
assessments and care plans in place. These were reviewed
regularly for completeness. Care records included people’s
goals and activities and sometimes included people’s
views.

We reviewed the records of seclusion kept on the PICU.
These included start and end times of periods of seclusion
and notes recorded during two hourly checks on people.
Detailed observations were made on a frequent basis
which supported the delivery of care.

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires Improvement –––

33 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 67



Consent to care and treatment
People’s consent was sought before care or treatment was
provided. Care and treatment was provided in line with
provisions of the Mental Health Act 1983 and Code of
Practice.

Staff we spoke with had an understanding of the Mental
Capacity Act 2005 and how this applied to their practice.

Some blanket restrictions were in place for people newly
admitted to the ward. The ensuite bathrooms in people’s
bedrooms were routinely kept locked for 24 hours after
admission to the ward. Staff said this was so that they
could manage ligature risks, get to know people and
allowed for a more robust assessment of risk.

Assessment and treatment in line with Mental
Health Act

Documentation relating to the operation of the Mental
Health Act 1983 (MHA) was generally good. Detention
papers were held on people’s legal files and on most,
approved mental health professional reports were in
evidence. Records of section 17 leave showed a thorough
approach to where and with whom the leave could be
permitted and included clear parameters of the leave with
review dates. Old and out of date forms were crossed
through to avoid confusion.

Information on people’s rights under the Mental Health Act
1983 (MHA) was provided to people detained on the wards.
People we spoke with understood their rights under the
MHA. . People had access to the Independent Mental
Health Advocate and some had taken opportunities to
appeal to the Mental Health Tribunal against their
detention. People using the service who were not detained
under the Act also understood their rights.

Melbury Lodge
Assessment and delivery of care and treatment

Staff told us that care and treatment was delivered to
people in line with national guidance and standards. Staff
were aware of research and developments in acute mental
health care and we noted the implementation of new
approaches based on evidence and best practice. For
example, The ‘safewards’ initiative was being implemented
on the wards and considerable progress had been made
with this. ‘Safewards’ had introduced a variety of methods
designed to reduce rates of conflict and containment in
adult in-patient mental health settings. The service had
also developed a spiritual assessment as part of a holistic

approach to determining people’s needs. This was based
on evidence that people recover faster and recovery is
more likely to be sustained when health professionals work
with people to explore their spirituality. The prescribing of
medicines was compliant with National Institute for Health
and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines.

The wards used a ‘recovery focussed narrative approach.’
This had been developed in response to feedback from
people using the service and aimed to achieve greater
collaboration between people and health professionals
when planning and reviewing care. The approach
encouraged recovery focussed conversations between staff
and people using the service that began very soon after
admission and facilitated person-centred care. The
narrative focussed on the development of individual goals
based on people’s strengths and resources, helpful and
unhelpful approaches, a safety plan, things to focus on now
and people the person would like involved in their care.
The approach improved pathways of care for people and
involved only professionals actively involved in people’s
care and treatment. This meant people did not attend large
traditional ward rounds that may have included
professionals not involved in their care and which people
using the service could find daunting.

Individual and group activities were offered to people.
There was a varied activity programme in place five days a
week. There were gym facilities available and some staff
had received specific training to enable them to support
people to use gym equipment safely. People using the
service spoke highly of the activities and groups provided.
We observed a group taking place that was run by the unit
occupational therapist (OT). The plan for the group was
clear and well prepared. The OT clearly understood
people’s needs and was involved in their day to day care.
People were involved in the activity throughout.

People had care plans in place that addressed their
assessed needs and any individual risks identified. People’s
strengths and needs were clearly stated. People’s physical
health as well as their mental health needs were assessed.
We saw that where particular problems or risks were
identified care plans were in place to address them.
However, there were no specific smoking cessation
programmes available for people who may have wanted to
give up or reduce consumption of tobacco.

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires Improvement –––

34 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 68



Outcomes for people using services
People’s experiences on the unit were captured through
the completion of patient surveys. Questionnaires to obtain
feedback from people about their experiences included
questions related to hope, agency or sense of control,
opportunities to lead a full and meaningful life and
relationships with staff. An analysis of surveys completed
between July and September 2014 showed high levels of
satisfaction with the care and treatment provided. For
example, most people said that staff were aware of and
had understood their individual needs; they knew who to
talk to about any worries and concerns and were involved
in decisions about their care.

Staff skill
Staff had received training in support of their roles and
responsibilities on the wards. Learning needs were
identified through an individual appraisal process and
appropriate training provided, where possible, to meet
those needs. The statutory and mandatory training matrix
for the wards confirmed that most staff were up to date
with the required training. Several staff had attended
additional training in more specialist areas such as
dialectical behaviour therapy, a therapy designed to help
people change patterns of behaviour that are not effective.

Staff told us they received regular managerial and clinical
supervision. The unit supervision tracker showed us that
most nurses and health care support workers received
individual supervision monthly. There was a weekly
reflective practice meeting available for staff which allowed
them to consider their practice in a group setting. In
addition staff were offered opportunities for a debrief
following incidents, which they told us was helpful.

Junior medical staff told us they received good support
from their consultant psychiatrist. They considered they
had excellent supervision and access to training.

Multi-disciplinary working
We found evidence of excellent team working on the unit.
All staff we spoke with told us the multi-disciplinary team
worked well together and there was good co-operation
between different disciplines. This enabled the delivery of
holistic care and treatment to people.

There were a range of different disciplines represented in
the multi-disciplinary team including a psychologist,

occupational therapy staff and a part-time chaplain.
Therapists offered different groups and individual
therapeutic opportunities to people using the service. The
chaplain said they very much felt part of the care team.

The multi-disciplinary team worked effectively together to
ensure people’s discharges from the wards were planned.
People using the service told us they were kept informed
about arrangements for their discharge and written
information was provided on discharge that helped
people’s transition back into the community. There were
good working arrangements with community mental
health teams which helped facilitate discharge
arrangements.

Information and Records Systems
Information management systems were in place that
supported the delivery of care and treatment. We saw that
care plans and risks assessments were in place and
regularly updated to ensure they remained current and
addressed people’s needs.

Consent to care and treatment
People’s consent was sought before care or treatment was
provided. Where people were detained under the Mental
Health Act 1983 consent was sought in line with the
legislation.

Staff we spoke with had an understanding of the Mental
Capacity Act 2005 and how this applied to their day to day
work. However, we noted written entries in people’s care
records about capacity that lacked sufficient detail. A
determination of a person’s mental capacity was not
always supported by written records showing the process
by which the judgment was reached and the evidence
underpinning the judgement. For example, we saw entries
such as “capacity and consent: s2” and “lacks capacity and
insight.”

Assessment and treatment in line with Mental
Health Act

People detained under the Mental Health Act 1983 (MHA)
had their rights explained to them on admission to the
ward and on an on-going basis to ensure they understood.
People we spoke with confirmed they understood their
rights and knew they had a right of appeal against their
detention.

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires Improvement –––

35 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 69



We noted, however, that records of the explanation of
people’s rights under section 132 of the MHA were variable
with evidence that for some people there had been regular
attempts made to explain their MHA status and rights,
whereas for other people there were no records on file.

Antelope House
We found that the service provided by both Saxon and
Trinity wards was effective. This was evidenced through
information in the data pack and discussions with both
staff and people using the service. We also reviewed case
notes and observed a bed management meeting, as well as
talked to external stakeholders.

Assessment and delivery of care and treatment
Both Saxon and Trinity wards had care plans in place for
every individual which were up to date and signed by the
person. This meant that care plans were personalised and
that there was mutual consensus in developing the plans.
This was in line with NICE guidelines on ‘Service user
experience in adult mental health: improving the
experience of care for people using adult NHS mental
health services.’

Physical health plans were in place and there was good
evidence of on-going assessment of the physical health
needs of every patient. This was essential for people’s
health and wellbeing. It has been widely recognised that
the physical health of people with mental health problems
has been neglected by health professionals and as a result
their quality of life and life expectancy is reduced.

Ward managers and doctors were able to articulate clearly
how they implemented National Institute for Health and
Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines citing for example,
medication management.

‘Safewards’ was being implemented on both Saxon and
Trinity wards. The initiative aims to make psychiatric wards
more peaceful, increasing safety and engagement and
working to reduce coercion.

There were mindfulness meetings every morning. There
were additional occupational activities in the afternoon.
Patients reported that they enjoyed the activities.

Staff skill.
All staff we spoke with reported having had regular monthly
supervision. Annual appraisals were completed. Eighty
nine per cent of staff were up to date with mandatory
training.

Multi-disciplinary working.
Saxon and Trinity wards had two weekly multi-disciplinary
meetings; each person using the service was discussed in
detail. The meetings were also used to work with
community colleagues to plan for discharge. The ward had
good relationships with a range of disciplines. This meant
that people’s needs were assessed in a holistic way taking
into account their psychosocial needs as well as medical
needs.

Information and Records Systems.
An electronic records system was used to record progress
notes and risk assessments and general assessments. We
found, however, that some agency staff did not have access
to the electronic information system. This may have had a
negative impact on continuity of care for people with
information regarding risk not being shared in a timely
manner.

Hamtun ward
Assessment and delivery of care and treatment.

Care plans were in place for every individual which were up
to date and signed by the person. Physical health plans
were in place and there was good evidence of on-going
assessment of physical health needs for every person.

The over whelming majority of people reported that there
was very little occupational therapy or activities on the
ward. This was acknowledged by staff who reported that an
occupational therapist (OT) was due to start at the end of
the month. The impact of a lack of activities meant that
people were bored, lacked stimulus and were more likely
to isolate themselves in their rooms.

Every morning a community meeting was held where
people asked what they would like to do that day, such as
play pool or go to another ward to do a group, however
these arrangements were ad-hoc. There was little structure
to ward based activities and no access to a computer.
These issues combined resulted in a lack of day time
structure and meaningful activity for people.

Staff skill
Staff described having reflective sessions with a
psychologist who had helped them work more effectively
in a challenging environment and reduce their levels of
stress.

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires Improvement –––

36 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 70



Multi-disciplinary working.
Hamtun had two weekly multi-disciplinary meetings; each
person was discussed in detail in these meetings. The
meetings were also used to work with community
colleagues to plan for discharge.

Information and records systems
We looked at five sets of notes in relation to regular
observations of people. People were on enhanced
observations due to increased risks to self or others. This
usually meant having a nurse with them at all times, or
being checked every five, 10 or 15 minutes. The purpose of
documentation was to record accurately the person’s
whereabouts during that hour and their presentation or
behaviour. We found consistent gaps in the recording of
observation. The gaps could suggest that the prescribed
level of observations were not being carried out. The ward
manager was not able to offer an explanation of why this
might be happening.

Consent to care and treatment.
We examined care records on Hamtun and found that the
records lacked reference to issues of capacity and whether
people were consenting to treatment and making informed
decisions about treatment options. This is out of step with
the Mental Health Act Code of Practice which states at 23.27
that; ‘health professionals must determine whether a
patient has the capacity to or refuse a particular form of
medical treatment and if so, whether the patient does in
fact consent.’

People using the service reported that their rights under
Section 132 of the Mental Health Act 1983 had been
explained to them on admission. We found evidence that
Section 132 forms were ticked and rights repeated to
individuals, who may have needed this explaining more
than once. This was corroborated in interviews with people
who used services.

The ward operated blanket restrictions on people such as
only being allowed two telephone calls per day and not
being allowed to have a bath after 10.00pm. There were
restrictions on the availability of snacks and drinks as well
as restrictions to internet access. It was not clear why these
restrictions were in place and why they were thought
necessary for everyone on the ward.

Parklands Hospital
Assessment and delivery of care and treatment

During our last inspection of Parklands Hospital we
inspected the wards for older people and found that some
of the risk assessments and care plans did not reflect the
person or their needs. During this inspection, the sample of
records we looked at on the working age adult wards
showed that people using the service had had their mental
and physical healthcare needs assessed, and care plans
developed from these. The daily entries of care were
variable in quality. Some referred to the care plans and
contained detailed information about interactions with the
person. However, other entries were minimal, and
contained limited information and either did not refer to
the care plan or referred to the wrong one.

People using the service had their physical health care
needs monitored. Records showed that people had a
physical healthcare assessment on admission. We saw that
where concerns were identified these were followed up by
medical staff, and expert advice was sort where necessary.
People’s physical healthcare observations (for example
blood pressure, pulse, and blood sugar levels) were
recorded onto a “Physiological Observation Chart Audit
Track and Trigger Tool”. This was a colour coded chart
which highlighted when a person’s observations were
within a normal range, or when further action may be
required. The charts made it easy to see changes over a
period of time. The sample of charts we looked at had been
completed as necessary. We observed that people’s
physical healthcare needs were discussed in the daily
handover meeting.

Staff told us that there was currently no occupational
therapist (OT) on the acute ward, but the post was being
recruited to. There was an activity programme seven days a
week, but staff told us this varied and depended on the
availability of staff. We saw an example of the programme
which included a mix of creative groups, such as crafts and
music, and therapy groups such as mindfulness and
managing anxiety.

The minutes of community meetings, for people who use
the service, on both wards showed that people liked some
activities, but generally felt that there was not enough to do
on the wards. Where there were activities, this was not
always publicised, though this had improved. The people
we spoke with were positive about some of the activities

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires Improvement –––

37 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 71



available, but agreed that they would like more to do. Both
wards had free access to outdoor space. There was a
garden from the acute ward and a tarmac garden for the
PICU.

The psychology department led a therapy programme,
predominantly for the acute ward, but people on the PICU
and receiving the Hospital at Home service were also able
to access it. The programme was part of the Intensive
Support Programme (ISP) which was a trust-wide initiative
that focused on promoting a recovery based culture. It
included the use of mindfulness, and a type of cognitive
behaviour therapy (CBT). A programme lasted for a number
of weeks, so was accessible for people who were only in
the service for a short period of time. Staff told us that most
people using the service saw a psychologist for an initial
assessment, and to determine what would be useful for
them. They would then be given a programme which may
include, for example, mindfulness sessions which ran each
day in the service.

Outcomes for people using services
Staff told us that they were working on the development of
Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) to monitor
and improve the care of people on the ward. The use of
PROMS was referred to in the staff and community meeting
minutes (for people using the service) but it was not clear if
people using the service understood its purpose, or how it
impacted on their care. A peer support officer had been
appointed to support the use of PROMs and the voice of
people using the service. People using the service and staff
were positive about this role.

Staff skill
Staff told us that the psychology team had Intensive
Support Programme (ISP) training for most of the nursing
staff. This supported them to practice and promote a
recovery approach throughout all their interactions on the
ward, and not just within therapy sessions.

The nursing and support staff we spoke with told us they
were up to date with their mandatory training, and that
they could access specialist training. Training records
showed that most staff on the ward were up to date with
most of their mandatory training. Staff told us that they
had received training in how to restrain a person safely, and
this was confirmed by the training records. PICU training
records showed that most of the qualified staff had
completed training in rapid tranquillisation.

Some staff were carrying out additional specialist training.
The medical and allied healthcare professionals we spoke
with, such as doctors and psychologists, told us that they
received regular supervision and support, and were able to
access training and continuing professional development.

We saw examples of clinical supervision records. These
showed that issues were discussed and actions agreed.
This included making improvements on the ward, lead
roles, dealing with performance issues, identifying training
needs, and discussing specific patient issues. The trust’s
monitoring information showed that all staff (up to the
most recent information in August 2014) on the acute ward
and PICU had had an appraisal. We saw an example of the
trust’s appraisal form. This included personal development,
ISP groups, and responsibility for specific improvements on
the ward.

Multi-disciplinary working
We observed a staff handover meeting on both the acute
ward and the PICU. This was attended by staff from
different professions including medicine, nursing and
psychology, and reviewed all the people using the service.
There was a standard list of areas that were discussed
during the meeting, and this was recorded in each person’s
care record. The meeting included a discussion of people’s
needs, responded to changes, and reviewed previous care
implemented. We saw that discharge, the care programme
approach (CPA) criteria and implementation of the Mental
Health Act (MHA) and Best Interest were discussed.
Medication and therapies were reviewed. People’s mental
and physical healthcare needs were discussed. We saw that
people had had CPA meetings, and discharge plans were
discussed, which included working with the Hospital at
Home team, which enabled people to be discharged
sooner. The Hospital at Home team worked primarily with
the acute ward. Staff told us that most of the people on the
PICU were “stepped down” to the acute ward before being
discharged.

Information and Records Systems
The trust used an electronic records system used by both
the hospital and community teams. We saw an example
where a person was seen to be relapsing in the community,
this had been followed up, and the person subsequently
admitted. From the records it was possible to follow the
person’s progress through the care pathway they had
followed into hospital. Some papers records were also
used, for example, records of physical healthcare

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires Improvement –––

38 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 72



observations. Staff told us this made it easier to track
changes, but if concerns were identified this and the action
taken would be recorded on the electronic system. We saw
examples of where this had occurred.

Consent to care and treatment
During our last inspection of Parklands Hospital we
inspected the wards for older people and found that
capacity was not routinely assessed or recorded. At this
inspection we found that capacity and consent to
treatment was being assessed and recorded by the
Responsible Clinician (RC) and was reviewed and recorded
in the progress notes during multidisciplinary reviews.
Records showed that people had their treatment discussed

with them, and their capacity to consent was assessed.
However, there was no standardised way of recording this,
and it was often recorded in the daily progress notes so was
not easy to find.

Assessment and treatment in line with Mental
Health Act

We saw that the application of the Mental Health Act 1983
was discussed in the multidisciplinary team meeting, as
was the use of community treatment orders (CTOs) where
this was appropriate. We saw that people had access to
Independent Mental Health Advocates (IMHAs) and used
this service. The Mental Health Act documentation we saw
was completed adequately.

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires Improvement –––

39 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 73



Summary of findings
Dignity, respect and compassion
We observed interactions between people using the
service and staff on all wards and saw these were
friendly and respectful. Most people using the service
we spoke with on all the wards we visited said they
received kind and considerate care from staff and
described them as polite, compassionate, caring and
empathic.

However, there were some exceptions. A few people at
Parklands Hospital described unhelpful interactions
with staff and said that a small number of staff had been
impolite. At Elmleigh two people told us they had
received responses from staff that they considered
unsympathetic and distressing. On Hamtun ward, at
Antelope House, a few people described staff who did
not appear interested and did not engage with them.

Staff on all the wards were usually available to people
and actively engaged with them. However, we observed
periods of up to 45 minutes on an acute ward at
Elmleigh when all staff appeared to be in the office with
no attempted interaction with people in communal
ward areas.

We saw that staff respected people’s privacy and dignity
on all wards. People we spoke with, and who gave
feedback via comment cards, supported these
observations. An analysis of patient surveys completed
at Melbury Lodge between July and September 2014
showed that almost all people using the service
considered they were treated with dignity and respect
by staff.

However, on Hamtun ward at Antelope House, we noted
that systems for administering medicines that involved
people queueing for medicines meant that people were
able to see and hear matters of a confidential nature
relating to the person in front of them.

In addition, at Melbury Lodge, the majority of bedroom
doors did not provide sufficient privacy and people had
placed temporary coverings over window panels in the
doors that made observation by staff difficult. Managers
told us there was an agreement to replace the doors

with ones that had specially designed privacy panels.
This would significantly improve privacy for people as
well as make unobtrusive observation by staff much
easier.

Involvement of people using services
We received mixed responses from people when we
asked them about their involvement in their care. Some
people told us they were listened to by staff and able to
contribute to decision making about their treatment
and care. Whereas others we spoke with told us they
had not been involved in developing their care plan and
did not have a copy. This was common across most
wards although people on the acute wards at Melbury
Lodge were more positive about their level of
involvement in care and treatment, including the
development of care plans.

People using the service were encouraged to give
feedback about their care and treatment. The majority
of people we spoke with also told us that they
understood what medicines they were prescribed and
what they were for. Feedback from recent satisfaction
surveys confirmed what people told us.

Information for people was available on all the wards
we visited. This included information about the service,
different types of medication, information about
entering and leaving the ward, visiting times, and on
how to make a complaint.

Information was made available for people on the
independent advocacy services available to them. Most
people we spoke with were aware of the advocacy
service, and some people had used the service and
found it helpful. An advocate we spoke with at Antelope
House reported a good relationship with all the wards.
They felt welcome on the wards and received regular
referrals from staff. We particularly noted that at
Parklands Hospital a peer support officer was employed
to provide additional support to people. We received
positive feedback from staff and people using the
service about this role.

Community meetings were held regularly on all wards
that allowed people to feedback issues of concern to
staff. We observed the weekly community meeting on
Kingsley ward at Melbury Lodge. Although a small
number of people attended they were encouraged to

Are services caring?
By caring, we mean that staff involve and treat people with compassion,
kindness, dignity and respect.

Good –––

40 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 74



get involved and all had a chance to contribute to the
discussion. Some ward managers provided written
responses to people about issues raised in meetings
and how they were being addressed.

It was notable that the acute wards at Melbury Lodge
had introduced a ‘recovery focussed narrative’
approach to care in direct response to feedback from
people using the service regarding their dissatisfaction
with large ward rounds. The service had responded
positively to feedback and acted upon suggestions from
people using the service.

Emotional support for people
Carers we spoke with on all wards we visited reported
feeling involved in their relative’s care. They stated they
felt staff were caring and sensitive to their needs and
provided relevant information. Staff told us they
supported and involved carers and relatives in
accordance with the wishes of people using the service.
There were private areas where people could meet with
friends and relatives.

At Elmleigh a café had been set up on the acute wards,
although this was only open for short periods every day.
People and their relatives could buy drinks and cakes
from the café. There was a small seating area that
allowed people to meet with relatives in a more relaxed
setting away from the main acute wards.

At Melbury Lodge a carer’s guide had been developed in
conjunction with the carers council, who met every two
months, and this was available for friends and relatives
of people admitted to the ward.

Our findings
Elmleigh

Dignity, respect and compassion
Most people using the service, we spoke with, were positive
about the staff and doctors and described them as kind
and collaborative. People told us they liked the newly
appointed occupational therapists and were well
supported by them. They said they were usually treated
with respect by staff. We observed many positive
interactions between staff and people. Staff appeared
caring and compassionate and responded to people’s
concerns.

Some individual staff on the wards were named and
highlighted by several people using the service as being
very compassionate and providing excellent care. However,
some people also described less positive experiences. Two
people reported negative statements made to them by
staff which they had found unsympathetic and distressing.

However, we observed periods on the acute ward of up to
45 minutes when all staff appeared to be in the office with
no attempted interaction with people in communal ward
areas. One person who needed help to shower because of
physical health problems said that staff had not offered to
help them in this respect. We discovered later in our visit
there was a shower adapted for people with disabilities
available to people but the person had not been advised of
this.

Involvement of people using services
We received mixed responses from people when we asked
them about their involvement in their care. Many people
using the service we spoke with told us they had not been
involved in developing their care plan and did not have a
copy. Whereas other people told us they were listened to by
staff and able to contribute to decision making about their
treatment and care. On the PICU people using the service
could articulate their care quite clearly but some said they
had not been party to the creation of care plans and did
not have a paper copy.

Information was made available for people on the
independent advocacy services available to them.

Community meetings were held regularly that allowed
people to feedback issues of concern to staff. We were
shown evidence of written responses to issues raised in
meetings later addressed by the ward manager.

Emotional support for people
A café had been set up on the acute wards, although this
was only open for short periods every day. People and their
relatives could buy drinks and cakes from the café. There
was a small seating area that allowed people to meet with
relatives in a more relaxed setting away from the main
acute wards.

Melbury Lodge

Dignity, respect and compassion
People using the service were positive about the care and
treatment provided on the wards and said they were
treated with dignity and respect. Nursing staff were

Are services caring?
By caring, we mean that staff involve and treat people with compassion,
kindness, dignity and respect.

Good –––

41 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 75



described by people as “extremely nice”, “helpful” and
“polite.” We observed many positive and considerate
interactions between people using the service and staff
during our visit to the wards.

An analysis of patient surveys completed between July and
September 2014 showed that almost all people using the
service considered they were treated with dignity and
respect by staff.

With one exception the bedroom doors did not provide
sufficient privacy and people had temporary coverings over
window panels in the doors that made observation
difficult. Managers told us there was an agreement to
replace the doors and include specially designed privacy
panels that would significantly improve privacy for people
and make unobtrusive observation by staff much easier.

People had lockable storage in their rooms that allowed
them to secure their valuables.

Involvement of people using services
People using the service told us that staff took their views
into account when care and treatment was planned. We
observed the weekly community meeting for people using
the service. The meeting was chaired by a staff member
who was supported by the chaplain. Although a small
number of people attended they were encouraged to get
involved and all had a chance to contribute to the
discussion.

The service had introduced a ‘recovery focussed narrative’
approach to care in direct response to feedback from
people using the service regarding their dissatisfaction with
large ward rounds. This showed the service responded
positively to feedback and suggestions from people using
the service.

People using the service were encouraged to give feedback
about their care and treatment.

Most people told us they were involved in the development
of their care plans. The majority of people we spoke with
also told us that they understood what medicines they
were prescribed and what they were for. Feedback from
recent satisfaction surveys confirmed what people told us.

Emotional support for people
A carer’s guide had been developed in conjunction with the
carers council, who met every two months, and this was

available for friends and relatives of people admitted to the
ward. Staff told us they supported and involved carers and
relatives in accordance with the wishes of people using the
service.

Antelope House
Saxon and Trinity ward

Dignity, respect and compassion.
Overall we met very caring staff on both these wards. There
were clearly some very passionate staff that showed
warmth, empathy and kindness to people using the
service. We observed people to be treated with dignity and
respect. The people who fedback through interviews and
feedback cards overwhelmingly supported these
observations. People using the service were
overwhelmingly positive about permanent staff describing
them as compassionate, caring and empathic.

Involvement of people using services.
Advocacy services were on site and we interviewed a
member of their staff. They reported a good relationship
with all the wards and felt they were welcomed on the
wards and received regular referrals from staff.

Staff informed us that interpreters were used in ward
rounds to ensure that people whose first language was not
English had their needs communicated with the assistance
of an interpreter.

Emotional support for people.
We interviewed two carers from each of these wards. Both
carers reported feeling involved in their relative’s care and
stated that they felt staff were caring and sensitive to
people’s needs. One carer stated that it had been difficult
getting information in Polish.

Hamtun ward
Dignity, respect and compassion.

We were concerned that breaches to confidentiality and a
lack of dignity in relation to people queuing for medication
were occurring. People in the queue were able to see and
hear matters relating to a confidential nature of the person
in front of them.

We also found that people had no access to hot drinks or
any healthy snacks and that these were kept locked away.

When we interviewed patients, we received very positive
feedback about staff but some people told us that whilst
many staff were caring and kind there were some who did
not appear interested and did not engage with them.

Are services caring?
By caring, we mean that staff involve and treat people with compassion,
kindness, dignity and respect.

Good –––

42 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 76



Involvement of people using services
There was a community meeting every morning to discuss
the plans for the day and garner views on activities for the
day such as playing pool.

There was work happening to increase peer support and
ensure more active involvement of people using services
expressing and inputting their views on the delivery of care.

Emotional support for people
Hamtun ward had regular input from a psychologist and an
occupational therapist was due to start at the end of the
month. One day a week the wards had access to chaplains
who would see people and offer spiritual guidance.

Parklands Hospital

Dignity, respect and compassion
The interactions we observed between people using the
service and staff were friendly and respectful. The people
we spoke with were mostly positive about the staff. People
told us that most of the staff were approachable, treated
them with respect, and were caring and helpful. However,
some people told us that there were exceptions, and that a
small number of staff were not helpful or polite.

Involvement of people using services
We saw a welcome folder for the acute ward, and an
information pack for the PICU. These included information
for people admitted to the ward, such as about access to
and from the ward, use of phones, access to food and
drink, and information about advocacy and visiting. We
were told that these were given to people when they
arrived on the ward. Some of the people told us they had
received information and been shown around when they
arrived on the ward, but others were not sure, or said they
did not need it because they had been there before. The
PICU community meeting minutes informed people using
the service that they could get an information pack if they
did not have one.

There were noticeboards on the wards, which included
information about the service, and different types of
medication. The information on display included
information about entering and leaving, including for
informal service users on the acute ward, visiting times,
how to make a complaint, and advocacy. There were CCTV
cameras covering the communal areas of the hospital and
on individual wards. However, there were no signs
informing people of these, and this was not included in the
ward information pack.

During our last inspection of Parklands Hospital we
inspected the wards for older people and found that some
of the people were involved in their care planning but
others were not. During this inspection the records we
looked at on the working age adult wards also showed a
variable level of involvement in care planning. Some entries
contained information on the person’s views, and this
included what they had said during the ward round.

Staff we spoke with told us there was not a dedicated place
on the electronic records system for recording people’s
views or involvement. We saw an example of where a
person had been given a copy of their care plan, and this
was recorded in the care plan. We saw that care plans
could be printed off, and there was a space for people to
sign that they had received and agreed with them, but the
information was not clearly presented. One nurse told us
that they pasted the key information from the electronic
record into a Word document to make it easier for the
person to read.

The people we spoke with gave mixed views of their
involvement in their care planning, but most felt this was
limited. One person told us that they did not have a copy of
their care plan, although they had been asked about this
the day before the inspection for the first time. They did not
feel involved in their care or that they were given choices.
Another person knew about some aspects of their care,
even though they did not know what was actually in their
care plan. Most of the people we spoke with told us they
did not have a copy of their care plan.

There were notices on display about advocacy services.
The people we spoke with were aware of the advocacy
service, and some people had used the service and found it
helpful. The acute ward employed a peer support officer,
who worked with people on the ward. We received positive
feedback from staff and people using the service about this
role.

Emotional support for people
The relatives of a person who had used both wards told us
that they were satisfied with the care provided, and had
found the staff helpful and supportive towards themselves
and their relative. They felt they had been involved in the
process. The people we spoke with told us that, where
appropriate, their relatives were involved in their care, and
were allowed to visit them on the ward. There were areas
for people to meet with their relatives in privacy.

Are services caring?
By caring, we mean that staff involve and treat people with compassion,
kindness, dignity and respect.

Good –––

43 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 77



Summary of findings
Planning and delivery of services
Facilities and premises were generally appropriate to
people’s needs, although we received mixed feedback
from people with physical disabilities about how well
the facilities and premises catered to their particular
needs. For example, one person, who used a wheelchair,
told us they had struggled to use the shower although
another person said this had not been difficult for them.

The seclusion room on Hamtun ward at Antelope House
was not fit for purpose. For example, it did not provide
observable access to the toilet area. Staff acknowledged
there was a “blind spot” which prevented them being
able to see the person. The seclusion room was located
in the middle of the ward and all other people using the
service could easily observe who was being placed into
seclusion. The observing nurse was stationed within a
working office which was full of distractions. The sole
duty of the observing nurse was to provide continuous
observation of the person in seclusion and provide
reassurance and verbal de-escalation. However, as there
was no window in the door of the seclusion room this
proved impossible to do. This was contrary to the
Mental Health Act Code of Practice (2008) which states a
seclusion room needs to provide privacy from other
patients; enable staff to observe the patient at all times;
and allow safe, observable access to toilet and washing
facilities.

The design of the wards was different at different
locations. Some wards were clearly segregated with
separate female and male wards and facilities and many
bedrooms had ensuite bathroom and toilet facilities.
However, we found that some of the bathrooms and
toilets at Parklands Hospital were labelled as unisex and
during our inspection we saw that women used the
bathrooms on the male corridor. This was contrary to
Department of Health guidance as women had to walk
past male bedrooms to get to the bathroom. We fed
back our concerns to the ward manager. They told us
they were aware of these and had put in bids to have
remedial work completed.

Diversity of needs
People told us the food provided was of good quality
and there was sufficient to eat and drink. People were

provided with a choice of meals which catered for
different needs and preferences, including religious and
cultural needs. People were able to access snacks and
drinks whenever they wanted to except on Hamtun
ward where there were restrictions.

At Melbury Lodge the spiritual needs of people were
considered very important and the approach to care
and treatment ensured these were integrated with
people’s other needs and recovery goals. The chaplain
attended the ward on a part-time basis, two days every
week, and took part in the weekly multi-disciplinary
team meeting. The chaplain worked with new
admissions to the wards to identify their faith and
spiritual needs and collaborated with the person and
nursing staff to develop an appropriate care plan. There
was a multi-faith room available to people throughout
the day. Wards at other locations told us people a
chaplain visited the ward once a week.

Right care at the right time
All acute ward staff told us there was a constant
pressure to find beds for people who needed to come
into hospital. It was sometimes not possible to provide a
bed for people from the local area because wards were
full and people were placed elsewhere within the Trust
or outside. This sometimes meant that people were
admitted a long way from friends and family which did
not aid their recovery. There were frequently people
sleeping over on other wards as there were insufficient
beds available to always meet the demand.

Records showed that the trust monitored the number of
beds used within the service. There had been a higher
turnover of people on the ward since the introduction of
community crisis team services aimed at preventing
admission to hospital. The crisis teams focused on
facilitating the early discharge of people from the acute
wards.

Learning from concerns and complaints
Information on how to complain was available on the
wards and most people using the service told us they
knew how to make a complaint if they wished. One
person told us how they had been helped by a member
of staff to make a written complaint about the care they
received during a previous admission. Staff provided
people with information about the Patient Advice and

Are services responsive to people’s needs?
By responsive, we mean that services are organised so that they meet people’s
needs.

Requires Improvement –––

44 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 78



Liaison Service (PALS) and the Trust’s complaints
process. Staff told us that information about complaints
was fed back to them by senior staff which meant they
were able to learn from these and make improvements.

Our findings
Elmleigh

Planning and delivery of services
All bedrooms on the acute wards and PICU had ensuite
facilities. The acute wards were divided into male and
female wards, each with their separate lounges. The PICU
was a mixed ward with separate lounges for males and
females. Bedroom areas on PICU were mostly segregated.
While bedrooms had en-suite showers and toilets, males
and female bedrooms could be on the same bedroom
corridors, depending on the gender of the people needing
PICU beds.

The seclusion suite was located very close to people’s
bedrooms in the PICU which meant that the locking and
unlocking of doors sometimes disturbed those people with
rooms nearby.

Diversity of needs
People told us the food provided was of good quality and
there was sufficient to eat and drink. Snacks and drinks
were available throughout the day and night. People were
provided with a choice of meals. A variety of meals could be
provided to cater for people’s different needs and
preferences, including religious and cultural needs. People
were able to access snacks and drinks whenever they
wanted to.

Interpreting services were available when required to
ensure that people with particular communication needs
could be assessed and could understand and contribute to
their care and treatment.

Right care at the right time
Performance data showed that re-admissions to the wards
within 30 days and 90 days of discharge were similar to
other acute wards within the trust.

The ward manager told us that the ward was always full
and there were often people sleeping over on other wards
as there were insufficient beds available to always meet the
demand. This was the case on the day of our visit.

Learning from concerns and complaints
Information on how to complain was available on the
wards and people told us they knew how to make a
complaint if they wished. One person told us how they had
been helped by a member of staff to make a written
complaint about their care during a previous admission.
Staff told us that information about complaints was fed
back to them by senior staff which meant they were able to
learn from these.

Melbury Lodge
Planning and delivery of services

The service provided individualised care to people and was
responsive to their needs. Facilities and premises were
generally appropriate to people’s needs, although we
received mixed feedback from people with physical
disabilities about how well the facilities and premises
catered to their particular needs. For example, one person,
who used a wheelchair, told us they had struggled to use
the shower whilst another person said this had not been
difficult for them.

Diversity of needs
The service took account of the diverse needs of different
people using the service. The spiritual needs of people
were considered very important and the approach to care
and treatment ensured these were integrated with people’s
other needs and recovery goals. The chaplain attended the
ward on a part-time basis, two days every week, and took
part in the weekly multi-disciplinary team meeting. The
chaplain worked with new admissions to the wards to
identify their faith and spiritual needs and collaborated
with the person and nursing staff to develop an appropriate
care plan. There was a multi-faith room available to people
throughout the day. A monthly discussion group was held
for people called ‘mind and soul’ which was an activity
based group. Representatives of different faiths were
accessible to people on the ward.

Right care at the right time
Staff told us there was a constant pressure to find beds for
people who needed to come into hospital. It was
sometimes not possible to provide a bed for people from
the local area because the unit was full and people were
placed elsewhere in the Trust or outside. This sometimes
meant that people were admitted a long way from friends
and family which did not aid their recovery.

Are services responsive to people’s needs?
By responsive, we mean that services are organised so that they meet people’s
needs.

Requires Improvement –––

45 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 79



Learning from concerns and complaints
Information on the complaints procedure was provided to
people using the service. People who wished to make a
complaint were sometimes supported to do this by an
independent advocate.

Staff understood the complaints procedure and how to
respond. There was evidence of learning from complaints
both those about care on the Kingsley wards and
complaints about other services provided by the trust. The
learning was shared and discussed with staff during team
meetings.

Antelope House
Saxon and Trinity wards

Planning and delivery of services
The staff and environment on these two wards were
responsive to people’s needs. All patients had their own
room with en-suite facilities.

Diversity of needs
People could use their rooms when they wished to. No
blanket restrictions were in place. People had access to
fresh fruit and hot drinks when they needed them. There
was access to computers and the internet. Patients also
had access to phones and were allowed their own mobile
phones. There was a chaplaincy service available. One day
a week the wards had access to chaplains who would see
patients and offer spiritual guidance.

Learning from concerns and complaints
Staff were aware of the complaints procedure and felt that
complaints were dealt with effectively. Staff were aware of
how to report an incident and felt that incidents were
learned from and this was shared through their
multidisciplinary meetings. Information was available on
the ward although we did not elicit any particular
comments about complaints.

Hamtun
Planning and delivery of services

We had concerns regarding the seclusion facility on the
ward. The Mental Health Act Code of Practice (2008) states
that to be used as a seclusion room it must meet the
following criteria: provide privacy from other patients;
enable staff to observe the patient at all times; be safe and
secure; not contain anything within it that could potentially
cause harm to the patient or others; be adequately

furnished and be appropriately heated, illuminated,
ventilated and clean; be quiet but not soundproof and with
some means of the patient calling for attention; and allow
safe, observable access to toilet /washing facilities.

The seclusion room on Hamtun ward did not provide
observable access to the toilet area. Staff acknowledged
there was a “blind spot” in the toilet area. We also found
that inside the seclusion room there was a large window
which looked straight into the nursing station; this meant
that people in seclusion could observe computer screens
where confidential information was displayed. It was
located in the middle of the ward and all other people on
the ward could easily observe who was being placed into
seclusion. The room itself was bare, with a plastic covered
mattress on the floor. The observing nurse was stationed
within a working office, full of distractions. The sole duty of
the observing nurse was to provide continuous observation
of the secluded patient and provide reassurance and verbal
de-escalation. As there was no window in the door of the
seclusion room this proved impossible to do.

We noted through examining the seclusion records that
seclusion was used 57 times in a 10 month period.
Although there is no benchmarking which helps us
understand what is an acceptable number of seclusions,
we do know that where best practice is followed,
particularly in relation to de-escalation techniques and use
of NICE guidance, that this has been effective in reducing
the need for seclusion. It is significant therefore that this
ward had no area designated for de-escalation.

Overall the Trust had a 97.7% completion of seven day
follow up of a person following an in-patient admission. It
was recognised that people could struggle post discharge,
ensuring timely follow up reduced risk of suicide.

Diversity of needs
One day a week the wards had access to chaplains who
would see people using the service and offer spiritual
guidance.

Parklands Hospital
Planning and delivery of services

People had single rooms, which they could access
throughout the day. There were separate male and female
lounges on the acute ward. At the time of our inspection

Are services responsive to people’s needs?
By responsive, we mean that services are organised so that they meet people’s
needs.

Requires Improvement –––

46 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 80



there were only men on the PICU. Staff showed us they
could accommodate up to two women on the ward, and
segregated it accordingly. They said they would only admit
two women at a time, so it was usually all male.

There was a room on both wards for people to have
physical health care checks, and this contained equipment
such as an examination couch, blood pressure monitor and
weighing scales.

There was a kitchenette area with tea and coffee facilities,
which we saw people using throughout our inspection. The
people we spoke with told us they were able to make
drinks when they wished.

People using the service had access to the internet. This
was in a glass room in the middle of the corridor, so that
people had some privacy, but could still be monitored.
Similarly there was a patients’ phone, which was in an
open but recessed area of the corridor to give some
privacy, whilst maintaining observation. There was an
activity room that included craft materials on the acute
ward, and a games room on the PICU. There was a gym in
the unit, but people told us that this was not always
accessible because of a shortage of staff who were trained
to supervise people to use the equipment, but this was
being addressed.

Prior to the inspection we were told that Department of
Health (DH) guidance about gender separation on mental
health wards was met, as all rooms were single and were
on male and female corridors. However, we found that
some of the bathrooms and toilets at Parklands Hospital
were labelled as unisex. There was a female corridor which
contained 16 female beds and a “flexi” room. On this
corridor there was one ensuite room, one bathroom and
two toilets. This meant that there was one bathroom for 15
women. Staff told us that they had put a bid in for a further
shower room. In the male corridor there were seven male
beds and at the far end of the corridor six beds that were
usually used by people employed by the Ministry of
Defence (MoD). On this corridor there was one bathroom,
two toilets and an ensuite room for the seven beds, with a
bathroom and toilet for the MoD beds. The bathrooms and
toilets were labelled as unisex, and during our inspection
we saw that women used the bathrooms on the male
corridor. This was contrary to DH guidance as women had
to walk past male bedrooms to get to the bathroom. There
was a female lounge on the ward, which we saw was in use

by women. We fed back our concerns about the gender
separation to the ward manager. They told us they were
aware of these and had put in bids to have remedial work
completed.

There was a seclusion room in the PICU, which was
available for use by other wards in the hospital. The
seclusion room was next to the front door of the ward for
ease of access, but this may be disruptive to the person
inside. The seclusion room had the necessary facilities as
outlined in the Mental Health Act Code of Practice, which
included clear observation, access to a toilet and washing
facilities, a clock, ventilation and a means of
communicating with staff. There was a de-escalation area
next to the seclusion room which was used following, or as
an alternative to seclusion.

Right care at the right time
Records showed that the trust monitored the number of
beds used within the service. The manager told us that
there had been a higher turnover of people on the ward
since the introduction of the ‘Hospital at Home’ team. Crisis
team services that aimed to prevent people being admitted
to hospital were based in the community teams. The
‘Hospital at Home’ team focused on facilitating the early
discharge of people from the acute ward. Staff told us there
were times when people had to sleep in beds outside their
catchment ward hospital, and similarly when people were
admitted to the service from other areas.

Staff on the PICU told us that if the ward was full, people
would be referred to the bed management team and a bed
would be identified elsewhere. Staff told us that this
occurred frequently.

Learning from concerns and complaints
There was information on display about how to complain.
The staff we spoke with described the complaints process
and how they would respond and provide further
information to people who wanted to make a complaint.
This included giving them information about the Patient
Advice and Liaison Service and the trust’s complaints
process. We saw that the service monitored complaints.

Some of the people we spoke with knew how to make a
complaint, but others did not. However, all the people we
spoke with said they felt able to approach staff a make a
complaint if they wanted to, and most said they would
speak with the ward manager.

Are services responsive to people’s needs?
By responsive, we mean that services are organised so that they meet people’s
needs.

Requires Improvement –––

47 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 81



Summary of findings
Vision and strategy
There was a clear commitment amongst staff to the
organisational vision and values. Most staff and
managers were aware of the trust’s strategy and said
they felt connected to the mental health division in
particular. Staff spoke positively about people using the
service and were knowledgeable in respect of their
needs. All staff had undergone ‘values based’ training.
This training helped staff define their work in relation to
a set of values that ensured that the organisation had
staff who were committed to a shared vision.

Governance
Governance structures were in place and in most wards
were effective. Staff understood their roles and
responsibilities and lines of reporting on the wards.

Performance was monitored and presented in a
monthly dashboard format. Key performance indicators
included workforce, patient experience, operational
measures and quality and safety measures. The number
of restraints and incidents were also monitored.
Performance was discussed at monthly divisional
committee meetings.

Although this information was actively used to address
shortfalls and bring about improvements in some wards
at Elmleigh it was not clear how the information from
performance reports was being used to improve the
service. The monthly performance dashboards for
Elmleigh PICU and acute wards for July, August and
September showed little discernible improvement on a
range of measures, including training and appraisal, and
in some areas performance was worse. It was not clear
how shortfalls in performance were being addressed at
a ward level at Elmleigh.

In other wards, such as the Kingsley wards at Melbury
Lodge performance reports were used to identify areas
of concern and plans were put in place to address any
shortfalls.

Staff told us that the trust had a central audit schedule,
which all the services followed. Where audits were
carried out these were often helpful in bringing about
service improvement. For example, at Parklands
Hospital on the acute ward the night staff carried out a

daily care plan audit, where they checked that records
had been completed correctly during the day. They
checked whether all people using the service had a care
plan meeting date, a risk assessment review date, and
the expected care plans in place. The audit report
showed that there had been some gaps, which were
addressed and subsequently followed up by an audit
which showed improvements had been made. We saw
also saw that audits were carried out into the use of
high dose antipsychotics, and these were reviewed by
medical staff and used to inform their practice.

Leadership and culture
Some wards were very well led. For example, at Melbury
Lodge there was strong leadership on the wards and
senior staff on the unit had been proactive in pushing
through plans for ward improvements, including those
aimed at reducing ligatures in the environment. There
was evidence that plans and actions were reviewed to
ensure appropriate changes were made. Most ward
managers we spoke with had taken part in the trust’s
leadership programme.

Most staff spoke positively about their line managers
and reported feeling able to raise any concerns they had
about standards of care. Staff at Melbury Lodge
described a positive ward culture with supportive
relationships between staff and different disciplines. At
Parklands Hospital managers and staff told us that the
focus of the service was on reinforcing a culture that was
patient centred.

At Elmleigh acute wards staff told us that managers
were not particularly visible on the wards. Managers
described the ward culture as a learning, no-blame
environment. However, several staff we spoke with on
the acute wards disagreed with this portrayal of the
service which they saw as unsupportive and blaming.
Most staff we spoke with were unhappy with the way
they and the wards were being managed. Staff told us
they had raised concerns about poor staffing levels and
safety concerns but they had not felt listened to by
managers and very little had been done to address the
concerns.

Hamtun ward, at Antelope House, had undergone
significant challenges in relation to ward management
over the last two years, with a significant turnover of
staff resulting in six managers over the past four years.

Are services well-led?
By well-led, we mean that the leadership, management and governance of the
organisation assure the delivery of high-quality person-centred care, supports
learning and innovation, and promotes an open and fair culture.

Requires Improvement –––

48 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 82



Current managers of the service recognised the
importance of a stable and consistent management and
workforce. Recruitment of staff remained a priority for
the ward.

Engagement with people and staff
People were asked for feedback on the service and their
experience on the wards. Patient experience surveys
were given to people on discharge. Results showed that
people’s responses were generally positive.

We noted that changes had been made to some wards
based on feedback from people. For example, at
Parklands Hospital the design of the ward lounges had
been based on people’s suggestions and activities
provided in the activities room, such as board games,
had been chosen by people using the service.

Records showed that there were regular community
meetings for people using the service on all wards.
These meetings were an opportunity for people to
engage in the service and make suggestions for
improvements. There was some evidence that changes
were made in response to feedback from the meetings.
For example, there had been changes to the menu and
the availability of activities, and repairs had been carried
out at Parklands Hospital.

Hawthorns 2 at Parklands Hospital employed a peer
support worker, who worked with staff and people using
the service to support them to input into the service and
its development. There was an action plan in place for
developments on the ward.

The staff survey showed that the Trust was in the top
20% of trusts in terms of findings relating to staff
appraisals, staff work related stress and staff having
equal opportunities. Staff on most wards at Melbury
Lodge, Parklands Hospital and Antelope House felt
positive about their managers, team and the service
they provided. For example, at Melbury Lodge staff felt
engaged in the development of the ward and service
provided. They felt able to raise any concerns they had
about the quality of care provided to people and were
confident their concerns would be taken seriously. At
Elmleigh, however, the majority of staff did not feel
engaged in ward improvements and were disappointed
in the lack of support they received from managers.

Consultant psychiatrists met together regularly and a
consultant we spoke with was very positive about local
arrangements for influencing trust service planning and
decision making.

Continuous Improvement
Most wards used performance data and feedback from
people using the service to identify areas for
improvement and bring about changes in the service.
For example, the acute wards at Melbury Lodge
encouraged innovation, development and continuous
improvement of the service. The model of care used on
the ward had been reviewed and changed to make it
more recovery oriented. The service used a recovery
focussed narrative as a framework for delivering
responsive and effective care and treatment to people.

At Parklands Hospital a suicide prevention audit had
been carried out in November 2014. Staff had developed
their own actions plans which they saw as more relevant
to their service than centrally generated plans.

We noted that Hamtun ward, at Antelope House, had
begun the process of seeking accreditation for
Accreditation for Inpatient Mental Health Services
(AIMs). AIMS works to assure and improve the quality of
care in psychiatric intensive care units. It engages staff
and service users in a comprehensive process of review,
through which good practice and high quality care are
recognised and services are supported to identify and
address areas for improvement.

However, on the Elmleigh acute wards and PICU there
was little evidence of commitment to continuous
service improvement on the acute wards and PICU. A
range of performance data was collected but not always
clearly acted upon. For example, the Elmleigh PICU and
acute wards had consistently performed poorly in
respect of staff appraisal compliance and in September
2014 they were ranked 24 and 25 respectively when
compared with 23 other similar services in the Trust.
Similarly the wards had consistently performed poorly
in terms of completion of mandatory training over the
previous three months. Managers were unable to
provide evidence of improvement plans in respect of
areas of performance that were consistently identified
as poor in the performance dashboard.

Are services well-led?
By well-led, we mean that the leadership, management and governance of the
organisation assure the delivery of high-quality person-centred care, supports
learning and innovation, and promotes an open and fair culture.

Requires Improvement –––

49 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 83



Although systems were in place to assess risks to people
using the service they were not always effective in
bringing about continuous improvement. For example,
no action had been taken to follow up on action needed
to remove ligature risks from the acute wards and PICU
at Elmleigh that had been identified in January 2014. As
a result people using the service were not being
protected against the risks of inappropriate or unsafe
care and treatment. When we asked managers at
Elmleigh about this they told us they were unaware of
any planned improvements but immediately contacted
senior managers to raise concerns.

Our findings
Elmleigh

Vision and strategy
Staff and managers were aware of the trust’s strategy and
said they felt connected to the mental health division in
particular. Staff told us they were committed to the
organisational vision and values.

Governance
Performance was monitored and presented in a monthly
dashboard. Key performance indicators included
workforce, patient experience, operational measures and
quality and safety measures. The number of restraints and
incidents were also monitored. Performance was discussed
at monthly divisional committee meetings. However, it was
not always clear how the information from performance
reports was being used to improve the service. We
reviewed the monthly performance dashboards for
Elmleigh PICU and acute wards for July, August and
September. On a range of measures there was little
discernible improvement and in some areas performance
was worse. It was not clear how shortfalls in performance
were being addressed at a ward level.

Leadership and culture
Staff told us that managers were not particularly visible on
the ward and they often felt unsupported by them.
Managers described the ward culture as a learning, no-
blame environment. However, several staff we spoke with
on the acute wards disagreed with this portrayal of the
service and said they did not feel supported in their role.
Staff told us they had raised concerns about poor staffing

levels and safety concerns but they had not felt listened to
by managers and very little had changed to address the
concerns. The ward manager acknowledged that ward staff
morale had “deteriorated somewhat.”

Engagement with people and staff
People were asked for feedback on the service. Changes
had been made to the wards based on feedback from
people. For example, the design of the ward lounges was
based on people’s suggestions and activities provided in
the activities room, such as board games, had been chosen
by people using the service.

Consultant psychiatrists met together regularly and a
consultant we spoke with was very positive about local
arrangements for influencing trust service planning and
decision making.

Continuous Improvement
At Elmleigh there was little evidence of commitment to
service improvement on the acute wards and PICU. A range
of performance data was collected but not always clearly
acted upon.

For example, the PICU and acute wards had consistently
performed poorly in respect of staff appraisal compliance
and in September they were ranked 24 and 25 respectively
when compared with 23 other similar services in the trust.
Similarly the wards had consistently performed poorly in
terms of completion of mandatory training over the
previous three months. Managers were unable to provide
evidence of improvement plans in respect of areas of
performance that were consistently identified as poor in
the performance dashboard.

Although systems were in place to assess risks they were
not always effective in bringing about continuous
improvement. For example, no action had been taken to
follow up on action needed to remove ligature risks from
the acute wards and PICU that had been identified in
January 2014. As a result people using the service were not
being protected against the risks of inappropriate or unsafe
care and treatment.

Melbury Lodge
Vision and strategy

There was a clear commitment amongst staff to the
organisational vision and values.

Are services well-led?
By well-led, we mean that the leadership, management and governance of the
organisation assure the delivery of high-quality person-centred care, supports
learning and innovation, and promotes an open and fair culture.

Requires Improvement –––

50 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 84



Governance
There were effective governance arrangements in place
and staff were clear about their roles and responsibilities.
There were arrangements in place for identifying, recording
and managing risks and managers had been proactive in
raising concerns with senior management. Staff
understood their roles and responsibilities and lines of
reporting on the wards. Monthly performance dashboards
were used to monitor performance against a range of
measures including the patient experience, staff training
and development and bed occupancy. Performance was
discussed at monthly divisional committee meetings. Plans
were put in place to address any shortfalls.

Leadership and culture
There was strong leadership on the wards and senior staff
on the unit had been proactive in pushing through plans
for ward improvements, including those aimed at reducing
ligatures in the environment. There was evidence that
plans and actions were reviewed to ensure appropriate
changes were made.

Managers told us that they worked to a philosophy of
“hope and optimism.” There was a strong focus on
psychological interventions for all people using the service
including mindfulness training. The ethos of the ward was
clearly recovery focussed and this was apparent in
established collaborative working and use of recovery
narratives.

Staff described a positive ward culture with supportive
relationships between staff and different disciplines. Ward
managers felt supported by the modern matron. Staff told
us they were very well supported by their managers and
were positive about their style of leadership.

Engagement with people and staff
People were asked for feedback on their experiences and
action was taken to address any concerns or themes that
were identified following analysis. Carers had been
involved in the development of information for other carers
based upon their experiences. Staff reported back to
people on action taken to address issues they had raised in
community meetings. People told us they felt involved in
their care.

Staff felt engaged in the development of the ward and
service provided. Staff told us they felt able to raise any
concerns they had about the quality of care provided to
people and were confident their concerns would be taken
seriously.

Continuous Improvement
The service encouraged innovation, development and
continuous improvement of the service. The model of care
used on the ward had been reviewed and action taken to
make it more recovery oriented. The service used a
recovery focussed narrative as a framework for delivering
responsive and effective care and treatment to people.

Antelope House
Saxon and Trinity wards

Vision and strategy
All staff had undergone ‘values based’ training, this training
helped staff define their work in relation to a set of values
that ensured that the organisation had staff who were
committed to an appropriate set of values and behaviours.

Governance
We found both these wards to be well led. There were
adequate governance arrangements in place, with clear
reporting structures and relevant meetings in place, such
as a bed management meeting which we observed.

All staff clearly reported feeling able to raise concerns. All
staff spoke positively about their line managers. In addition
they felt well supported by their immediate line managers
and felt able to raise concerns and talk openly about
concerns. All managers had undergone ‘Going Viral’
training which was a leadership development programme.

Leadership and culture.
There was good leadership on the ward, staff spoke very
positively about their managers and staff felt free to raise
concerns and highlight areas of concern. Staff said they had
access to training and development opportunities.

Engagement with people and staff
Staff were overwhelmingly positive about their immediate
line managers and managers recognised the importance of
a stable and consistent workforce. A recruitment drive
continued at a pace. The staff survey showed that the trust
was in the top 20% on findings relating to staff appraisals,
staff work related stress and staff having equal
opportunities.

Are services well-led?
By well-led, we mean that the leadership, management and governance of the
organisation assure the delivery of high-quality person-centred care, supports
learning and innovation, and promotes an open and fair culture.

Requires Improvement –––

51 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 85



We interviewed people who used the service and carers
who were overwhelmingly positive about the engagement
from staff.

Continuous improvement
All wards were implementing ‘safewards’ which aims to
ensure that inpatient environments are peaceful and safe.
‘Safewards’ also aim to reduce coercion, engage people
and implement least restrictive options.

Hamtun
Governance

There were adequate governance arrangements in place,
with clear reporting structures and relevant meetings, such
as a bed management meeting which we observed. There
was a good handover which we observed on our
unannounced visit where each person using the service
was discussed in detail. This meant that there was
continuity of care and information shared in relation to
care plans and risk.

Leadership and culture.
Hamtun ward had had significant challenges in relation to
ward management over the last two years, with significant
turnover of staff (six managers in the past four years).

Continuous improvement
Hamtun ward had begun the process of seeking
accreditation for Accreditation for Inpatient Mental Health
Services (AIMs). AIMS works to assure and improve the
quality of care in psychiatric intensive care units. It engages
staff and service users in a comprehensive process of
review, through which good practice and high quality care
are recognised and services are supported to identify and
address areas for improvement. They had also begun to
adopt some principles of ‘safewards’.

Parklands Hospital
Vision and strategy

The welcome pack and service user information on the
wards stated the service’s philosophy and aims, which was
consistent with what we were told by staff. The staff spoke
about people using the service and the care they provided
in a person-centred manner, and were positive about the
service they provided.

Governance
Staff told us that the trust had a central audit schedule,
which all the services followed. We saw examples of some
of the audits, some included actions and others were not
really pertinent to this part of the service. For example, we

saw an example of a physical health assessment audit, but
the outcomes from this were in the process of
development. There was a falls audit with an action plan,
which included mental health but was mainly focused on
the older people’s services.

There was a discharge summary audit from July 2014,
which staff told us was carried out twice a year, and looked
at a minimum of five records per ward. We saw that it noted
some areas of good practice, and some areas for
improvement. However, we could not see the action that
had been taken to follow-up and although 10 records were
reviewed for the acute ward, the findings were for all the
sites in the trust, so were not that relevant to this site.

On the acute ward the night staff carried out a daily care
plan audit, where they checked that records had been
completed correctly during the day. For example, this
showed that all people using the service had a care plan
meeting date, a risk assessment review date, and the
expected care plans. There were some gaps, which the
audit showed had subsequently been addressed. We saw
that audits were carried out into the use of high dose
antipsychotics, and these were reviewed by medical staff.

Leadership and culture
The staff we spoke with said they felt supported by their
managers. Staff and people using the service told us that
they knew who the managers of the service were and found
them approachable. The managers we spoke with had
taken part in the trust’s leadership programme. Managers
and staff told us that the focus of the service was on
reinforcing a culture that focused on the people using the
service.

Engagement with people and staff
Records showed that there were regular community
meetings for people using the service on both wards, and
they took place every one to two weeks. There were
standing agenda items which included maintenance, food
and activities, and people were invited to raise any other
issues. There was some evidence that changes were made
in response to feedback from the meeting. For example,
there had been changes to the menu and the availability of
activities, and repairs had been carried out.

The acute ward employed a peer support worker, who
worked with staff and people using the service to support
them and their input into the service and its development.
There was an action plan for developments on the ward.

Are services well-led?
By well-led, we mean that the leadership, management and governance of the
organisation assure the delivery of high-quality person-centred care, supports
learning and innovation, and promotes an open and fair culture.

Requires Improvement –––

52 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 86



The trust’s monitoring information included the outcomes
of patient experience surveys. Staff told us that this was
from a survey people were given on discharge. A summary
of the surveys showed that people’s responses were rated
between three to five stars (where five is high, and one is
low)

We saw that staff meetings occurred on both wards. The
areas discussed included recruitment, training, reminders
to take action such as updating records, and suggestions
for improvement. For example, suggested improvements to
the clinic room on the acute ward were discussed. Minutes
of the meetings showed some evidence of change and

improvement on the ward. For example, a member of staff
had been appointed to carry out administrative duties and
free up clinical time. The staff we spoke with were mostly
positive about working on the wards, and found the team
they worked with supportive.

Continuous Improvement
A suicide prevention audit had been carried out in
November 2014. Staff told us that some of the action plans
generated by the central audit system were not that
pertinent to this service, so they had developed their own.
This was confirmed by the action plans we saw.

Are services well-led?
By well-led, we mean that the leadership, management and governance of the
organisation assure the delivery of high-quality person-centred care, supports
learning and innovation, and promotes an open and fair culture.

Requires Improvement –––

53 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 87



Action we have told the provider to take
The table below shows the essential standards of quality and safety that were not being met. The provider must send CQC
a report that says what action they are going to take to meet these essential standards.

Regulated activity
Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained
under the Mental Health Act 1983

Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

Regulation 22 HSCA 2008 (Regulated Activities)
Regulations 2010 Staffing

The registered provider had not taken appropriate steps
to ensure, that at all times, there were sufficient
numbers of suitably qualified and skilled staff on duty at
Elmleigh to safeguard the health, safety and welfare of
people using the service.

This is a breach of regulation 22

Regulated activity
Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained
under the Mental Health Act 1983

Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

Regulation 23 HSCA 2008 (Regulated Activities)
Regulations 2010 Supporting staff

The registered provider did not have suitable
arrangements in place in order to ensure that staff were
appropriately supported in relation to their
responsibilities. Significant numbers of staff on the
Elmleigh acute admissions wards and PICU had not
received appropriate training or refresher training in how
to restrain people using the service safely or basic or
intermediate life support. As a result there was a risk that
staff would not be able to provide care and treatment to
people that was safe and of an appropriate standard.

This is a breach of regulation 23(1)(a)

Regulated activity
Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained
under the Mental Health Act 1983

Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

Regulation 9 HSCA 2008 (Regulated Activities)
Regulations 2010 Care and welfare of people who use
services

The registered person had not taken proper steps to
ensure that people were protected against the risk of
receiving inappropriate or unsafe care.

Regulation

Regulation

Regulation

Compliance actions

54 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 88



At Parklands Hospital women had to walk past
male bedrooms to use bathrooms and toilets,
this is contrary to established guidance from the
Department of Health about gender separation
on mental health wards. Staff were not effectively
implementing and monitoring the use of
gendered facilities.

The registered person had not ensured that there
was sufficient emergency equipment available to
ensure the safety of people on the acute
admission wards at Elmleigh. There was one
emergency ‘grab’ bag (equipment used for
resuscitation and treating anaphylaxis) and one
automated external defibrillator in the unit which
was not easily accessible to the acute wards.
Consequently there was a risk to people’s health
and safety in an emergency.

This is a breach of regulation 9(1)(b)(ii) and 9(2)

Regulated activity
Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained
under the Mental Health Act 1983

Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

Regulation 10 HSCA 2008 (Regulated Activities)
Regulations 2010 Assessing and monitoring the quality of
service providers

The registered person had failed to take action to protect
people against the risk of unsafe care and treatment by
means of the effective operation of systems designed to
identify, assess and manage risks to the health, welfare
and safety of people using the service. At Elmleigh
although systems were in place to assess and identify
poor performance and risks they were not always
effective in bringing about improvements.

This is a breach of regulation 10(1)(b)

Regulated activity
Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained
under the Mental Health Act 1983

Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

Regulation 15 HSCA 2008 (Regulated Activities)
Regulations 2010 Safety and suitability of premises

Regulation

Regulation

Compliance actions

55 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 89



The registered provider had not ensured that people
were protected against the risks associated with unsafe
or unsuitable premises. At Elmleigh, essential work
needed to remove ligature risks from people’s bedrooms
had not been carried out in a timely manner; and on
Hamtum ward, at Antelope House, the design of the
seclusion room did not allow continuous observation of
the person inside by staff.

This is a breach of regulation 15 (1)(a)

Compliance actions

56 Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units Quality Report 25 February 2015

Page 90



 APPENDIX 2 

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix 2



P
age 92



P
age 93



P
age 94



P
age 95



P
age 96



P
age 97



P
age 98



P
age 99



P
age 100



P
age 101



P
age 102



 

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

APPENDIX 3 
 
 
SOUTHERN HEALTH BUSINESS PROGRAMMES AND COST IMPROVEMENT PLANS 

 

Programme 

  

2015/2016 Priorities 

  

Governance 

  

Lead 

  

Development 
programme/CIP/ 

Both 

Improving care for those in crisis 
and in the criminal justice system 

  

Responding to complex CQC actions around crisis care 
across Hampshire. 

ISDB KB Development 
programme  

Successful roll out of new model for Section 136 

Successful roll out of extended Acute Liaison services 

Successful mainstreaming of variety of formerly CQUIN 
funded initiatives 

Successful implementation of Court Liaison and 
Diversion Service 

Developing and Strengthening 
Care Pathways including with our 
partners 

  

  

  

Implement psychosis pathway and new Psychosis 
targets 

AMH Service 
Board 

KB Development 
programme  

Agree and roll out BPD pathway AMH Service 
Board 

MK Development 
programme  

Establish Leads for development of other pathways AMH Service 
Board 

MK Development 
programme  

Improve consistency in pathways across all areas of 
community and acute pathway including skill mix review 
and clinical leadership across pathways 

AMH Service 
Board 

KB Development 
programme  but 
potential CIP 

P
age 105

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix 3



Programme 

  

2015/2016 Priorities 

  

Governance 

  

Lead 

  

Development 
programme/CIP/ 

Both 

in16/17 

 Developing and Strengthening 
Care Pathways including with our 
partners 

  

Development of italk psychological therapies service 
including consideration of options around localised 
delivery of services whilst maintaining clinical leadership. 

AMH Service 
Board 

KB Development 
programme  

Agreeing and living a renewed section 75 agreement 
with Hampshire County Council 

AMH Service 
Board 

KB Development 
programme  

More effective use of inpatient 
resources 

Continue to develop the Acute Area Bed Model across 
all units to ensure reduction in OOA bed use including 
skill mix review 

AMH Service 
Board 

KB Both 

 More effective use of inpatient 
resources 

  

Review option around functional OPMH inpatient beds 
being part of AMH inpatient services. 

ISDB MK Development 
programme  but 
potential CIP 
in16/17 

Implementing outcome of rehab review AMH Service 
Board 

KB Development 
programme  but 
potential CIP 
in16/17 

Improving care through tapping into 
lived experience and best local 
practice 

Roll out Peer workers and review impact AMH Service 
Board 

LH Both 

P
age 106



Programme 

  

2015/2016 Priorities 

  

Governance 

  

Lead 

  

Development 
programme/CIP/ 

Both 

Improving care through tapping into 
lived experience and best local 
practice 

  

  

Implement further complementary forms of service user 
feedback mechanisms 

ISDB LH Development 
programme  

Delivery of Recovery College business plan AMH Service 
Board 

KB Development 
programme  

Develop and implement mechanisms to facilitate sharing 
of good practice 

ISDB KB Development 
programme  

2015/2016  

COST IMPROVEMENT PLANS 

 

2014 Management voluntary redundancies 
Trust board SJT CIP  

Senior Management Saving-division wide review 
ISDB SAB CIP  

Psychology & Psychiatry review 
ISDB MK/HN CIP  

  

P
age 107



 

Page 108



APPENDIX 4 

DEVELOPMENTS AND NEW SERVICES 

 

Custody Liaison and Diversion 

The Trust, in partnership with Solent NHS Trust and Hampshire County Council, has 
secured a £1m project to develop an ageless mental health liaison and diversion. 
This service is designed to support people with learning disabilities and/or mental 
health difficulties in police custody cells and courts across Hampshire. The formal 
announcement of the second wave scheme which this project is part of took place on 
Monday 1 December 2014. The project aims to improve the health and justice 
outcomes for adults and children who come into contact with the youth and criminal 
justice systems, by identifying and assessing those who pass through the system.  
 
Recruitment to the team is currently active and a number of successful candidates 
have been offered roles, however the stringent police pre-employment checks have 
proved challenging in the recruitment process. The project is due to go live on 1 April 
2015, and will be launched in a phased way depending on recruitment.  The 
Southampton Team will initially be based in Grove House, Ocean Village, 
Southampton, for six months, before relocating to a permanent base.  
 
Operation Serenity (Blue Light Project) 

The Trust ran a pilot project with Hampshire Constabulary in January 2014 in 
Southampton, known as the Serenity Project, which placed a mental health 
practitioner in a police patrol car and in the 999 call centre on a Friday and Saturday 
night between 18:00 and 02:00 hours. Data from the pilot project identified a number 
of positive outcomes for service users and the project appeared to have an impact 
on the number of people being detained under S136 of the Mental Health Act. 
 
Funding has now been secured, led by the West Hampshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group, for another year and to also expand the project to include mental health 
support in the ambulance control room during the evenings. One whole time 
equivalent is to be recruited for each service on a 12-month secondment 
arrangement.  
 
At present, the advert for the mental health practitioner at the ambulance call centre 
is active. A meeting has been arranged to scope the project with the police in March, 
however it is hoped that this aspect of the project will be easier to deploy owing to 
the fact that it has been previously operational and many agreements remain in 
place, with an anticipated “go live” date of April 2015.  
 
Department of Psychological Medicines 

During the winter of 2014, The Trust worked to provide a mental health professional 
to support with assessment and treatment of service users who present with mental 
health problems in the Southampton General Hospital Emergency Department at 
weekends and on bank holidays. The project had been temporarily funded through 
the winter pressures budget from December 2014 to the end of March 2015.    

Page 109

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Operational and Resilience Capacity Planning funding has been granted to extend 
the project for a further 12 months (April 2015 to March 2016). The exact funding has 
yet to be determined, but it is hoped that the extended hours will provide a service 
until midnight during the week, and from 8am-4pm Saturdays, Sundays and bank 
holidays.  
 
Section 75 

For Southampton, there are a number of challenges with regard to the Section 75 
agreement (between Southern Health and Southampton City Council). We are 
working with council colleagues to overcome these issues and ensure an effective 
working relationship can be maintained for the benefit of patients and clients, and the 
Area Manager for mental health services in Southampton is to meet with the 
council’s Head of Adult Services in March to discuss working arrangements around 
the agreement. 

 
Physical Health Care: Cluster 11 

The Trust is working in partnership with Janssen Pharmaceuticals, the project 
sponsor, and Dr Cliff Howells to deliver a six-month pilot project which aims to 
improve the interface between the Trust and Southampton City CCG across three 
general practice surgeries. It also aims to improve the outcomes for service users 
who are transitioning from their Community Treatment Team to primary care and 
improve the outcomes of physical health for service users who are part of the pilot. 
This pilot is considering only those service users who are defined as Cluster 11 
“ongoing recurrent psychosis (low symptoms)”. The project is currently active within 
the community teams.  

 

Physical Health Care: Health and Wellbeing Clinic 

In Southampton there are approximately 800 service users who have ongoing 
recurrent psychosis that results in a disability. Such service users are less likely to 
access primary care services to ask for additional support from our services when 
things go wrong or when their symptoms increase.  
 
The Trust is now delivering a “Health and Wellbeing Clinic” within Southampton, 
which aims to improve the health, wellbeing and independence of such service 
users. The service operates from College Keep, and will work alongside the 
Community Treatment Team and Access and Assessment Team. The team 
comprises of five whole time equivalent staff, including a team leader.  
 
The team is now receiving transfers from the Community Treatment Team, and has 
been providing care co-ordinators to service users over the past three months, as 
well as setting up a health and well group course for service users. The team, along 
with their consultant, are working toward appropriately discharging service users 
back to primary care.   

 

Service User Experience: Peer Worker 

Page 110



The Trust is working in partnership with Solent MIND to provide Peer Support 
Workers in Antelope House. Peer Workers will take on the same responsibilities as 
Health Care Support Workers, but draw from their own lived experiences of mental 
health issues to engage with service users, instil a culture of hope, and focus on the 
concept of recovery through the building of relationships through a mentoring 
approach.        
 
To date, one Peer Support Worker has begun working within Antelope House, and a 
further five are expected to be recruited, to provide two workers per ward.  

 

Partnerships: Carers Worker 

‘Carers in Southampton’ is a new service, provided by Southampton MENCAP that 
aims to bring together central and strong support for carers in the city through a 
network of existing services and agencies. The service is funded and commissioned 
by Southampton City CCG and Southampton City Council. Carers in Southampton, 
working with the Trust, have a Carers Link Worker in Antelope House available three 
times per week in order to support carers. The project has been active since mid-
December 2014, and the three Carers Link Workers are taking referrals from the 
wards to offer support to carers.  

 

Partnerships: Drugs and Alcohol Worker 

The Trust has entered into a partnership with CRI, a third sector organisation which 
provides an outreach worker to the Southampton Drug and Alcohol Service at 
Antelope House. The service operates on a Monday to offer advice, support and 
encourage engagement with drug and alcohol treatment.  

 

Accreditation for Inpatient Mental Health Services (AIMS)  

The Accreditation for Inpatient Mental Health Services (AIMS), ratified by the Royal 
College of Psychiatrists, is a standard-based accreditation programme designed to 
improve the quality of care in inpatient mental health wards and standards align with 
national standards, such as NICE or Department of Health Policy Implementation 
Guides. Through a process of review, the accreditation identifies and acknowledges 
high standards of care. 
 
AIMS assessments have been undertaken on all three wards within Antelope House 
(Saxon Ward – Male, Trinity Ward – Female and Hamtun - psychiatric intensive 
care) between December 2014 and February 2015. Initial feedback following all 
inspections has been positive, and the scheme noted that Saxon Ward has an 
exceptional leader in the Ward Manager. Formal ratings are awaited, the Trust has 
already identified that it would like to arrange for Forest Lodge to be inspected in the 
coming months.  

 

Psychosis Pathway 

Page 111



The Southampton Clinical Services Director is leading on the development of the 
Psychosis Care Pathway. This new pathway details the service that people 
experiencing or involved in psychosis can expect across all phases of their care. The 
pathway is informed by the current evidence base and by best practice guidelines, 
and it is aligned to the NICE Guideline for Schizophrenia (2009).  

The Pathway is underpinned by ten Principles of Care which define the overall 
approach, treatments, and standards. A key expectation of this pathway is that it 
supports the delivery of evidence-based interventions by appropriately trained and 
supervised staff. The pathway operates for all people experiencing psychosis and 
involved with the Trust, regardless of service user age or the care team providing the 
service.  

The Trust currently has an operational Early Intervention in Psychosis Team. The 
Psychosis Care Pathway is an evolution to this, and is currently in development. A 
number of events have taken place, including for example, an engagement event on 
the 20th November 2014, which was very well attended by most stakeholders.  

 

Borderline Personality Disorder Service 

The Mental Health Divisional Service Board supported the introduction of a 
Borderline Personality Disorder Service in January 2015 following the Trust’s 
acknowledgement that there were insufficient provision psychological services for 
people with high risk, suicidal behaviours. The service is currently being developed, 
and conversations are taking place with commissioners with regard to the formal 
development of this service.    

 

Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 

The Trust was approached by Southampton City Council to provide to support for 
MASH in order to make the hub truly multi-disciplinary. At the time of the approach, 
the SCC interim service manager believed that there were funds available to second 
a member of staff into the MASH. However, this offer had to be withdrawn and 
discussions detailing how this secondment could be achieved are currently ongoing.   

 

Page 112



 

DECISION-MAKER:  HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

SUBJECT: SOUTHAMPTON CITY CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP - COMMISSIONING UPDATE 

DATE OF DECISION: 26 MARCH 2015 

REPORT OF: CCG CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

CONTACT DETAILS 

AUTHOR: Name:  John Richards Tel: 02380 725637 

 E-mail: John.Richards@southamptoncityccg.nhs.uk  

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None  

BRIEF SUMMARY 

This report provides a brief update on various Southampton City Clinical 
Commissioning Group (SCCCG) developments regarding procurement activity, 
mental health, community nursing/WIC and performance of the Royal South Hants 
minor injuries unit (MIU). 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel to receive and note the 
update. 

 (ii) Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel to confirm whether the 
proposed consultation processes are acceptable to the Panel. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. The report is for information and to provide assurance to the Panel 
concerning the commissioning activities of the CCG as regards contracts 
awarded, the performance of certain contracts and the approach to public 
engagement and consultation.  In particular, the Panel is asked to consider 
the proposed approach to forthcoming consultations including processes and 
timescales and to confirm that these accord with good practice and statutory 
requirements. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2.  Not applicable 

DETAIL 

3 Procurement.  The Panel has asked to be kept updated on the outcome of 
procurement activity by the CCG and the award of contracts.  This is 
routinely reported in public as part of the CEO report to CCG Board. A 
summary schedule of contracts awarded is attached for information at 
Appendix 1. 

4. Mental Health Round Table Event.  A joint event on behalf of HOSP, the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and Southampton Connect was held in the 
autumn.  A report is attached at Appendix 2 summarising the key themes 
which emerged and proposed next steps. 

 

Page 113

Agenda Item 12

mailto:John.Richards@southamptoncityccg.nhs.uk


5. Winter Nursing Pilots and Bitterne Walk in Centre. 

SCCCG presented a proposal to HOSP in October 2014 for improving 
access to community nursing through redeployment of funds from the 
Bitterne Walk-in Centre (BWIC). There was considerable support for the 
proposal to improve services, but the panel were not content to support the 
closure of the BWIC until a full public consultation is undertaken. The CCG 
Board accepted these recommendations and agreed to conduct the 
consultation after May 2015.  

6. We have now developed a plan for the stakeholder engagement and full 
consultation. The first phase centres around building upon engagement and 
evidence already gathered. A robust stakeholder engagement plan to 
support the consultation is being produced. The consultation phase will 
commence no later than 1st June 2015 and will be a full 12-week public 
consultation. HOSP will have every opportunity to respond to the proposals 
at their July meeting. Following this there will be an evaluation and 
conclusion, with the outcome reported at the HOSP meeting scheduled 1st 
October 2015. 

7. The paper attached at Appendix 3 describes the CCG’s draft consultation 
strategy and is offered to the panel for comment. 

8. Minor Injuries Unit.  Further to the report to the panel in November 2014 
concerning the mobilisation of the new MIU contract, a current performance 
report is provided at Appendix 4 for information as promised. 

  From 1st August 2014 Care UK has been running the MIU service 

based at the RSH. 

 Contract review meetings are held on a monthly basis between the 

CCG and the provider.   

 There is a comprehensive list of metrics against which the contract is 

monitored.  The key performance metrics that the service is being 

measured on are: 

o Overall attendances and any breaches. 

o Under 12’s attending for x-ray (as this is new to the service). 

o Onward referrals to ED. 

o Quality metrics including: re-attendance rates; patient 

experience (complaints and compliments) 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

7. None 

Property/Other 

8. None. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

9. Health and Social Care Act 2012 

Other Legal Implications:  

10. None. 

 Page 114



POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

11. Align with Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Council's Policy Framework 
Plans 

 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Appendices  

1. CCG CONTRACT AWARD SCHEDULE 

2. MENTAL HEALTH ROUNDTABLE REPORT 

3. CCG ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION PLAN 

4. MINOR INJURY UNIT PERFORMANCE 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) to be carried out. 

Yes 

Other Background Documents 

Equality Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. None  

 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



NHS Southampton City CCG Procurement Tracker

Service Type Current Provider New Provider

Proposed 

Contract 

Length

Current 

Contract End 

Date

New 

Contract 

Start Date

Procurement 

Start Date
Procurement Type

Annual SC CCG 

Contract Value
Partner Organisations

Responsible 

Director

2014/15 Internal Audit TIAA TIAA 3 Years 31-Mar-14
15th June 

2014
Awarded

Restricted - two stage 

procurement (PQQ and 

ITT) under Part A of EU 

Directives

Circa £45k SHIP 8 CCGs
James 

Rimmer

2014/15 MIU Solent NHS Trust Care UK 5 Years 30-Jun-14 01-Jul-14 Awarded

Restricted - two stage 

procurement (PQQ and 

ITT) under Part B of EU 

Directives

£1,651k SCCCG only Peter Horne

2014/15 Direct Access Diagnostics Various InHealth 5 Years 22-Aug-14 23-Aug-14 Awarded

One Stage Open Tender 

under Part B of EU 

Directives

£179k SCCCG only Peter Horne

2014/15 PTS

South Central 

Ambulance Service 

Foundation Trust

South Central 

Ambulance Service 

Foundation Trust

5 Years 30-Sep-14 01-Oct-14 Awarded

Restricted - two stage 

procurement (PQQ and 

ITT) under Part B of EU 

Directives

£1,588k SHP CCGs Less NEH&F CCG Peter Horne

2014/15 Assisted Conception Services Various 

BMI Healthcare 

Limited 

University Hospital 

Southampton 

Nuffield Health

Oxford Fertility

Wessex Fertility

Salisbury NHS 

Foundation Trust 

3 years

12th 

December 

2014

Awarded Any Qualified Provider
AQP is a zero 

value contract

NHS North East Hampshire & 

Farnham CCG, NHS North 

Hampshire CCG, NHS West 

Hampshire CCG, NHS Portsmouth 

CCG, NHS Fareham and Gosport 

CCG, NHS South Eastern 

Hampshire CCG, NHS Isle of 

Wight CCG & NHS Southampton 

City CCG

Peter Horne

2014/15 ISTC elective services Care UK TBC 5 Years Oct-15 Oct-15 in Process Full Tender TBC

NHS England, West Hampshire 

CCG, IOW CCG and Fareham and 

Gosport CCG

Peter Horne

2014/15
Community Tier 2 ENT & 

Audiology Service
InHealth TBC TBC Mar-15 TBC in Process

Restricted - two stage 

procurement (PQQ and 

ITT) under Part B of EU 

Directives

TBC West Hants CCG Peter Horne

2014/15 Community Ophthalmology
Solent Medical 

Services
TBC 5 Years 31.3.14 01-Aug-15 in Process

Restricted - two stage 

procurement (PQQ and 

ITT) under Part B of EU 

Directives

TBC West Hants CCG Peter Horne

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 12
A

ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

DECISION-MAKER:  HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY  

SUBJECT: MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING – UPDATE ON 
MENTAL HEALTH MATTERS EVENT AND NEXT STEPS 

DATE  26 MARCH 2015 

REPORT OF: Stephanie Ramsey, Director of Quality and Integration  

AUTHOR: Katy Bartolomeo, Senior Commissioner Mental Health  

BRIEF SUMMARY 

Mental health and well-being has been identified as a key priority for the city. 
Southampton’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment identifies the existing and projected 
state of mental health, demand for mental health services and support (please see 
Healthy Southampton website) as key issues and Southampton Connect identified mental 
health as a cross cutting theme in the City Strategy 2015-25. Issues with the quality of 
mental health services and outcomes for individuals have been raised through a number 
of routes.  

This paper provides an overview of the first Mental Health Matters round table even which 
took place on 4th December 2014, along with a summary of the main themes from the 
event and planned next steps. This includes the proposal to undertake a commissioning 
review of mental health services in the city.  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

(i)  To note the outcomes of the “Mental Health Matters” round table event; 

(ii) To support  the commissioning review of mental health services in the city, 
including  Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), Adult Mental 
Health Services (AMH), Older Peoples Mental Health services (OPMH), 
Learning Disability services (LD) and Increasing Access to Psychological 
Therapies services (IAPT). 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

Local context  

1 Southampton City Strategy 2015-2025 identifies improving mental health as a 
cross-cutting theme.  The objectives are to support people with mental health 
issues to gain and stay in employment and by working together, to support and 
signpost people into appropriate mental health services as early as possible.  
The objectives tie in with a national agenda that places greater emphasis on 
improving the mental health of the population by:  

• Improving the mental health and wellbeing of the population and keeping 
people well 

• Improving outcomes for people with mental health problems through 
high-quality services that are equally accessible to all.1 

If Southampton City wishes to improve population mental health, then the focus 
for action has to be wider and upstream of existing mental illness management, 
and it has to focus on promoting mental health and preventing ill-health in the 
population as a whole and not just target improvements at those people with 
known mental illnesses and their carers.  

                                            
1 No Health without Mental Health HM Government  Page 119

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 2



2 In terms of adults, mental disorders are responsible for the largest burden of 
disease in England; 23% of the total burden, compared to 16% or cancer and 
16% for heart disease 
(http://www.who.int/topics/global_burden_of_disease/en/)  

Based on national prevalence rates by gender, and local population estimates, 
nearly 5,500 (10.6%) children and young people have mental health problems 
in Southampton. The relative child deprivation in Southampton compared to 
England means this crude estimate is likely to underestimate the actual level of 
local need. 

Some groups and communities are more vulnerable to common mental health 
problems than others; including those with poor physical health, those who are 
socially isolated, in debt, or poor housing. People with mental illnesses face 
increased risk of developing chronic physical health problems, and vice –versa.  
Those with severe and enduring mental health problems die 10 – 20 years 
earlier than the general population.  A key way to improve on these outcomes is 
by strengthening prevention for both mental and physical illnesses.  

 2,758 people in Southampton are registered with their GP as having a severe 
and enduring mental illness (schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and other 
psychosis). This is a crude prevalence rate of 1% which is significantly higher 
than the national figure of 0.8%. The City is also amongst the highest in the 
City’s peer authority cluster.  Early intervention and diagnosis in this group can 
help to prevent some cases occurring, while also reducing severity of 
symptoms and rates of relapse.  13,800 people have registered with their GP 
for depression (with a diagnosis since 2006). This is a crude prevalence rate of 
6.6% which is slightly higher than the national figure of 5.8%.  Mental health 
promotion and brief interventions could have prevented a significant proportion 
of cases, reduced need for medication and avoided relapses.   

An average of 26 people take their own lives each year, most are men and 
most are not know to mental health services, and over half are in employment. 

Current investment in mental health provision by the Clinical Commissioning 
group and Council is over £30 million.  In addition there are a number of 
specialist and forensic services that are commissioned directly by NHS 
England. The provision of mental health promotion and education, and its reach 
across the general population and those at higher risk of problems, is patchy, 
limited, and fragmented.  

Mental Health Matters – next steps  

3.  On the 4th December 2014 the Health and Wellbeing Board held 
Southampton’s first ‘Mental Health Matters’ round table event. The event aimed 
to highlight key issues and challenges facing service users, commissioners and 
providers of mental health services and explore the future of mental health in 
the city. The event was supported by Connect to encourage a creative 
approach to achieve a joined up conversation on mental health as a number of 
challenges had been identified. These challenges were identified by the Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel, Connect, Healthwatch Southampton and the 
Health and Wellbeing Board as well as via the monitoring processes already in 
place by commissioners. Issues related to quality concerns, potential unmet 
need and missed opportunities. 

 

Page 120



4. The event was attended by 84 people with representation from service users, 
carers, NHS and voluntary sector providers, local authority, police and 
commissioners.  

The day consisted of key note talks on topics such as the service user 
perspective, parity of esteem, local and national needs analysis, excluded 
populations and governance within commissioning along with a number of 
small group exercises to gather the views and experiences of the wide variety 
of individuals who attended the event across all ages. 

5.  The key themes from the feedback that was captured on the day include:  

What is working well? 

• Peer support  

• Operation serenity (mental health workers within Police call centres) 

• Steps2Wellbeing service 

• Specialist employment support and recovery college 

• Mental health support for schools including Headstart and mental health 
nurse at Itchen college 

What is not working well? 

• Acute care pathway 

• Dual diagnosis needs not met within one service 

• Physical and mental health needs not being met – Parity of Esteem 

• Heavy reliance on medical model 

• Voluntary sector not always feeling valued 

• People not knowing what support and services are out there 

• Lack of co-ordination of/between services 

• Lack of service user network 

• Need to focus on younger people and early intervention 

Parity of esteem  

• Work as a city to reduce stigma 

• Integration of physical and mental health services 

• Primary care to increase understanding and skills 

• Improve the building environments in mental health services 

• Co-production 

• Work with schools and universities to educate people 

• Embed mental health in generic health consultations and consider how 
general services should be adapted for people with mental health 
problems 

• Include ‘reasonable adjustments’ within contracts 

• Focus on Time to Change and Mindful Employers 

Priorities for change – key themes 

• Crisis care – out of hours provision, out of hours hub, prevention and 
early intervention and local beds 

• Housing – increase in step down beds and services, helping people to 
maintain tenancies to reduce high cost placements, better quality and 
affordable housing Page 121



• Carers and service users – support and resources for service user 
network, listening to carers and service users, person centred care and 
support planning, peer development 

• Integration – more spending for mental health services, commission as a 
city, health and wellbeing centres, primary mental health for CAMHS, co-
location of services 

• Health and social care – start with a blank sheet and budget and design 
a new service from scratch, early diagnosis, plan the solution and 
support around the service users needs 

• Stigma – city wide/multiagency approach to anti stigma, telling real 
stories in ad campaigns, maximise publicity – learning from dementia 
initiatives. 

• Education – school education on mental health 

• Employment – education for businesses to understand mental health, 
early intervention and education around barriers to employment 

6. Two important nationally recognised challenges were highlighted for local 
focus; Crisis Care Concordat and Parity of Esteem. The Crisis Care 
Concordat aims to commit organisations to work together to improve the 
system of care and support so people in crisis because of a mental health 
condition are kept safe and helped to find the support they need – whatever 
the circumstances in which they first need help – and from whichever 
service they turn to first. University Hospital Southampton, Southern Health, 
South Central Ambulance and the Police have developed a clear 
understanding of roles and responsibilities in relation to mental health crisis 
and codes of conduct within the Emergency Department (ED), resulting in 
improved management and care in ED and a dramatic decrease in the use 
of police cells but there is still more work to be done. 

The ‘Parity of Esteem’ agenda aims for mental health to be valued equally 
with physical health, and is being actively promoted locally, with the 
introduction of the Wessex Health Passport for patients with serious mental 
illness (SMI), health screening in inpatient wards and changes to smoking 
cessation services. Furthermore the development of quality (CQUIN) 
schemes agreed by the CCG across health providers to look at 
personalisation will also include parity of esteem. 

 Action plan and next steps: 

7. A questionnaire is in the final stages of development which will be used to 
gather feedback from attendees of the event but will also be sent to a wider 
range of individuals across the city that were not able to attend the event. 
This will focus on gathering feedback along the same themes as the event: 

• What is working well within the city? 

• What is not working well? 

• How do we achieve parity of esteem so that our mental health 
services enable us to maintain both our physical and mental 
health needs and that mental health is valued equally to 
physical health in other services? 

• What should our priorities be within the city to improve our 
services?  

Page 122



8. The first Mental Health Matters event served as a good starting point for 
what needs to be a process of continued engagement with stakeholders 
across Southampton. Despite representation from service users, and the 
Southampton Service User Network at the event, more needs to be done to 
engage with these individuals in ways and environments that are conducive 
to their involvement. This will be taking place over the coming weeks. 

9. Next steps will then include: 

• Analyse further feedback gathered via the survey and service 
user/carer engagement 

• Follow up focus groups with stakeholders, including service users, to 
further develop feedback into ideas and solutions for how mental 
health services and outcomes across the city can be improved and 
re-designed.  

•  Refining and using the information gathered to redesign provision, 
services and priorities where appropriate through a detailed 
commissioning review and strategy development. Evidence of best 
practice and benchmarking data will be used to inform the final 
recommendations.  

• Proposed timeline is: 

Scope options/opportunities for mental health 
services 

May-15 

Produce initial proposal for consultation Jun-15 

Consultation and co-production with service 
users, carers, providers and stakeholders 

Oct-15 

Produce proposal for mental health services 
including implementation/procurement options 

Nov-15 

Begin discussions with providers on 
implementation issues Jan-16 

Produce draft service specifications   

Ensure implementation/procurement timeline is 
in place   

 

10. The Integrated Commissioning Board (ICB) of the City Council and CCG 
which oversees all integrated commissioning arrangements between the two 
organisations will ensure the completion of the review under the strategic 
leadership of the Health and Wellbeing board. The ICB comprises the 
Cabinet Member for Adult Health and Social Care/Chair of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, the Clinical Chair of the CCG, the Chief Executive of the 
City Council, the Chief Executive Officer of the CCG, the Director of Public 
Health, the Director of People, Chief Finance Officer of the CCG, Chief 
Finance Officer of the City Council and the Director of Quality and 
Integration.  

 
  

Page 123



Appendix 3 

D R A F T  

 

Southampton City Clinical Commissioning group 

 

Consultation and Engagement Strategy 

 

 

1. Introduction 

 

Southampton City Clinical commissioning group has a responsibility to 
constantly review the commissioning of services to ensure that health care 
spending in the City is at the best value for money in caring for the needs of 
the population.  

 

Together with our local health and social care partners, we have identified in 
our five year commissioning strategy a range of strategic health needs for the 
City and a programme of work to address these needs.  The strategy 
identifies a range of financial pressures, including increasing expenditure on 
secondary care and specialist commissioning. 

 

Our reform programme will focus upon transformation of care – for example 
by investing in alternatives to hospital admission, including improved case 
management of those with long term conditions – so as to ensure that any 
changes are in line with our jointly agreed strategic plans but also provide best 
value for money. 

 

Our transformation programme is intended to improve the health and 
healthcare of the people of the city, using the most up to date technologies 
and working practice within the current funding allocation.  As is the nature of 
all transformation or modernising programmes, they will invariably lead to 
changes or reductions in some aspects of the way health care is currently 
provided. 

 

The aim of this strategy is to set out our objectives for consultation and 
engagement in developing our proposal to improve access to community 
nursing in the city. 

 

 

2. Benefits of Engagement   

• Quality of services improves 
• Improving the patient experience 
• More effective service use and reduced costs 
• Service meets the needs of service users 
• Better health outcomes 
• Improving health literacy and health behaviours 
• More effective self-management Page 124



• Greater equality in health 
• Greater understanding of why and how local services need to change 

and develop 
• Greater awareness of services and how to access them 
• Sharing treatment decisions 
• Feeling more involved and engaged 
• Greater local ownership of the health service 
• Greater public confidence in the NHS. 

3. Legal requirements 

 Southampton City CCG has legal duty to consult in the 

• planning of commissioning arrangements, which might include 
consideration of allocation of resources, needs assessment and 
service specifications 

• proposed changes to services which may impact on patients 
• the planning of the provision of services 
• the development and consideration of proposals for changes in the 

way those services are provided 
• decisions to be made by that body affecting the operation of those 

eservices 

We will ensure that our consultation follows:  

Government Code of Practice on Consultation 

Local Health overview and scrutiny case for change assurance 
framework 

4 key criteria 

• support from GP commissioners 

• strong public and patient engagement 

• clear clinical evidence base underpinning the proposals 

• the need to develop and support patient choice 

NHS England Good Practice guide 

Equality and diversity duty 

The NHS constitution 

4. Principles of Engagement 

• We will adopt a systematic approach to consultation which links 
corporate decision-making to the community. 

• We will ensure commitment and leadership from the governing Body, 
the Chair, the Chief Executive, directors and clinical leaders. 

• We will ensure that there are adequate resources including money, 
time and people to conduct an effective consultation. 

Page 125



• We will be clear about the objectives of the work, its rationale, 
relevance and connection to organisational priorities. 

• We will be honest about what can change, what is not negotiable – and 
the reasons why. 

• We will make sure our methods suit the purpose of the involvement 
exercise. 

• We will make special efforts to reach out to people whose voices are 
seldom heard. 

 

5. Objectives 

 

Our overall aim is to achieve Patient and Public Engagement which 
delivers the benefits listed above.  For this review we have identified the 
following objectives: 

 

• Generate awareness and ensure all interested parties are given ample 
opportunity to participate 

• Develop a comprehensive stakeholder list 

• Publicise the review widely 

• Describe the project simply but accurately and in plain English 

• Use a variety of methods to involve different audiences, including use 
of websites, social media, focus groups, face to face meetings, public 
meetings, workshops, on line surveys and written materials. 

• Demonstrate at all times openness and transparency 

• Record all feedback, both positive and negative 

• Demonstrate how feedback has been acted upon 

• Publish widely the results of consultation 

• Demonstrate how consultation has fed into final service design. 

 

6. Stakeholders/Audience 
Patients,     GP’s 
Service users,    Primary Care 
Carers and their families   Health and Well-being board 
General public     
Students 
Staff 
Local authority 
Voluntary sector 
University of Southampton Hospital Trust 
Solent NHS Trust 
Southern Health NHS Trust 
SCAS 
Minor injuries unit 
Health watch 
Patient groups, forums etc. 
NHS England 
Seldom heard groups 
 
 Page 126



7. Project Team 

A project team will be set up to co-ordinate this piece of work and to: 

 

• Assign roles and responsibilities 

• ensure any proposed change involves the right people at the right time 
in an appropriate way.  

• ensure staff understand the wider context of any change they may be 
involved in. 

• ensure staff realise that this approach applies to everyone throughout 
the Trust. 

• reduce negative and increase neutral or positive media coverage. 

• be open and transparent with all key audiences 

 

 

8. Scope 

 

This consultation and engagement strategy sets out how the Trust will work to 
involve staff, partners, stakeholders, service users and carers, the local 
population and the media to achieve successful engagement and consultation 
which will inform future commissioning and delivery of services.  A 
Communications and Media Plan will also be developed to ensure that we use 
a range of communications channels to achieve a robust, open and 
transparent process.  The communications plan will include  

 

A. Internal communications 

  

Aim: To raise awareness with staff and ensure their engagement and 
involvement wherever possible. 

 

B.  Communications with partners, stakeholders, service users and 
carers, and the public 

 

Aim: To inform and engage the public in relation to service 
change/proposals and enable open and honest dialogue which informs 
Trust decision making. 

 

C. Media relations 

 

Aim: To ensure local media have a sound background understanding of the 
Trust’s proposals and rationale to enable balanced reporting with 
neutral rather than negative reporting. 

 

 

9. Desired Outcomes 
To have demonstrated a robust communication and engagement 
process 
To have gained support for the need for change Page 127



To demonstrate openness and transparency with all stakeholders 

10. Pre-consultation on our proposal 

Pre-consultation is an important part of the consultation exercise. It is an 
opportunity to be clear about what our proposals are, who may be affected, 
what questions are being asked and the timescale for responses. The project 
team's aim during this stage is: 

• to raise awareness of the issues with the stakeholders and discuss 
them informally.  

• to engage with the Local Authority Overview and Scrutiny Panel to 
agree approach and plans..  

• to listen to concerns and issues 
• to complete the service change assurance framework   
• to adjust and refine the purpose, themes and options which we will 

consult on formally.  
• to prepare and distribute formal consultation documentation in advance 

of the launch of the statutory consultation period.  

Involving stakeholders 

We will confirm our key stakeholders. These will include HealthWatch, local 
MPs, partner organisations, the media and any groups directly affected by 
proposals. We will meet representatives from this core group to: 

• plan our consultation more effectively  
• define a comprehensive list of stakeholders to consult  
• identify the best methods for targeting stakeholders  
• consider the potential options and key questions for our consultation 

document  
• manage potential risks  

The project group will then review options to check relevance and confirm/ 
amend. 

Refer formally to Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

Following informal discussions with the OSP during the Assessment stage.  

Agree standards 

At this stage we will need to consider the desired outcome and then identify 
the standards we need to apply, e.g. response rates, minimum level of 
involvement, etc. 

Agree and produce formal documentation 

Produce formal and summary documentation.  

Prepare press releases and publicity around launch of formal consultation 
phase. 

Page 128



11. Formal Consultation 

We will ensure that the formal consultation stage is publicised widely in 
accordance with the communications and media plan.   

The detailed action plan will be implemented and monitored and 
reviewed regularly by the project group and amended if necessary. 

Information gathering 

From the start of the formal process we will start to get responses. We 
will keep accurate and complete records of all responses, whether 
formal written responses or from more interactive methods. Responses 
will come in via many different channels. We will record and 
acknowledge all written and emailed responses - ideally within 7-10 
days. 

Early analysis of data to assess response 

We will review weekly the data coming in – both formal responses to 
the consultation document and other information, in order to check that 
we are getting a reasonable response in terms of numbers and 
representation. If our response rates seem low, we will need to do 
more work around methods or messages.  

 Methodology 

We will use a range of methods throughout the consultation process, 
both quantitative and qualitative.  These will include: 

• structured questionnaires  
• analysis of records  
• one-to-one interviews;  
• focus group discussions; and  
• unstructured questionnaires (using open questions).  
• Social media e.g. facebook, twitter 
• Public events 
• Market stalls 
• Community group meetings 
• People’s Panel 
• Publications, newsletters etc   

Reporting On our consultation 

In line with the Government Code of Practice on Consultation we will write 
a comprehensive report summarising the responses received and publish 
it on our website within three months of the closing date of the 
consultation. A paper copy of the summary will also be available on 
request for those without internet access. 

Page 129



 

Analysis of consultation findings 

We will look at the data to identify: 

• The main findings  
• Areas of majority consensus  
• Areas of conflict  
• Stakeholder priorities and expectations  
• Trends  

Different perspectives 

As our consultation will be wide ranging and involve different groups of 
stakeholders, we will try to categorise the responses as appropriate e.g.: 

• patient groups,  
• employees,  
• community/voluntary organisations,  
• individual views  
• young people 
• older people  
• people living in a particular neighbourhood, areas 

 

We will publicise the findings at an early stage and produce a report for the 
Governing Body, with recommendations.  The Governing body will make a 
decision based on the report and recommendations. 

 

12.  Evaluation 

We will evaluate both the outcomes of the activity and the process of 
engagement, from both the participants’ and the project team’s perspectives. 

Criteria will include: 

• response rates;  
• feedback from participants and other stakeholders;  
• how well participants understood the aims of the activity;  
• how easy they found it to respond/participate and express their views;  
• whether they felt their comments had been listened to.  

A final evaluation report, will also include an assessment of: 

• how well we achieved our original objectives,  
• if our original objectives proved unrealistic,  
• how we overcame any  problems, and  
• how we readjusted our planning to compensate.  

Page 130



 

13.   Identifying risks 

 

Consultation carries a number of risks which we should anticipate and 
manage wherever possible. We can manage many of the risks involved in 
consultation by: 

• Identifying the potential risks 
• Evaluating their likely impact and the probability of them occurring 
• Planning appropriate strategies to mitigate the risks we have identified  
• Regularly reviewing risk as our consultation progresses 
• Ensuring that our consultation complies fully with the legal 

requirements and guidelines identified in section 3. 
• Being clear and open about our objectives 
• Engaging effectively with your stakeholders throughout the process, not 

only to receive responses to your written consultation. 

Potential risks of formal consultation may include: 

• Our respondents may not understand the major issues and/or detail 
contained in our consultation document 

• Some of the responses we receive may lack detail, or add little to the 
debate 

• The responses we receive may represent a narrow range of opinion  
• The responses we receive may give a very diverse range of opinion, or 

have no consensus about the issues and solutions 
• The reputation of the CCG and our  partners and the NHS locally could 

be damaged 
• The media may run a campaign against our proposals if they think they 

are particularly controversial 
• Our consultation may be subject to legal challenge 
• Staff may respond negatively to proposals which involve major change 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 131



MIU Performance Summary           Appendix 4 

 

1. Attendances.  The volume of patients attending the MIU has stayed 
consistent. The split between Southampton City CCG and other CCGs is 
as expected. 

 

 

Attendance            

Total No of Patients attended Aug-14 Sep-14 Oct-14 Nov-14 Dec-14 Jan-15 

SCCCG 2955 2268 2599 2403 2228 2364 

Illness 1169 768 918 1033 1021 919 

Injury 1786 1500 1681 1370 1207 1445 

Other CCG 0 1006 1001 952 854 955 

Illness   311 353 338 398 298 

Injury   695 648 614 456 657 

TOTAL 2955 3274 3600 3355 3082 3319 

% attendance SCCCG   69% 72% 72% 72% 71% 

% Attendance Other CCG   31% 28% 28% 28% 29% 

 

  

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

Sep-14 Oct-14 Nov-14 Dec-14 Jan-15

SCCCG

Other CCG

Page 132



 

2. The top 10 reasons for attendances are shown below: 

 

Reason for attendance Number % of total 
activity 

Change of dressing 790 4.0% 

Contusion (bruise)+intact skin 442 2.3% 

Fracture of upper limb 519 2.6% 

Head injury 522 2.7% 

Laceration 872 4.5% 

Lower resp tract infection 384 2.0% 

Pain in limb 861 4.4% 

Skin/subcutaneous infections 828 4.2% 

Sprains and strains NOS 1560 8.0% 

Urinary tract infection 535 2.7% 

   

Grand Total 7313 37.3% 

   

Total Patients Aug-14 to Jan-15 19585  

 

3. X-Rays for Under 12s.  The previous service was only able to X-Ray 

children over the age of 12.  This meant that number of children were 

attending ED unnecessarily.  The new service has the facility to x-ray 

children aged from 2 upwards.  To date 677 X-Rays of children under 

12 (and over 2) years old have been completed.   

 
4. Onward referrals to ED.  The graph below shows that referrals to ED 

from the MIU remain low.  

 

 
 

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

Previous

service

Aug-14 Sep-14 Oct-14 Nov-14 Dec-14 Jan-15

New MIU service onward referral to ED and fracture clinic

Onward

referrals to ED

Onward

referrals to

fracture clinic

Page 133



5. Quality.   The number of unplanned re-attendances is generally 0 although 
there was a slight rise in January. However this is not at the level seen in 
the first month of the service. 

  

 

The MIU receives both complaints and compliments, although both in low 
numbers. Generally this is less than 0.2% of total attendances.  All complaints 
are scrutinised through the contracting process to ensure resolution and also 
that lessons are learned to improve the service.  

 
 

 

 

0

5

10

15

Aug-14 Sep-14 Oct-14 Nov-14 Dec-14 Jan-15

Number of unplanned re-attendances after 

7 days for the same condition

SCCCG

Other CCGs

0.00%

0.02%

0.04%

0.06%

0.08%

0.10%

0.12%

0.14%

0.16%

0.18%

Aug-14 Sep-14 Oct-14 Nov-14 Dec-14 Jan-15

% of compaints and compliments received 

against attendances

% of compaints received against

attendances

% of compliments received

against attendances

Page 134


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (including matters arising)
	7 Public Health Update
	8 UHS Emergency Department Performance
	Appendix 1

	9 Whole System Report On Complex Or Delayed Discharges
	Appendices 1 & 2

	10 Adult Social Care Performance Indicators
	Appendices 1 & 2

	11 Southampton Adult Mental Health Services And Cost Improvement Plan Update
	Appendix 1
	Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units
	Locations inspected
	Ratings
	Overall rating for Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units
	Are Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units safe?
	Are Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units effective?
	Are Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units caring?
	Are Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units responsive?
	Are Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units well-led?
	Mental Health Act responsibilities and Mental Capacity Act / Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards

	Contents
	Summary of this inspection
	Detailed findings from this inspection

	Overall summary
	The five questions we ask about the service and what we found
	Are services safe?
	Are services effective?
	Are services caring?
	Are services responsive to people's needs?


	Summary of findings
	Are services well-led?
	Background to the service
	Our inspection team

	Summary of findings
	Why we carried out this inspection
	How we carried out this inspection
	What people who use the provider's services say
	Good practice
	ALL LOCATIONS
	MELBURY LODGE
	ANTELOPE HOUSE
	PARKLANDS HOSPITAL

	Areas for improvement
	Action the provider MUST or SHOULD take to improve
	ELMLEIGH
	ANTELOPE HOUSE
	PARKLANDS HOSPITAL
	Action the provider SHOULD take to improve
	ALL LOCATIONS
	ELMLEIGH
	MELBURY LODGE
	ANTELOPE HOUSE
	PARKLANDS HOSPITAL



	Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units
	Locations inspected
	Mental Health Act responsibilities
	Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
	Summary of findings
	Track record on safety
	Learning from incidents
	Safeguarding


	Are services safe?
	Assessing and monitoring safety and risk
	Potential risks
	Our findings
	Elmleigh
	Track record on safety
	Learning from incidents
	Safeguarding
	Assessing and monitoring safety and risk
	Potential risks
	Melbury Lodge
	Track record on safety
	Learning from incidents
	Safeguarding
	Assessing and monitoring safety and risk
	Potential risks

	Antelope House
	Saxon and Trinity
	Learning from incidents and Improving safety standards.
	Safeguarding.
	Assessing and monitoring safety and risk.
	Potential risks.

	Hamtun (PICU)
	Learning from incidents and Improving safety standards.
	Safeguarding.
	Potential risks.

	Parklands Hospital
	Track record on safety
	Learning from incidents
	Safeguarding
	Assessing and monitoring safety and risk
	Potential risks


	Summary of findings
	Assessment and delivery of care and treatment


	Are services effective?
	Outcomes for people using services
	Staff skill
	Multi-disciplinary working
	Information and Records Systems
	Consent to care and treatment
	Assessment and treatment in line with Mental Health Act
	Our findings
	Elmleigh
	Assessment and delivery of care and treatment
	Outcomes for people using services
	Staff skill
	Multi-disciplinary working
	Information and Records Systems
	Consent to care and treatment
	Assessment and treatment in line with Mental Health Act

	Melbury Lodge
	Assessment and delivery of care and treatment
	Outcomes for people using services
	Staff skill
	Multi-disciplinary working
	Information and Records Systems
	Consent to care and treatment
	Assessment and treatment in line with Mental Health Act

	Antelope House
	Assessment and delivery of care and treatment
	Staff skill.
	Multi-disciplinary working.
	Information and Records Systems.

	Hamtun ward
	Assessment and delivery of care and treatment.
	Staff skill
	Multi-disciplinary working.
	Information and records systems
	Consent to care and treatment.

	Parklands Hospital
	Assessment and delivery of care and treatment
	Outcomes for people using services
	Staff skill
	Multi-disciplinary working
	Information and Records Systems
	Consent to care and treatment
	Assessment and treatment in line with Mental Health Act


	Summary of findings
	Dignity, respect and compassion
	Involvement of people using services


	Are services caring?
	Emotional support for people
	Our findings
	Elmleigh
	Dignity, respect and compassion
	Involvement of people using services
	Emotional support for people

	Melbury Lodge
	Dignity, respect and compassion
	Involvement of people using services
	Emotional support for people

	Antelope House
	Saxon and Trinity ward
	Dignity, respect and compassion.
	Involvement of people using services.
	Emotional support for people.

	Hamtun ward
	Dignity, respect and compassion.
	Involvement of people using services
	Emotional support for people

	Parklands Hospital
	Dignity, respect and compassion
	Involvement of people using services
	Emotional support for people


	Summary of findings
	Planning and delivery of services
	Diversity of needs
	Right care at the right time
	Learning from concerns and complaints


	Are services responsive to people’s needs?
	Our findings
	Elmleigh
	Planning and delivery of services
	Diversity of needs
	Right care at the right time
	Learning from concerns and complaints

	Melbury Lodge
	Planning and delivery of services
	Diversity of needs
	Right care at the right time
	Learning from concerns and complaints

	Antelope House
	Saxon and Trinity wards
	Planning and delivery of services
	Diversity of needs
	Learning from concerns and complaints

	Hamtun
	Planning and delivery of services
	Diversity of needs

	Parklands Hospital
	Right care at the right time
	Learning from concerns and complaints


	Summary of findings
	Vision and strategy
	Governance
	Leadership and culture


	Are services well-led?
	Engagement with people and staff
	Continuous Improvement
	Our findings
	Elmleigh
	Vision and strategy
	Governance
	Leadership and culture
	Engagement with people and staff
	Continuous Improvement

	Melbury Lodge
	Vision and strategy
	Governance
	Leadership and culture
	Engagement with people and staff
	Continuous Improvement

	Antelope House
	Saxon and Trinity wards
	Vision and strategy
	Governance
	Leadership and culture.
	Engagement with people and staff
	Continuous improvement

	Hamtun
	Governance
	Leadership and culture.
	Continuous improvement

	Parklands Hospital
	Vision and strategy
	Governance
	Leadership and culture
	Engagement with people and staff
	Continuous Improvement


	Action we have told the provider to take
	Regulated activity
	Regulation
	Regulated activity
	Regulation
	Regulated activity
	Regulation

	Compliance actions
	Regulated activity
	Regulation
	Regulated activity
	Regulation


	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	12 Southampton City Clinical Commissioning Group - Commissioning Update
	Appendix 1
	CCG Appendices 2-4


